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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31st December,

2019 2018 changes
HK$’000 HK$'000 %
Turnover 8,143,771 7,627,088 6.8%
Gross profit 1,909,920 2,221,873 (14.0)%
(Gross margin) (23.5%) (29.1%) 5.6)%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 430,121 620,684 (80.7)%
Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the
Company (excluding the net foreign
exchange loss and share option expenses) 722,485 1,001,436 (27.9)%
EBITDA 1,813,582 2,107,648 (14.0)%
Basic eamnings per share (HK cents) 16.93 24.52 (31.0%
Proposed final dividend (HK cents) 5.00 7.00 (28.6)%
Unit of natural gas sold (000 m?) 1,943,564 1,615,646 20.3%
New piped gas connections made (residential
households under “coal-to-gas” projects) 217,674 445,324 561.1)%
New piped gas connections made (residential
households under non “coal-to-gas” projects) 230,622 223,253 3.3%
2019 (
(HK$’000) (gKgO-'OO)S 63.9% (ﬁKgO-(i)O)7 67.4%
4,871,134 1253%54 3,399,172 1.5%
5305421 51% 01% .
B 412,348 | 40N 7467 A 0.1%
45% 6801
342,365 6.5%
329,429
0.1%
7,387 29.5% 24.5%
2,051,268 1,235,142

4.1%
337,377

19.4%
1,581,238
® ® Sales of gas

® ® Revenue from gas pipeline construction

© © Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
®  Sales of liquefied petroleum gas

® = Sales of stoves and other services
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2016

(HK$'000)

66.1%

2,460,609 0.6%
21,384
0.1%
5,634
9.1%
337,574
24.1%
897,306

2015

(HKS'000) 0.5
.5%

64.0%

2,098,195 16,052

0.02%

622

12.6%
413,612

22.9%
748,185
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

® Turnover (HKS$'000)

8,143,771
7,627,088
5,048,100
3,722,507

3,276,666

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® Gross Profit (HK$'000) ® Profit attributable to owners of the Company
(HKS'000)
2,221,873 620,684
1,909,920 557,959
430,121
1,289,102
1,008,009

784,833 206,150

-I I 93,390

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® EBITDA (HK$’000) ® Earning per share - Diluted (HK cents)
2,107,648
2208 24.30
1,813,582
1,257,947 16.73
899,586
773,241 816
3.70
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
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CHAIRMAN'’S
STATEMENT

To our valued shareholders,

The year 2019 was a crucial year for the country to achieve
the first Centenary Goal of building a prosperous society.
The energy revolution of China entered into the acceleration
phase, focusing more on quality and stock consumption, and
optimizing the capacity to increase in production. With the
further introduction of relevant policies such as the Notice
on the Implementation of the Three-year Action Plan of
Winning the Blue Sky War, the Measures on the Supervision
and Administration of Fair Opening of Oil and Gas Pipeline
Facilities, and the Opinion of Promoting the High-quality
Development of Power, the Group’s target to fight pollution
was clear and the Group continued the momentum in
pollution prevention and treatment. The in-depth adjustment
of energy structure and the steady promotion of the use of
various clean energy as substitution continued to be the
focus of our energy transformation work in 2019.

To conform to market development trend, in the past 17 years,
Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together

with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”)
has benefited from the trend of energy transformation and
favorable policies and developed into an integrated energy
service provider. Our businesses include gas pipeline
construction and connection, sales of gas, operation of
compressed natural gas or liquefied natural gas (‘CNG/LNG”)
vehicles filling stations, value-added services (sales of stoves
and related equipment), and other decentralized energy. The
performance in 2019 maintained a stable development, with
indicators such as gas sales revenue, gas sales volume and
number of users growing steadily. The Group’s development
and milestones have been recognised and supported by the
capital market. The Group was successively awarded the
Hong Kong Listed Company Award of Excellence in the Main
Board and the Best Infrastructure and Public Utilities Stock
Company Award. In early 2019, the Group was selected as
a constituent of the Hang Seng Composite Index and Hang
Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong Index. In order to show
our appreciation to the shareholders and investors for their
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

long-term support, the board of directors proposed a final
dividend of HK5 cents per share to share the Company’s
accomplishments with shareholders.

In the year of 2019, the Group supported the national village
revitalization strategy and continuously promoted the “coal-
to-gas” projects in the countryside, actively fulfilling its social
responsibility. The number of new piped gas connections
made for residential households in 2019 was 217,674
under the Group’s “coal-to-gas” projects. Together with
industrial and commercial customers and regular residential
projects, 451,149 new customers were gained in 2019,
and our accumulated number of pipeline gas customers
increased to more than 3,500,000, laying a solid foundation
for future growth. In 2019, the Group had 69 gas projects,
covering 9 provinces (including autonomous regions and
municipalities). In 2019, 8 gas projects were newly added,
including 6 acquired projects and 2 empty space projects. In
addition to the gas sales, the Group vigorously developed its
value-added business in 2019 and sold diversified ancillary
products such as gas appliances, insurance and bellows
under its own retail brand “Zhongyu Phoenix”. Turnover
from sales of stoves and other services throughout the year
increased by 166.3% year-on-year.

Due to the trade tension, the escalation of geopolitical
tension and the COVID-19 outbreak, the slowdown in global
economic growth will continue in 2020. The economy of the
PRC has entered into the era of “high growth in quality”,
transiting from a development model relying on a high level
of input and consumption of resources in the past, to one
featuring the enhancement of quality and efficiency. With the
strengthening of the reform of the national energy system,
the new “X+1+X” oil and gas market system with a supply of
upstream oil and gas resources by multiple entities through
multiple channels, a unified and efficient midstream pipeline
network, and a fully competitive downstream sales market
has been established in the natural gas market, meaning
that the market-oriented reform of the domestic oil and gas
industry has entered into a key stage. While the market has
been vitalized, companies will at the same time encounter
more intense competition. These series of changes posed
challenges but also presented opportunities to the Group.

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2019

In 2020, the Group will continue to steadily expand and
increase in market share in the existing market, integrate
with the newly-acquired projects, create stronger synergies,
actively expand our business to other potential areas,
strengthen the development of value-added services, and
accelerate the all-around development of all businesses.
The Group greatly promoted the use of natural gas as a
clean energy. Meanwhile, it actively cooperated with the
government to promote environmental protection and the
development of modern urbanization, achieving steady
growth in new customers, expanding its natural gas trading
business, and strengthening the protection of gas sources.
At the same time, the Group actively worked on mergers
and acquisitions, focusing on projects with potential to grow
in the future which are located close to gas sources and in
areas with a strong local demand for energy, adopting a
two-pronged approach to increase revenue both internally
and externally.

With the gradual deepening of the reformation of the oil and
gas industry, the market is opened for more competition.
In order to meet the personalized energy demand and
differentiated service demand of users, the Group will
actively embrace the digital transformation era of urban
gas, modify its products and services, and developed into a
personalized, intelligent, and service-oriented transformation
and upgrading. For residential users, the Group will continue
to develop its value-added business in 2020 by making good
use of technologies such as terminal data collection and
cloud computing to increase the involvement of our own
retail brand “Zhongyu Phoenix” in the customers’ daily life,
to provide them with safe and efficient stove equipment and
diverse and personalized services, increase customer loyalty
and raise people’s awareness of the Group’s brand image.

In terms of industrial and commercial customers, the Group
will vigorously promote smart energy projects to address
multiple needs of enterprises and local governments in
environment protection and emission reduction, energy
efficiency improvement, household energy consumption
reduction and energy structure optimization. The Group
has successfully built a diversified business chain of project
development, operation management and engineering
technology services. It will improve our products and services



by applying technologies such as measurement techniques
and artificial intelligence, so as to better meet business
demands of its customers, develop large enterprises and
industrial parks with large energy demands and accelerate
business growth.

The China Oil & Gas Piping Network Corporation was
established for the construction and dispatch and operation
of the national oil and gas pipeline network to form a
national network, which can dispatch all interconnected
pipe networks in a unified manner to guarantee supply under
emergency circumstances. This will improve the operation
safety and pipeline operation capacity of the oil and gas
pipeline network and further promote the supply of upstream
oil and gas resources by different market players through
multiple channels and the competition in downstream sales
market of the oil and gas industry, which allows the natural
gas market to be more open and flexible. The Group will also
make full use of the opportunities brought by the reform of
the national pipeline to explore the feasibility of participating
in regional pipeline construction and open up new sources
of income.

As always, the Group regards safety, quality, efficiency and
effectiveness as its core values, especially safety. Whether it
is business management or daily work, safety is necessary
to support the long-term development of the Group. The
Group strengthened its audit and supervision work, further
increased its efforts in supervising various businesses
comprehensively, strengthened the prevention and control
of various operational risks, and stimulated the endogenous
driving force of the subsidiaries with the compliant operation
to promote the steady development of the Group.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

In the coming year, the Group will adhere to the operating
principle of
economic efficiency-centered”, and strive to become the
most valuable integrated energy service provider, and drive
the development of the Group to the next level unremittingly.

“market-driven, customer-oriented, and

In the beginning of 2020, the prevention and control of
novel coronavirus infection evoked emotions at the hearts
of everyone in China and around the world. | would like to
take this opportunity to thank our staff sincerely for their
dedication during the epidemic and being responsible to
make every effort to safeguard a safe and stable supply of
city gas. | would also like to thank all member companies
of the Group for their spontaneous donations of materials
to the frontline workers helping with epidemic prevention in
the community and helping each other, implementing our
corporate social responsibility. Last but not least, | would
like to thank all the shareholders and customers of the Group
for their long-term support and trust. We believe we can get
through extraordinary times and achieve steady progress by
working and joining hands together.

Wang Wenliang
Chairman
Hong Kong

30th March, 2020
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CEO
MESSAGE

o

To our valued shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors and fellow staff, | am
pleased to present our annual results for the year ended
31st December, 2019 (the “Year”).

2019 definitely marked a significant year of change for
the natural gas industry. Continuous efforts of the PRC
government were made to promote natural gas as one of the
main energy sources, including the construction of the China-
Russia East-Route Natural Gas Pipeline, the establishment of
China Oil & Gas Piping Network Corporation in Beijing at the
end of 2019, not to mention the promotion of “coal-to-gas”
conversion (B 22 &), the “Three-Year Action Plan for Winning
the Blue Sky War” (}T i EE A IRET 8 = F17E)5T ) and other
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environmental pollution controls continued to be contributing

drivers for the development of natural gas industry, bringing
business opportunities to the Group. As of 31st December,
2019, the Group had 69 exclusive gas projects in 9 provinces
and served approximately 16,627 industrial and commercial
customers as well as 3,485,127 residential households. The
total unit of natural gas sold also increased by 20.3% year-
on-year (“yoy”) to 1,943,564,000 m® in 2019, achieving a
set of record-high results, and reached a 3-year compound
annual growth rate of 25.4%. Our own retail house brand,
“Zhongyu Phoenix” (F # Bl /&), also brought the value-added
business to its new height, with a surged increase of 166.3%

in turnover from the sales of stoves and other services.



During the Year, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$8,143.8
million, representing a growth of 6.8% yoy (2018: HK$7,627.1
million). The growth in turnover was mainly driven by the
increase in both sales volume of piped gas and average
selling price of natural gas. However, due to slowdown
of new gas pipeline construction and connection which
segment enjoys the highest gross margin, the overall gross
profit of the Group decreased from HK$2,221.9 million in
2018 to HK$1,909.9 million, with gross profit margin of 23.5%
(2018: 29.1%). Profit attributable to owners of the Company
dropped by 30.7% to HK$430.1 million as compared to
HK$620.7 million in 2018. Basic earnings per share and net
assets per share amounted to HK16.93 cents and HK$1.81
respectively (2018: HK24.52 cents; HK$1.55).

According to the latest data released by the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, China’s economic growth in 2019
was 6.1%. The apparent natural gas consumption of the
PRC in 2019 amounted to approximately 302.5 billion m3,
representing an increase of 9% yoy according to the National
Development and Reform Commission of the People’s
Republic of China. The demand for natural gas still managed
to grow at a fast pace amid the economic slowdown in the
PRC. Such favorable operating environment allowed the

Group to achieve a few milestones during the Year.

The Group’s three major business segments, namely the
sales of gas, gas pipeline construction and connection,
and the sales of stoves and other services, contributed
71.3%, 19.4% and 5.1% of the Group’s turnover in 2019,

respectively.

CEO MESSAGE

The sales of gas continued to be the largest contributor of
the Group in 2019, achieving HK$5,805,421,000 in sales
with 19.2% yoy growth. The business was mainly fueled
by the increase in the number of overall customers. This is
testament to the success of the Group’s client diversification
strategy between residential, industrial and commercial
customers. Industrial and commercial users, especially those
strong market players with high gas usage, will continue to

be the Group’s core focus in this segment.

Following the Group’s efforts in the past years, the penetration
of gas connection in its covered area has reached a relatively
high level. Accordingly, the Group has been more selective
and cautious in acquiring new customers for gas connection
to maintain a good level of profitability, cash flow and account
receivables. For the Year, the total number of new piped gas
connections amounted to 451,149 customers. As the Group
continued to expand its coverage, the Group’s total existing
intermediate and main pipelines increased from 14,928 km

to 23,318 km, representing a 56.2% increase in length.

The value-added services provided under “Zhongyu Phoenix”
have been an effective channel for the Group to capitalize
the full potential of its large pool of residential customers,
differentiate itself with customized solutions, as well as
increase customer stickiness. During the Year, the Group
has placed additional resources to strengthen its retail brand
by expanding product portfolio and promote greater brand
recognition. This segment’s turnover recorded a 166.3%
yoy increase, from HK$154.9 million in 2018 to HK$412.3
million in 2019. The growth was driven by the good market
reception of the Group’s increased variety of product and
services offerings, including sales of gas stoves, gas cooking
appliances, wall hung boilers and insurance services. The
Group sees enormous potentials to explore the market

leveraging on the existing residential customer portfolio.
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CEO MESSAGE

The Group has been actively expanding over the years. In
2019, the Group has successfully obtained the exclusive
concession rights of 8 new gas projects in Henan, Hebei and
Heilongjiang. Together with the Group’s existing presence,
these acquisitions further enhanced the Group’s foothold
in those provinces. The new projects are also expected to
create greater synergies with nearby operations and make

financial contributions to the Group.

By seizing opportunities arising from the government’s
determination to control air pollution and the deepening of
energy reform in the PRC, the Group also strived to expand
its natural gas sales and accelerated its development of
smart energy and decentralized energy businesses based on
customers’ diversified energy needs, in particular industrial
users with heavy energy consumption. During the Year, the
Group signed a number of new projects and completed
construction of certain decentralized energy projects,
including charging piles for electric vehicles. The Group
believes that smart energy and decentralized energy business
not only would diversify the Group’s revenue sources, but
would also be an important business module of its integrated

energy service.

At the beginning of 2020, in the face of the spread of novel
coronavirus epidemic, epidemic prevention measures were
adopted throughout the country, such as extending Chinese
New Year holiday, strictly controlling road traffic, delaying
the resumption of work in factories, suspending businesses
and closing tourist attractions, and adopting community
closed management. This has had a serious impact on

the domestic manufacturing production, industrial and
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commercial activities and consumption. As an integrated
energy service provider, the Group’s business has inevitably
been under pressure in a certain extent. During the outbreak,
the Group has taken all feasible measures to ensure the
health and safety of our employees and made every effort
to reduce the impact of the epidemic. As the epidemic has
been coming under control throughout the country, work and
production have been gradually resumed in provinces and
cities. We believe that the impact of the novel coronavirus
epidemic is temporary and remain optimistic about the long-

term prospects of the gas industry.

In the long run, the PRC government remains determined to
speed up the restructuring of the national energy structure,
build a clean, low-carbon and efficient energy system
through promoting the use of clean energy for heating and

imposing restrictions on the use of coal.

The establishment of China Oil & Gas Piping Network
Corporation in Beijing in late 2019 forms an “X+1+X”
structure in the natural gas industry. With vigorous and
continuous advancement in the reform of national energy
system, the setup of the China Oil & Gas Piping Network
Corporation is expected to promote multi-entities and
multi-channel supply of upstream oil and gas resources, a
unified pipeline network in the midstream, and to open up
flexible and efficient downstream market. Coupled with the
completion and ventilation of the first phase of The China-
Russia natural gas pipeline, it is expected that China’s natural
gas demand will continue to grow in the next few years with
abundant supply and more affordable costs. In view of this,
the Group will capture these opportunities by implementing

the following key strategies in the coming year:



(i)

(ii)

To continue to expand the scale of its
piped gas business and achieve greater
economies of scale

The strong demand for natural gas from industrial,
commercial and residential users is expected to
persist in 2020. The Group will deepen its penetration
in covered areas and focus on exploring M&A targets
with proximity to gas sources, healthy financials,
and potential to create good synergy with existing

businesses to bring in more values.

To actively develop new markets and
seek new sources of income

In order to meet the increasing demand for
personalized energy solutions and diversified
services, it is necessary for the Group to be innovative
in providing value-added solutions. For the residential
market, the Group will continue to enrich its gas
related services and products under “Zhongyu
Phoenix”, strengthen its retail sales channels,
make good use of online sales platforms, and thus
increasing the stickiness of its residential users
and capitalizing the large customer base. In terms
of industrial and commercial markets, the Group
will vigorously promote smart energy solutions to
enterprises and local governments to address their
increasing needs in achieving environmental-friendly
operations, emission reduction, enhancement of
energy efficiency, as well as optimization of energy

structure in the community.

Riding on the ongoing reform of the national energy system,

the Group will keep a close eye on the opportunities arising

in the supply chain and will react promptly and strive to

becoming one of the most valuable and competitive

integrated smart energy service providers in the PRC.

CEO MESSAGE

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity
to extend my gratitude to the board of directors, the
management and all of our staff for their dedication and
commitment, as well as our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their continuous support for the Group

during the Year.

Lui Siu Keung, Daniel

Chief Executive Officer

30th March, 2020

ANNUAL REPORT 2019  ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED



OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

As at 31 December 2019

Length of

Accumulated ~ Accumulated  Accumulated Existing Number of
Connectable Connected Connected Connected  Intermediate CNG/LNG
Connectable Residential Residential Industrial Commercial and Main  Vehicle Filling
Province Operational location Population Households Households Customers Customers  Pipelines (km) Stations
Henan Jiaozuo City 1,491,000 426,000 387,722 134 1,248 1,650 8
Qinyang City 391,900 11971 79,861 06 215 715 1
Wuzhi County 613,000 175,143 69,841 40 214 875 1
Xuwu Gounty 207,000 59,143 37,656 76 174 593 4
Luohe City 1,818,000 519,429 407,668 147 1,451 1114 4
Light Food Industrial Park in Luohe
Economic Development District = = = 10 = = =
Luohe Shacling District - - - 18 - - -
Luohe Songjiang Industrial Zone = = = 15 - - -
Luohe Houxie Village Industrial Zone - - - - - - -
Luohe West Industrial Zone = = = = = = =
Venture Centre in Luohe Economic
Development District - - - 15 - - -
Xiping County 32,800 9,371 - - - - -
Jiyuan City 908,800 269,657 187,008 228 1,450 1,270 4
Sanmenxia City 499,000 142,571 128,015 64 660 1,506 4
Shanxian County 53,000 15,143 - - - - -
Sanmenxia Industrial Park = = = 7 - - -
Lingbao City 190,500 54,429 26118 28 185 296 -
Yanshi City 271,500 77,571 59,715 187 226 641 2
Yongcheng City 758,000 216,571 173,306 38 477 644 4
Yongcheng Industrial Zone 35,000 10,000 - 1 - - -
Xinmi City 476,600 136,171 110,075 a7 468 818 5
Huiguo Town, Gongyi City 21,000 6,000 4,789 54 23 115 -
Yuanyang County 230,000 65,714 7,662 3 2 81 -
Hui County 43,300 12,87 2,649 1 - - -
Wen County 468,000 133,714 58,674 127 27 522 -
Mengzhou 450,000 128571 76,969 230 333 406 -
Puyang Industrial Zone 350 100 87 60 4 87 -
Puyang Administrative Region 356,000 101,714 58,843 27 150 2,322 -
Hebei Yutian County 284,800 81,371 77,428 18 243 263 -
Yutian Town and Caitinggiao Town,
Yutian County 105,200 30,067 = = = 46 =
Sanshuitou Town, Yangjiatao Town,
Hongaiao Town and Guojiatun Town
of Yutian County 214,400 46,971 25,966 18 5 54 -
Changli County 239,070 68,306 58,286 59 191 328 -
Weixian County 149,100 42,683 36,384 6 08 186 -
Weixian Economic Development Zone 3,000 940 = = = = =
Xiahuayuan District 02,862 26,632 26,460 - 115 116 -
Chengan Gounty 388,864 111,104 42,246 10 43 238 =
Gaocheng 12,000 3429 592 - - 6 -
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS

As at 31 December 2019

Length of

Accumulated  Accumulated  Accumulated Existing Number of
Connectable Connected Connected Connected  Intermediate CNG/LNG
Connectable Residential Residential Industrial Commercial and Main  Vehicle Filling
Province Operational location Population Households Households Customers Customers  Pipelines (km) Stations
Wugiao County 263,616 75,290 28,545 B 89 284 -
Ningjin County 380,000 108,571 56,581 82 271 389 -
Linzhang County 248,800 71,086 68,486 30 114 470 -
Zaogiang County 200,000 57,143 28,646 5 107 206 -
Longyao County 23,907 6,831 6,293 - 74 39 -
Xingtang County 86,561 24,729 16,438 1 42 129 -
City district of Gucheng 314,350 89,814 36219 24 283 470 -
Administrative jurisdiction of
Gucheng County 352,700 100,771 71,888 15 12 1,070 -
Nangong City 430,000 120,000 63,166 2 148 248 -
Jize County 122,400 34,971 13,569 18 65 156 -
Xinhe Gounty 162,600 43,600 16,273 29 17 175 -
\Within the operation area of Xinhe
County 130,000 37,143 5,606 20 60 81 -
Xingtai 70,000 20,000 10,946 9 22 26 -
Jiangsu Jinggiao Town, Nanjing City 50,700 14,486 1,021 10 4 21 -
Donghai County 56,500 16,143 1,714 21 4 48 -
Tongshan 260,000 74,286 66,376 - 143 57 -
City district of Sihong Gounty 486,000 138,867 124,452 g8 387 627 -
Sihong County 34,100 9,743 3,976 25 1 484 -
Guannan County 225,000 64,286 52,460 - 249 314 -
Shandong | Linyi Gty (Note] 1,674,900 478,643 390,400 404 1,692 1,128 14
Linyl Economic Development District 345,000 98,571 79,190 216 312 675 4
Linshu County 9,000 2,571 1,758 7 6 285 2
Tianqu Indlustrial Park in Dezhou City = = = 24 16 74 1
Jilin Baishan City 369,639 105,611 88,325 8 568 317 2
Changbaishan International Tourist
Resort Zone in Fusong Gounty 166,419 47,648 5,138 8 67 132 =
Fujian Shaowu City 202,000 57,714 29,692 7 184 108 2
Helongjang | Chengguan Town, Tieli City 213,000 60,857 14,873 7 R? 114 -
Current administrative jurisdiction of
Shuangfeng Forestry Bureau, Tieli City 62,000 17,714 - - - - -
/hejiang Daishan Economic Development District - - - 17 2 4 1
Yueging City 35,000 10,000 2,647 - 12 45 -
Anhui Wuhe County 241,500 69,000 69,531 14 247 173 -
Sixian County 186,037 53,163 41,103 7 123 142 -
18,195,665 5,181,779 3,485,127 2,932 13,695 23,318 63

Note: The operational location covers the administrative jurisdiction
of Linyi City, which is from Binhe Road on the west bank of Yihe
River in the east to Beijing-Shanghai Expressway in the west,
bordering Binhe Road on the south bank of Fanghe River in the
north and reaching Yihe Road, Luozhuang District in the south
(excluding western part beyond Mengshan Avenue and southern
part beyond Huawu Road).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group
was principally engaged in (i) the investment, operation
and management of city gas pipeline infrastructure, and
the distribution of piped gas to residential, industrial and
commercial users; and (ii) the operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
filling stations in the PRC.

New Downstream Piped Gas Distribution
Projects

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group had 69 gas projects
with exclusive rights in the PRC. During the year, the Group
obtained concession right to operate 8 additional natural gas
projects in Henan Province, Hebei Province and Heilongjiang

Province.

New CNG/LNG Vehicle Filling Stations
Expansion

In 2019, the Group slowed down the expansion of CNG/
LNG vehicle filling stations due to keen competition. During
the financial year ended 31st December, 2019, 1 new CNG
vehicle filling station was put into operation.

Major Operational Data

The downstream natural gas distribution business of the
Group primarily comprises sales of gas, gas pipeline
construction and sales of natural gas from CNG/LNG vehicle
filling stations.

ZHONGYU GAS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

The major operational data of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2019 together with the comparative figures
for the corresponding period last year are as follows:

Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease)
Number of operational locations (Note a) 69 61 8
— Henan Province 28 24 4
— Hebei Province 22 19 3
— Jiangsu Province 6 6 =
— Shandong Province 4 4 -
— Jilin Province 2 2 -
— Fujian Province 1 1 -
— Heilongjiang Province 2 1 1
— Zhejiang Province 2 2 -
— Anhui Province 2 2 -
Connectable population ('000) (Note b) 18,196 15,627 17.2%
Connectable residential households ('000) 5,182 4,436 16.8%
New piped gas connections by the Group
made during the year
— Residential households 448,296 668,577 (32.9)%
(i) “Coal-to-gas” projects 217,674 445,324 (51.1)%
(i) Non “Coal-to-gas” projects 230,622 223,253 3.3%
— Industrial customers 323 489 (33.9)%
— Commercial customers 2,530 2,130 18.8%
Accumulated number of connected
piped gas customers
— Residential households 3,485,127 2,878,103 21.1%
— Industrial customers 2,932 2,135 37.3%
— Commercial customers 13,695 10,386 31.9%
Penetration rate of residential pipeline
connection (Note ¢) 67.3% 64.9% 2.4%
Unit of piped natural gas sold (000 m?) 1,673,599 1,461,377 14.5%
— Residential households 430,181 319,646 34.6%
— Industrial customers 1,077,641 967,372 11.4%
— Commercial customers 143,414 138,271 3.7%
— Wholesale customers 22,363 36,088 (38.0)%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Increase/
2019 2018 (Decrease)
Unit of LNG sold (000 m?)
— Wholesale customers 180,504 67,943 165.7%
Number of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
— Accumulated 63 62 1
— Under construction 8 9 1
Unit of natural gas sold to vehicles ({000 m?) 89,461 86,326 3.6%
Total length of existing intermediate and
main pipelines (km) 23,318 14,928 56.2%
Average selling price of natural gas (pre-tax) (RMB per m®)
— Residential households 2.36 2.20 7.3%
— Industrial customers 2.89 2,77 4.3%
— Commercial customers 3.22 3.05 5.6%
— Wholesale customers 2.43 2.25 8.0%
— Wholesale customers (LNG) 2.32 2.76 (15.9)%
— CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations 3.32 3.35 0.9%
Average purchase cost of natural gas (RMB per m®) (Note d) 2.26 2.27 0.4)%
Average connection fee for residential households (RMB)
— "Coal-to-gas” projects 2,998 2,745 9.2%
— Non “Coal-to-gas” projects 2,666 2,510 6.2%
Note a: The number of operational locations represents the gas projects with exclusive rights which are operated by the Group in
different cities and regions in the PRC.
Note b: The information is quoted from the website of PRC government.
Note c: The penetration rates of residential pipeline connection represented by the percentage of the accumulated number of the Group’s

connected residential households to the estimated aggregate number of connectable residential households in its operation
regions.

Note d: The amounts do not include the average distribution costs of natural gas, which is RMBO0.22 per m® (2018: RMBO0.19 per m®)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overall

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31st December,
2019 increased by 6.8% to HK$8,143,771,000 (2018:
HK$7,627,088,000). The gross profit dropped to
HK$1,909,920,000 (2018: HK$2,221,873,000) as a result of
reduction of new piped gas connections made under “coal-
to-gas” projects. The Group’s profit attributable to owners
of the Company declined by 30.7% to HK$430,121,000
(2018: HK$620,684,000). Excluding the net foreign exchange

loss of HK$248,562,000 (2018: HK$321,905,000) and share
option expenses of HK$43,802,000 (2018: HK$58,847,000),
adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company would
amount to HK$722,485,000 (2018: HK$1,001,436,000). The
basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company were HK16.93 cents and HK16.73
cents respectively for the year ended 31st December, 2019,
as compared with that of HK24.52 cents and HK24.30 cents
respectively for the corresponding period last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by products and services for the year, together with the comparative figures for the

corresponding period last year are as follows:

2019

HK$°000

Sales of Gas 5,805,421

Revenue from Gas Pipeline

Construction 1,581,238

Sales of Stoves and Other Services 412,348
Operation of CNG/LNG Vehicle

Filling Stations 337,377

Sub-total 8,136,384

Sales of Liquefied Petroleum Gas 7,387

Total 8,143,771

The turnover for the year ended 31st December, 2019
amounted to HK$8,143,771,000 (2018: HK$7,627,088,000).
The growth in turnover was mainly attributable to (i) increase
in sales of gas and sales of stoves and other services, offset
by (ii) decrease in revenue from gas pipeline construction
for “coal-to-gas” projects.

Sales of Gas
Sales of gas for the year ended 31st December, 2019
amounted to HK$5,805,421,000 (2018: HK$4,871,134,000),
representing an increase of 19.2% over the corresponding
period last year.
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Year ended 31st December,

% % Increase/

of total 2018 of total (Decrease)
HK$'000

71.3% 4,871,134 63.9% 19.2%

19.4% 2,251,268 29.5% (29.8)%

5.1% 154,854 2.0% 166.3%

4.1% 342,365 4.5% (1.5)%

99.9% 7,619,621 99.9% 6.8%

0.1% 7,467 0.1% (1.1)%

100% 7,627,088 100% 6.8%

Sales of gas for the year ended 31st December, 2019
contributed 71.3% of the total turnover of the Group,
as compared with the percentage of 63.9% during the
corresponding period last year. Sales of gas continued to
be the major source of turnover for the Group. The following
table set forth the breakdown of sales of gas by customers.



Sales of gas by customers:

2019

HK$’000

Industrial customers 3,592,551
Residential households 1,150,846
Commercial customers 525,503
Wholesale customers 61,728
Wholesale customers (LNG) 474,793
Total 5,805,421

Industrial customers

The sales of gas to the Group’s industrial customers for
the year ended 31st December, 2019 increased by 11.7%
to HK$3,592,551,000 from HK$3,216,181,000 for the
corresponding period last year. During the year ended 31st
December, 2019, the Group connected 323 new industrial
customers. The average selling price of natural gas for
industrial customers for the year ended 31st December, 2019
increased by 4.3% to RMB2.89 per m® (2018: RMB2.77 per
m?3) when compared to the corresponding period last year.
There is a continuous growth in the demand of natural gas
among industrial customers under the implementation of the
environmental pollution control policy. During the year ended
31st December, 2019, the piped natural gas usage provided
by the Group to its industrial customers increased by 11.4%
to 1,077,641,000 m® (2018: 967,372,000 m?).

The sales of gas to our industrial customers for the year
ended 31st December, 2019 contributed 61.9% of the total
sales of gas of the Group (2018: 66.0%) and continues to
be the major source of sales of gas of the Group.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Year ended 31st December,

Increase/

% of total 2018 % of total (Decrease)
HK$'000

61.9% 3,216,181 66.0% 11.7%

19.8% 837,038 17.2% 37.5%

9.0% 500,141 10.3% 5.1%

1.1% 95,962 2.0% (35.7)%

8.2% 221,817 4.5% 114.0%

100% 4,871,134 100% 19.2%

Residential households

The sales of gas to our residential households for the
year ended 31st December, 2019 increased by 37.5%
to HK$1,150,846,000 from HK$837,033,000 for the
corresponding period last year. The growth in sales of gas to
residential households was supported by the implementation
of the “coal-to-gas” conversion policy and the growth in
population in the Group’s existing project cities in the PRC.
The Group also actively acquired new projects in 2019.
During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group
provided new natural gas connections for 448,296 residential
households and the piped natural gas usage provided by
the Group to residential households increased by 34.6%
to 430,181,000 m® (2018: 319,646,000 m?). After years of
promotion of clean energy heating plan, more residential
households are willing to use natural gas for indoor heating
in winter.

The sales of gas to our residential households for the year
contributed 19.8% of the total sales of gas of the Group
(2018: 17.2%).
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Commercial customers

The sales of gas to our commercial customers for the
year ended 31st December, 2019 increased by 5.1% to
HK$525,503,000 from HK$500,141,000 for the corresponding
period last year. The sales of gas to commercial customers
for the year contributed 9.0% of the total sales of gas of the
Group (2018: 10.3%). During the year ended 31st December,
2019, the Group connected 2,530 new commercial customers.
As at 31st December, 2019, the number of commercial
customers of the Group reached 13,695, representing an
increase of 31.9% as compared with 10,386 commercial
customers as at 31st December, 2018.

Revenue from gas pipeline construction by customers

The average selling price of natural gas for commercial
customers increased by 5.6% to RMB3.22 per m® (2018:
RMB3.05 per m® when compared to the corresponding period
last year. The increase in gas consumption of commercial
customers by 3.7% to 143,414,000 m® (2018: 138,271,000
m?) for the year ended 31st December, 2019 was attributable
to the increasing awareness for environmental protection.

Gas Pipeline Construction

Revenue from gas pipeline construction for the year ended
31st December, 2019 amounted to HK$1,581,238,000,
representing a decrease of 29.8% over the corresponding
period last year. The following table set forth the breakdown
of revenue from gas pipeline construction by customers.

Year ended 31st December,

Increase/
2019 % of total 2018 % of total (Decrease)
HK$°000 HK$'000

Residential households
- "Coal-to-gas” projects 741,272 46.9% 1,447,721 64.3% (48.8)%
- Non “Coal-to-gas” projects 698,894 44.2% 663,678 29.5% 5.3%
Non-residential customers 141,072 8.9% 139,869 6.2% 0.9%
Total 1,581,238 100% 2,251,268 100% (29.8)%
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Started from 2017, the PRC government has determined to
launch the “coal-to-gas” policy as one of its major priorities
to fight against air pollution. The Group has followed the
“coal-to-gas” conversion policy and carried out a number
of conversion projects in different regions of the PRC. In
2019, the Group selected new projects in a more cautious
manner and focused on projects with better profitability and
recoverability. As a result, the revenue from gas pipeline
construction for residential households for “coal-to-gas”
projects for the year ended 31st December, 2019 decreased
by 48.8% to HK$741,272,000 from HK$1,447,721,000 for
the corresponding period last year. During the year ended
31st December, 2019, the Group provided new natural
gas connections for 217,674 residential households (2018:
445,324) under “coal-to-gas” projects and the average
connection fee was RMB2,998 (2018: RMB2,745).

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, revenue from
gas pipeline construction for residential households for non
“coal-to-gas” projects increased by 5.3% to HK$698,894,000
from HK$663,678,000 for the corresponding period last year.
The growth was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in
construction work for gas pipeline connection completed by
the Group for residential households for non “coal-to-gas”
projects to 230,622 from 223,253 for the corresponding
period last year and (ii) the increase in average connection
fee to RMB2,666 in 2019 from RMB2,510 in 2018.

The connection fee charged to industrial/commercial
customers by the Group was significantly higher than that
charged to residential households and was determined on a
case-by-case basis. During the year ended 31st December,
2019, revenue from gas pipeline construction for non-
residential customers increased by 0.9% to HK$141,072,000
from HK$139,869,000 for the corresponding period last year.

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group’s penetration rates
of residential pipeline connection amounted to 67.3% (2018:
64.9%) (represented by the percentage of the accumulated
number of the Group’s connected residential households to
the estimated aggregate number of connectable residential
households in its operation regions). In view of the favourable
energy policies in the PRC, the Group is aiming to continue
to increase its market coverage by acquisitions when suitable
opportunities arise.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Sales of Stoves and Other Services

Sales of stoves and other services for the year ended 31st
December, 2019 amounted to HK$412,348,000 (2018:
HK$154,854,000), representing an increase of 166.3% over
the corresponding period last year. It contributed 5.1% of the
total turnover of the Group, as compared with the percentage
of 2.0% during the corresponding period last year.

Since 2017, the Group placed greater efforts in value-added
services such as sales of stoves and related equipment,
which involves the sales of safe and reliable kitchenware,
including gas water heaters, gas cooking appliances and
wall hung boilers under its own brand name, “H#REE"
(Zhongyu Phoenix), to residential customers. With the
increasing number of connected residential customers and
brand recognition built in recent years, the turnover from
sales of stoves and other services kept growing.

Operation of CNG/LNG Vehicle Filling Stations

The operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations is facing
keen competition. Revenue from operating CNG/LNG vehicle
filling stations for the year ended 31st December, 2019
amounted to HK$337,377,000, representing a mild decrease
of 1.5% over the corresponding period last year. The average
selling price of natural gas for CNG/LNG vehicle filling
stations for the year ended 31st December, 2019 remained
stable at RMB3.32 per m® (2018: RMB3.35 per m?). The unit
of natural gas sold to vehicles slightly increased by 3.6%
to 89,461,000 m? for the year ended 31st December, 2019
from 86,326,000 m?® for the corresponding period last year.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the turnover
derived from operating CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations
accounted for 4.1% (2018: 4.5%) of the total turnover of
the Group. As at 31st December, 2019, the Group had 63
CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations and commenced building
an additional 8 CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations in the PRC.
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Gross profit margin

The overall gross profit margin for the year ended 31st
December, 2019 was 23.5% (2018: 29.1%). The decline
in overall gross profit margin in current year was mainly
due to decrease in the proportion of revenue from pipeline
construction to total turnover.

The gross profit margin for the sales of piped natural gas
increased to 9.9% (2018: 8.1%) because of average selling
price increment in 2019. The gross profit margin for the
operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations reduced to
6.7% (2018: 9.3%) as a result of keen competition. The gross
profit margin for the gas pipeline construction remained
stable at 75.5% for the year under review (2018: 77.3%). The
gross profit margin for sales of stoves and other services
reduced to 43.0% (2018: 63.8%) because there was an
increment in sales of wall hung boilers in 2019, which had
lower gross profit margin than sales of other equipment and
other services.

Other gains and losses

The Group recognised other net loss of HK$230,304,000
in 2019 (2018: HK$332,787,000). The amount mainly
represented (i) net foreign exchange loss of HK$248,562,000
(2018: HK$321,905,000) mainly arising from the Group’s
bank borrowings denominated in United States dollars and
Hong Kong dollars as a result of the depreciation of RMB in
2019; offset by (ii) net gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment of HK$18,926,000 (2018: loss of HK$37,805,000).
In 2018, there was one-off recovery of bad debts previously
written off of HK$29,109,000.
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Other income

Other income reduced to HK$53,493,000 in 2019 from
HK$60,930,000 in 2018. The balance in 2019 represented
the bank interest income of HK$11,282,000 (2018:
HK$9,412,000), interest income on amount due from an
associate of HK$2,946,000 (2018: HK$3,072,000), government
subsidies of HK$5,160,000 (2018: HK$6,264,000), income
from investments in life insurance contracts of HK$2,771,000
(2018: HK$2,702,000) and sundry income of HK$31,334,000
(2018: HK$39,480,000).

Selling and distribution costs and
administrative expenses

Selling and distribution costs increased by 25.2%
to HK$183,041,000 in 2019 from HK$146,145,000 in
2018. Administrative expenses increased by 20.2% to
HK$451,878,000 in 2019 from HK$375,792,000 in 2018.
The increase was mainly attributable to (i) ascending staff
costs and related expenses as a result of increased number
of headcount; (i) increasing commission expenses for sales
of stoves and other services; (iii) escalating advertising
expenses for brand building; and (iv) additional depreciation
expenses arisen from the revaluation of pipelines in prior
year. In 2019, the Group also recognised equity-settled share
option expenses of HK$43,802,000 (2018: HK$58,847,000)
arising from share options granted on 5th January, 2018.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by 26.2% to HK$344,248,000
in 2019 from HK$272,747,000 in 2018. The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in average bank and other
borrowings balance.

Income tax expenses

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.



Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on the dividend declared to non-PRC tax residents in respect
of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1st January,
2008 onwards. During the year ended 31st December,
2019, withholding tax amounting to HK$7,361,000 (2018:
HK$9,402,000) was charged by the PRC tax authority which
levied on the dividends paid to overseas group entities in
the previous and current years.

Accordingly, the income tax expenses in 2019 amounted to
HK$280,770,000 (2018: HK$406,686,000).

Earnings from continuing operations before
finance costs, taxation, depreciation,
amortisation, foreign exchange gain/loss and
share option expenses (“EBITDA”)

The Group’s EBITDA was approximately HK$1,813,582,000
in 2019, representing a decrease of 14.0% as compared with
that of approximately HK$2,107,648,000 in 2018.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the above, profit attributable to owners of
the Company was HK$430,121,000 in 2019, representing a
decrease of 30.7% as compared with that of HK$620,684,000
in 2018.

Excluding the net foreign exchange loss of HK$248,562,000
(2018: HK$321,905,000) and share option expenses of
HK$43,802,000 (2018: HK$58,847,000), adjusted profit
attributable to owners of the Company would amount to
HK$722,485,000 (2018: HK$1,001,436,000).

Net profit margin

For the year ended 31st December, 2019, the net profit
margin, representing a ratio of profit attributable to owners
of the Company to turnover, was 5.3% (2018: 8.1%).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Earnings per share

The basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company were HK16.93 cents and HK16.73
cents respectively in 2019, as compared with that of HK24.52
cents and HK24.30 cents respectively in 2018.

Net assets value per share

The net assets value per share attributable to the owners
of the Company was HK$1.81 as at 31st December, 2019,
representing an increase of 16.8% as compared with that
of HK$1.55 as at 31st December, 2018.

The net assets value represents total assets minus total
liabilities.

Liquidity

As at 31st December, 2019, the total assets of the
Group increased by HK$4,007,745,000 or 24.6% to
HK$20,289,099,000 (2018: HK$16,281,354,000).

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group has net current
liabilities of HK$1,558,870,000 (2018: HK$2,790,038,000).
Decrease in net current liabilities was mainly due to the
increase in bank balances and reduction of borrowings due
within one year after re-financing.

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group’s current ratio,
represented by a ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities, was approximately 0.8 (2018: 0.6).
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As at 31st December, 2019, the total borrowings, lease
liabilities and obligations under finance leases increased by
HK$2,625,159,000 or 31.0% to HK$11,102,632,000 (2018:
HK$8,477,473,000).

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group had total net debts of
HK$9,199,319,000 (2018: HK$6,876,596,000), measured as
total borrowings, lease liabilities and obligations under finance
leases minus the bank balances and cash and pledged bank
deposits. As at 31st December, 2019, the Group had net
gearing ratio of approximately 1.69 (2018: 1.52), measured
as total net debts to total equity of HK$5,436,073,000 (2018:
HK$4,520,169,000).

Financial resources

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group
entered into several loan agreements with several banks in
Hong Kong and overseas, pursuant to which loan facilities
of up to US$75,200,000 and HK$4,455,605,000 in total were
made available to the Group.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group
generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and bank and other borrowings. As at 31st
December, 2019, all of the bank and other borrowings were
secured or unsecured and on normal commercial basis.

Capital structure

Please refer to notes 31, 34, 35, 36, 37 and 48 of the
consolidated financial statements for details of the capital
structure of the Group.

Working capital

In view of the Group’s current financial and liquidity positions
and in the absence of unforeseen circumstances, the
Directors are of the opinion that the Group has sufficient
working capital for its requirements.
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During the year, the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in either Renminbi (“RMB”),
Hong Kong dollars or the United States dollars and the Group
conducted its business transactions principally in RMB. As
a result of the depreciation of RMB in 2019, exchange loss
arising from the Group’s bank borrowings denominated in
United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars was recognised
during the year. The Group is seeking suitable financial
instruments to hedge against potential depreciation of RMB.
As at 31st December, 2019, the Group did not employ any
financial instruments for hedging purposes.

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group had a total of 4,388
employees (2018: 3,816) in Hong Kong and the PRC, and
the total employee benefit expenses (other than directors)
for the year was approximately HK$512,635,000 (2018:
HK$483,630,000), which included equity-settled share option
expenses of HK$43,802,000 (2018: HK$48,631,000). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in the number
of headcount of the Group. Around 99.6% of the Group’s
employees are located in the PRC.

The Group’s remuneration and bonus policies are determined
based on the performance of individual employees.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities within the Group and comparable market
statistics.



Share option scheme

On 24th October, 2003, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to which
the Directors were authorised to grant share option to its
employees (including executive directors and employees of
any of its subsidiaries) or any person who has contributed
or will contribute to the Group. The Old Share Option
Scheme was terminated and replaced by a new share option
scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) on 3rd May, 2013
by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 3rd
May, 2013.

As at the date of this report, there were a total of 1,005,800
share options (as at the date of the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31st December, 2018:
2,011,600) outstanding which were granted to the Directors
under the Old Share Option Scheme, the full conversion of
which will result in the issue of 1,005,800 ordinary shares
in the Company, representing approximately 0.04% of the
number of issued shares of the Company as at the date of
this report (humber of share options outstanding as at the
date of the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31st December, 2018 over the number of issued shares of
the Company as at that date: 0.08%).

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on 3rd May, 2013 and
will expire on 2nd May, 2023. Under the New Share Option
Scheme, the Directors may offer to any employees or any
eligible person, who has made or will make contributions
to the Group, share options to subscribe for shares in the
Company in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and shall not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
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As at the date of this report, the number of outstanding
share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme
was 17,098,600 and the maximum number of share options
which may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
is 235,302,168. The outstanding share options, if converted
in full into shares of the Company, and the number of options
available for future grant, if granted and converted in full,
represent approximately 0.65% and 8.90% of the number of
issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report,
respectively.

The movements of the Company’s share options granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share
Option Scheme and movements in such holdings during the
year ended 31st December, 2019 are disclosed in the title
of share options in Directors’ Report.

As at 31st December, 2019, no pledged bank deposit (2018:
RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,720,000)) is used to
secure the short-term general banking facilities granted to
the Group.

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group’s obligations under
finance leases were secured by the Group’s pipelines with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB733,203,000 (equivalent
to HK$838,713,000) and 50% of the equity interests of a
subsidiary of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, save for the
events described in notes 41 and 42 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not conduct any
significant investments, or material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries.

As at 31st December, 2019, the Board did not have any
specific plans for material investment or capital assets.
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As at 31st December, 2019, the capital expenditure in respect
of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (2018: prepaid lease payments) contracted for
but not provided in the consolidated financial statements is
HK$94,110,000 (2018: HK$167,297,000).

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities (2018: nil).



BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Wenliang, aged 49, is the Chairman of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director on
10 July 2003 and is responsible for the overall strategic
development of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”). Mr. Wang also serves as a
director of certain other subsidiaries within the Group.
Mr. Wang has held investments in various industries in
the PRC including aluminium, property, and information
technology. Mr. Wang was a deputy general manager of
a company in Zhengzhou, People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) (whose principal business is the manufacture
and sale of aluminium products) between 1996 and
1999 and was a deputy general manager of a company
in Henan Province, the PRC (whose principal business
is property management and rental) between 1997 and
2000. Mr. Wang was also a president of a company in
Henan Province, the PRC between 2000 and 2005, the
principal business of which is the provision of software
development, networking engineering services, sale of
computer and peripheral products, and provision of
internet services. Mr. Wang was an executive director of
China Gas Holdings Limited between 17 January 2003
and 10 June 2003. Mr. Wang completed his postgraduate
course in Finance in the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences in the PRC in June 2001.
Mr. Wang is the sole shareholder, a chairman and
director of Hezhong Investment Holding Company Limited
(“Hezhong”), which is a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

In April 2019, after reviewing (a) the performance of the
Group in recent years; (b) the contribution made by, time
and effort devoted by and the duties and responsibilities
of Mr. Wang as an Executive Director of the Company
during the same period; and (c) salaries paid by
comparable companies in the market to officers of similar
position or duties, Mr. Wang’s annual emolument was
adjusted upwards to HK$7,140,000 with effect from 1st
January, 2019.

Mr. Lui Siu Keung, aged 48, is the Chief Executive
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. He was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
22 October 2007. Mr. Lui joined the Company in 2003
and is responsible for the general business operations
and management. Mr. Lui also serves as a director of
certain other subsidiaries within the Group. Mr. Lui has
approximately twenty years of experience in corporate
finance, accounting and auditing fields. He graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor of
arts degree in accountancy in November 1996. Mr. Lui
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

In April 2019, after reviewing (a) the performance of the
Group in recent years; (b) the contribution made by, time
and effort devoted by and the duties and responsibilities
of Mr. Lui as an Executive Director of the Company during
the same period; and (c) salaries paid by comparable
companies in the market to officers of similar position or
duties, Mr. Lui’s annual emolument was adjusted upwards
to HK$5,600,000 with effect from 1st January, 2019.

Mr. Lu Zhaoheng, aged 55, is an executive Director
of the Company and is mainly responsible for the
management of the Group’s business in PRC. He was
appointed as an executive Director on 24 June 2004. Mr.
Lu also serves as a director of certain other subsidiaries
within the Group. Mr. Lu is the National Registered Public
Facilities Engineer and Senior Engineer. Mr. Lu graduated
from EEZZETIZZPT (The Architecture and Engineering
Institute of Chongqging) specializing in Town Gas Thermal
Engineering in 1984, and obtained a master degree in
senior management of business administration from China
Europe International Business School in 2017. Mr. Lu has
accumulated more than thirty years of experience in the
development and commercialisation of natural gas in the
PRC. Mr. Lu held various positions in ] & & 3 48 15 21 3%
FTHff7E 48T (Henan Urban Planning Institute Corporation)
and has comprehensive qualification and experience in
planning research, engineering and business management
in the natural gas industry.
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In April 2019, after reviewing (a) the performance of the
Group in recent years; (b) the contribution made by, time
and effort devoted by and the duties and responsibilities
of Mr. Lu as an Executive Director of the Company during
the same period; and (c) salaries paid by comparable
companies in the market to officers of similar position or
duties, Mr. Lu’s annual emolument was adjusted upwards
to HK$2,300,000 with effect from 1st January, 2019.

Mr. Li Yan, aged 56, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 25 February 2019. Mr. Li also serves as a director of
certain other subsidiaries within the Group. Mr. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree from Henan University of Economics
and Law (7] @ B &< BUE K2 (formerly known as Henan
University of Economics (A F3Bf#&£ £ 7)) and an EMBA
degree from The Guanghua School of Management of
Peking University (Jt R KENXEEIRELT). Mr. Li taught
accounting, finance and economics at Henan Province
Supply and Marketing School (i @ % fit $#4 £ %) from
July 1988 to February 1992 and served as assistant to
the general manager of China Commercial Resources
Zhengzhou Company (B EZEMEEMAF]) from March
1992 to 2002. Mr. Li joined the Group in 2003 and is
currently the executive vice president (F1TEI42%) of the
Company. In December 2005, Mr. Li obtained the title of
senior economist.

In April 2019, after reviewing (a) the performance of the
Group in recent years; (b) the contribution made by, time
and effort devoted by and the duties and responsibilities
of Mr. Li as an Executive Director of the Company during
the same period; and (c) salaries paid by comparable
companies in the market to officers of similar position or
duties, Mr. Li’s annual emolument was adjusted upwards
to HK$1,540,000 with effect from 1st January, 2019.

Mr. Jia Kun, aged 49, is an executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 25 February 2019. Mr. Jia graduated from Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law (" & 81 4& A K 2)
(formerly known as Zhongnan University of Law (F I
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7£EB%)) and Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(/I 263). Mr. Jia holds a bachelor of laws degree
and an EMBA degree. Mr. Jia has 8 years of judicial
experience and 19 years of legal, risk management and
administrative management experience. Mr. Jia previously
served as head of office and chief executive officer of
Henan Hezhong Group Company (AFE M REERAR]). Mr.
Jia joined the Group in 2003 and currently serves as its
vice president (&/48%k). Mr. Jia also serves as a director of
certain other subsidiaries within the Group.

In April 2019, after reviewing (a) the performance of the
Group in recent years; (b) the contribution made by, time
and effort devoted by and the duties and responsibilities
of Mr. Jia as an Executive Director of the Company during
the same period; and (c) salaries paid by comparable
companies in the market to officers of similar position or
duties, Mr. Jia’s annual emolument was adjusted upwards
to HK$1,540,000 with effect from 1st January, 2019.

Mr. Xu Yongxuan, aged 74, is the Vice Chairman of the
Company. Mr. Xu was appointed as a non-executive
Director and Vice Chairman of the Company on 12 March
2004. Mr. Xu had been an executive director of Greater
China Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange for the
period from October 2001 to January 2004.

Mr. Li Chunyan, aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director, Chairman of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 5 October 2010. He has been a
practicing lawyer at Henan Shi Ji Tong Law Office (A
4R BERE AT since April 1999. He has also been a
teacher at Xiangcheng Normal School in Henan Province,
a lawyer at Pingdingshan Economic Law Office (FTEILAE
AN ETSFT), a lawyer at Asia Pacific (Group) CPAs, a
certified public accountant, as well as a registered assets
valuer. In July 2007, he attended the independent director



BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

training of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and obtained the
qualification certificate of independent directors. He was
the independent non-executive director of Zhengzhou
Yutong Bus Co. Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600066) from April 2014 to
the present. He has been an independent director of Do-
Fluoride Chemicals Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002407) since 16
January 2020. He is a non-executive director of Rosan
Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 578).

Dr. Luo Yongtai, aged 73, is an independent non-executive
Director, a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 July 2003. He is a professor and a doctoral
tutor in management of Tianjin University of Finance and
Economics, the committee member of Tianjin Historical
Building Protection Expert Consultation Committee, a
Director of Coordinated Innovation Development Research
Institute of the Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei region, the
committee member of Coordinated Development Research
Center Expert Consultation Committee of the Northeastern
region and the Beijing, Tianjin and Hebei region, and an
expert of Thinking Tank in Tianjin Science and Technology
Commission, as well as a beneficiary of the Expert Special
Subsidy granted by the State Council of the PRC. Dr.
Luo had been an independent director of Tianjin Tianbao
Infrastructure Co., Ltd. (@ company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 000965) for the period from
December 2014 to June 2017. He was an independent
director of Tianjin Guifaxiang 18th Street Mahua Food Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 002820) during the period between December
2012 and September 2018. He was also an external
director of Tianjin Ringpu Bio-Technology Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 300119) during the period between January 2015
and December 2018.

Ms. Liu Yu Jie, aged 55, is an independent non-
executive Director, a member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. She was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 June 2017. Ms. Liu
graduated from University of International Business and
Economics in Beijing and obtained a master’s degree in
business management. She has been working in Hong
Kong, Singapore and the PRC for over 20 years and is
familiar with the business environment and regulatory
systems of such jurisdictions. She has comprehensive
experience in capital markets, business promotion and
corporate management through participating in initial
public offerings, underwriting over 30 companies in their
respective initial public offerings on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, and having led and completed
mergers and acquisitions of a number of companies
in Hong Kong and Singapore. Ms. Liu also assisted in
capital raising and management of large-scale industrial
funds which make investments in China, and acted as
executive directors of listed companies in Hong Kong and
Singapore which engaged in utilities and infrastructure
investments. Ms. Liu is an executive director of China
Water Affairs Group Limited (stock code: 855), New
Universe Environmental Group Limited (stock code: 436)
and Kangda International Environmental Company Limited
(stock code: 6136). She was also an executive director of
SIIC Environment Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the
Singapore Exchange) from 19 November 2009 to 8 August
2014.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Directors”) and the
management of Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) are committed to high standards of corporate
governance. Corporate governance system is set up to
achieve a balance of the interests of different participants
in the corporation, to direct and manage corporate affairs
and to monitor corporate performance. The Company is
dedicated to continue improving its corporate governance
practices to ensure accountable, transparent and efficient
management.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has fully
complied with all code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) (the “CG Code”)
for the year ended 31st December, 2019. The following
summarises the corporate governance practices of the
Company and the reasons for deviations, if any, from the
CG Code.

Executive Directors:

Non-executive Director:

Independent Non-executive Directors:

The Company received a written annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considered each
independent non-executive Director to be
independent.

Given the business nature, the Board
members have distinct skills and experience
in a variety of business range, which
includes city gas network design and
operation, organisational management,
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The board of Directors (the “Board”), holds
responsibility for leadership and control of the
corporation. By directing and supervising corporate
affairs, the Board plays an important role in
protecting and enhancing long-term shareholder
value.

A.1  Board composition

As at 31st December, 2019, the Board
included nine Directors, of which five were
executive Directors, one was non-executive
Director and the remaining three were
independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board and its changes
during the year ended 31st December, 2019
and up to the date of this report are as
follows:

Mr. Wang Wenliang (“Mr. Wang”) (Chairman)

Mr. Lui Siu Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lu Zhaoheng

Mr. Li Yan (appointed with effect from 25th February, 2019)
Mr. Jia Kun (appointed with effect from 25th February, 2019)

Mr. Xu Yongxuan (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Li Chunyan
Dr. Luo Yongtai
Ms. Liu Yu Jie

financial and securities trading market, etc.
The relevant biographies and the respective
roles of all Directors on the Board are set
out on pages 29 to 31 in this report.

The primary roles of the Board are to set the
corporate strategy by determining business
objectives, development plan and strategic
policies; to delegate day-to-day operations
to the management and to monitor their
operating and financial performance; to
avoid risks and oversee corporate affairs.



A.2

Board meetings and information
supply

The Board meets regularly and board
meetings were held quarterly and additional
meetings would be arranged, if and when
required. All Directors can attend meetings
in person or through other electronic means
of communication.

The Company Secretary assists the
Chairman in establishing the meeting
agenda and each Director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda.

Notice of at least 14 days in advance is
given of a regular board meeting to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend.

The management of the Company has
provided the Board with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable it
to make informed decisions. In addition, the
management may be invited, if and when
requested, to attend board meetings to
make presentation and answer the queries
raised by the Board.

All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary with a
view to ensuring that board procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are
followed.

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenliang (Chairman)

Mr. Lui Siu Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng

Mr. Li Yan*

Mr. Jia Kun*

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xu Yongxuan (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Chunyan

Dr. Luo Yongtai

Ms. Liu Yu Jie

*
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Minutes of board meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and such minutes are
open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

Minutes of board meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail and draft and final
versions of minutes of board meetings are
sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively, in both cases within a
reasonable time after the board meeting is
held.

If and when a substantial shareholder of
the Company or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter would not be
dealt with by way of circulation but a
board meeting would be held. Independent
non-executive Directors who and whose
associates, have no material interest in the
transaction would be present at such board
meeting.

For the year ended 31st December, 2019,
the Board held 31 board meetings and the
Company held two general meetings. The
attendance records of all board meetings
and the general meeting are set out below:

General meetings Board meetings

2 100% 31 100%
2 100% 31 100%
2 100% 30 97%
2 100% 25 96%
2 100% 25 96%
2 100% 30 97%
2 100% 29 94%
2 100% 30 97%
2 100% 30 97%

Mr. Li Yan and Mr. Jia Kun were appointed as executive Directors with effect from 25th February, 2019. Accordingly,

the attendance record only shows the board meetings and general meetings that were held after their appointment.
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A3

A.4

Chairman and chief executive

The Chairman is responsible for offering
leadership and effectiveness for the Board,
arranging all key and appropriate issues
to be discussed by the Board in a timely
manner, and ensuring the Board acts in
the best interests of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) by
establishing constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors and
providing effective communication with
shareholders; whereas the chief executive
is responsible for running the Group’s
business, supervising the implementation of
the Group’s strategy in achieving the overall
commercial objectives and managing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.

The CG Code Provision A.2.1 provides that
the roles of Chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and chief executive should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

Appointments and re-election

According to the Company’s articles of
association (“Articles of Association”),
the Company may by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or
as an addition to the existing Board and
the Directors shall have the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint
any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an
addition to the existing Board. Any Director
so appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general
meeting of the company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.
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The Company renewed the service contracts
with each non-executive Director, except
for Ms. Liu Yu Jie, on 11th July 2018. The
Company entered into service contracts
with Ms. Liu Yu Jie on 30th June, 2017 and
with each of Mr. Li Yan and Mr. Jia Kun
on 25th February, 2019, respectively. The
term of appointment for the non-executive
Directors is three years and they are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association.
The details of procedure for retirement of
Directors are as follows:

According to the Articles of Association and the
CG Code Provisions A4.1-A4.3, one-third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting. The Directors
to retire by rotation shall include any Director
who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Director so to retire
shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became
or were last re-elected Directors on the same
day those to retire shall be determined by
lot. Any Director appointed pursuant to the
Company’s articles of association as stated
in the paragraph one under the heading “A.4
Appointment and re-election” shall not be taken
into account in determining which particular
Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation.

Accordingly, Mr. Lu Zhaoheng, Mr. Li Chunyan
and Ms. Liu Yu Jie will retire from office as
Directors by rotation at the AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. In
accordance with CG Code Provision A.4.3, the
re-election of Mr. Li Chunyan, an independent
non-executive Director who has served more
than 9 years, will be subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the upcoming
AGM.



A.5

A.6

Responsibilities of directors

Directors are provided sufficient and
appropriate information by management
periodically to ensure they have a proper
understanding of the operations and
business of the Group, and to enable them
to be fully aware of their responsibilities.
When a new Director is appointed, he
will receive a formal induction and other
materials to familiarize with the Group
promptly. Besides every Director is required
to disclose his interests, potential conflict of
interests, and changes in a timely manner
according to the written responsibilities
guideline, the independent non-executive
Directors participate in board meetings
and serve on relevant committees, to
make an independent judgment on
corporate affairs and to develop a balanced
understanding of the view of shareholders.
Individual Directors may also seek external
independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, on any specific matter.
The Company also encourages all Directors
to participate in programs of continuous
professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills, in order
to discharge their responsibilities positively
and constructively.

Directors’ securities transaction

The Company has adopted and complied
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they have all confirmed
their compliance with the required standard
of dealings and the Model Code regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted
by the Company.
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A.8

A9
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Directors and Officers’ Liabilities
Insurance

The Company maintains appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action
against the Company’s directors and
officers when they discharge their duties.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board also assumes the corporate
governance functions and is responsible for:
developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies on corporate governance; reviewing
and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors
and senior management; reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
code of conduct; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

Continuous Professional Development

Any newly appointed Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s
operations, businesses, governance policies
and the statutory regulatory obligations
and responsibilities of a director of a listed
company. All Directors are encouraged
to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has
arranged in-house trainings for Directors
and provision of training materials. A
summary of training received by Directors
during the year ended 31st December, 2019
according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:
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Training on corporate

governance, Directors’

responsibilities and

Name of Directors other relevant topics

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenliang v/
Mr. Lui Siu Keung v/
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng v/
Mr. Li Yan v/
Mr. Jia Kun v/
Non-executive Director

Mr. Xu Yongxuan v/
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan v/
Dr. Luo Yongtai 4
Ms. Liu Yu Jie v

The Board has established a Remuneration
Committee comprising three independent non-
executive Directors including Mr. Li Chunyan,
Dr. Luo Yongtai and Ms. Liu Yu Jie. Mr. Li
Chunyan is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee
meets at least once a year. It will consult the
Chairman about their remuneration proposals
for other executive directors and the primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are: to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors’
and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;
to determine specific remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation policy (i.e. the model
as described in Code Provision B.1.2(c)(i) was
adopted); to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and to
ensure that no Director or any of this associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Two remuneration meetings were held on 22nd
February, 2019 and 1st April, 2019 to review the
remuneration packages of Directors with reference to
their duties and responsibilities within the Group, the
Company’s remuneration policy and the prevailing
market condition. The attendance record of the
Remuneration Committee meetings is set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan (Chairman) 2 100%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 2 100%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 2 100%

C.1 Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing the accounts of the Group and
ensuring that the preparation of the accounts
of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors shall ensure the
publication of the Group’s accounts in a timely
manner.

The statement of the Auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on
the accounts of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual
Report.

C.2 Risk Management and Internal
controls

The risk management and internal control
systems have a key role in the management
of risks that are significant to the fulfillment
of corporation business objectives.
Internal control is designed to facilitate the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
to help ensure the reliability of internal and
external reporting, to assist compliance with
laws and regulations.



Risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s
risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems is reviewed
annually by the Board through the Audit
Committee. Management is accountable
to the Board for ongoing monitoring of the
systems of risk management and internal
control. By covering financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management,
the Board takes the following procedures
to achieve business objectives: A distinct
organizational structure exists with defined
lines of authority and control responsibilities.

o As the Board sets up corporate
strategy and delegates daily operation
power to senior management, both
senior managers in administration
headquarter and heads in divisions
or projects are involved in the
strategic plan and resource allocation
to achieve their annual operational
and financial targets.

° A comprehensive performance
assessment system is implemented
to provide financial and operational
performance evaluation for both
the management and employees
once ayear. When there are
variances against targets or quality
requirements, to find the reasons and
take appropriate actions to eliminate
gaps.
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According to business nature and
management structure, the Company has
established different departments in two
levels. The administration headquarter
has major responsibilities to prepare
and accomplish the Group’s business
development plan, to conduct day-to-day
operation and report to senior management
directly, to appoint and direct administrative
officers in gas project divisions then to
assess their business performances, to
implement internal control and avoid
operational and financial risks. Compared
with headquarter offices, the gas project
divisions hold very similar duties except that
all their daily jobs are done in a lower level
and they have to report to the accordance
administration departments respectively on
different operational matters.

In order to realize effective financial controls,
through maintenance of proper accounting
records, the upper and lower financial
departments both ensure the Group is not
unnecessarily exposed to avoidable financial
risks and the financial information can
be used only within the business and for
reliable publication. They also contribute to
pre-setting annual financial budgets, saving
expenses and safeguarding of assets,
including the prevention and detection of
fraud.
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The operational control is the other important
part of the whole risk management and
internal control system. To achieve effective
result and avoid operational risks, human
resource department employs motivation
plan to attract employees with necessary
knowledge, skills and information, while
administrative and engineering departments
intwo levels pay more attention to
ensure efficient operational management
and construct high quality gas projects.
In addition, all employees have some
responsibility for internal control as part of
their accountability for achieving Group’s
objectives. With delegated authority, they
are allowed to establish, operate and
monitor the system of internal control, and
are required to have an understanding of the
Group, its objectives, the energy industries
and gas markets, and the risks it faces.

With respect to procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company:

° is aware of its obligations under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules and the overriding
principle that inside information
should be announced immediately
after such information comes to our
attention and/or it is the subject of a
decision unless it falls within the “Safe
Harbours” as defined under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance;
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° conducts its affairs in strict
compliance with the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” and
“Recent Economic Developments and
the Disclosure Obligations of Listed
Issuers” issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission in June 2012
and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
in 2008, respectively;

° has implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs; and

o has implemented policy regarding
prohibition on the unauthorised use
of confidential or inside information.

The Group’s internal auditor department
checks for compliance with statutory
requirement, internal policies and procedures.
It assesses the operating effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal
control systems in the course of its audit. The
audit scope and frequency are determined
by the level of assessed risks and have to
be reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee.

During the year ended 31st December,
2019, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducted an annual review of
the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group.
The annual review covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls. The annual review also
covered the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, which the Board
considered to be adequate.



C.3

As part of the key processes that have been
established in reviewing the adequacy and
integrity of the systems of risk management
and internal control, the Audit Committee
of the Company reviewed risk management
and internal control issues (if any) identified
by internal auditor, external auditor,
regulatory authorities and management, and
evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Board is of the view that the risk
management and internal control systems of
the Group are effective and adequate. The
Board is also satisfied that the Group has
fully complied with the code provisions on
risk management and internal controls as
set forth in the CG Code.

Audit committee

The Company has established the Audit
Committee in compliance with Rules
3.21 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are:
to independently review and supervise
the financial reporting process and risk
management and internal control systems,
to ensure good communication among
Directors and the Company’s auditors, to
recommend the appointment of external
auditors on an annual basis and approval
of the audit fees, to assist the Board in
oversight of the independence, qualifications,
performance and compensation of the
independent accountant, to review interim
and annual results announcements as well
as the financial statements prior to their
approval by the Board, to provide audit
report, advice, accounting policies and
comments to all Directors.
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The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors who
have extensive experience in financial
matters, including Mr. Li Chunyan, Dr. Luo
Yongtai and Ms. Liu Yu Jie. Mr. Li Chunyan
is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
In 2019, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to check the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control
systems; to review the report of internal
control prepared by the internal audit
department; to consider major investigation
findings on risk management and internal
control matters (if any); to review the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function; to review all draft interim
and annual financial reports, circulars
and announcements; and understand the
external auditors’ statutory audit plan
and the Letters of Representation, and to
consider and approve the audit fees. The
attendance records of the Audit Committee
meetings are set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan (Chairman) 2 100%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 2 100%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 2 100%

Auditor’s remuneration

The remuneration in respect of audit service
and non-audit services provided by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, being the Company’s
auditor during the year 2019 amounted to
HK$4,145,000 and HK$100,000, respectively.
The non-audit services include professional
services such as tax advisory.

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Board has established a Nomination
Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The principal duties
of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board,
making recommendation to the Board on selection
of candidates for directorships, the appointment
and reappointment of Directors, Board succession
planning and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may
select candidates for directorship from various
channels, including but not limited to internal
promotion, re-designation, referral by other member
of the management and external recruitment
agents. On selection of candidates for directorship
of the Company, the Nomination Committee makes
reference to criteria such as the skills, experience,
professional qualifications, personal integrity
and time commitments of such individuals. Each
candidate shall be ranked by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and his/
her reference check. The Nomination Committee
shall report its findings and make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship for decision.

The Nomination Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr.
Li Chunyan, Dr. Luo Yongtai and Ms. Liu Yu Jie.
Mr. Li Chunyan is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year ended 31st December, 2019 to determine
the policy for the nomination of directors, review
the nomination, re-appointment and re-election
of Directors, and to determine the nomination
procedures and consider the process and criteria
to be adopted by the Nomination Committee for
selecting and proposing a person for election as a
Director including the benefits of board diversity in
terms of skill, experience, knowledge and gender.
The Company believes diversity is important to
enhance board effectiveness by encouraging a
diversity of perspectives and to maintain high
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standards of corporate governance. According
to the Board diversity policy adopted by the
Company, the range of diversity perspectives may
include a consideration of various factors, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience, and other factors based on the specific
needs of the Company. The Nomination Committee
considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained and
will discuss and where necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and make recommendation to the Board.
The Nomination Committee considered the current
size and composition of the Board to be sufficient
to meet the Company’s business needs. The
attendance record of the Nomination Committee
meeting is set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan (Chairman) 1 100%
Dr. Luo Yongtai 1 100%
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 1 100%

Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) which aimed to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the
shareholders of the Company.

In recommending or declaring dividends, the
Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves
for meeting its working capital requirements and
needs for future growth as well as its shareholder
value in the long-run.

The Board shall also take into account the
following factors of the Group when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;
o cash flow situation;
° availability of distributable profits;



. business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

o development plans;

° cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors that the Board may

consider relevant.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by
way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate.

Notwithstanding anything in the Dividend Policy,
the declaration and payment of dividends (if any)
by the Company is subject to the discretion of the
Board, any restrictions under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules, the laws
of Hong Kong and the Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws and regulations.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting

and putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the articles of
association of the Company, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company by mail at Unit 04-06, 28th Floor, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified
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in such requisition, and such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be
put to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board by addressing them to
the secretary of the Company by mail at Unit 04-
06, 28th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong. The company secretary of the Company is
responsible for forwarding communications relating
to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities
to the Board and communications relating to
ordinary business matters, such as suggestions
and inquiries, to the Directors of the Company.

There was no change inthe Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended
31st December, 2019.
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The directors of the Company present their annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31st December, 2019.

Further discussion and analysis of the activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a fair review of the business,
an analysis using key performance indicators and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “CEO
Message” and the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections of this annual report (which form part of this
report of the Directors).

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and provides corporate management services to its
subsidiaries. The activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 50 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st
December, 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 59 and 60.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK7 cents per ordinary share (payable in cash) for the
year ended 31st December, 2018 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 15th July, 2019 and the final dividend was paid on 1st
August, 2019. The payment of dividends was approved
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29th May, 2019.

The Board recommended the payment of an interim
dividend of HK2 cents per ordinary share (payable in cash)
for the year ended 31st December, 2019 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 21st October, 2019 and the interim dividend
was paid on 15th November, 2019.
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The Board has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary share (payable in cash)
for the year ended 31st December, 2019 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 15th July, 2020 and the proposed final
dividend is expected to be paid on 3rd August, 2020. The
payment of dividends shall be subject to the approval
of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Group revalued all of its investment properties and
pipelines included in property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets at the year end date. The decrease
in fair value of investment properties, which has been
debited to profit or loss, amounted to HK$1,579,000. The
investment properties are primarily used as offices and
shop in the PRC.

Details of the movements during the year in investment
properties and pipelines of the Group are set out in notes
15, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the
Cayman lIslands, the share premium of the Company is
available for distributions as dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In the opinion of the directors, as at 31st December,
2019, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to HK$761,375,000 which consisted of share
premium of HK$1,644,649,000 and accumulated loss of
HK$883,274,000.



Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2019.

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Wenliang (Chairman)

Mr. Lui Siu Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lu Zhaoheng

Mr. Li Yan (appointed with effect from 25th February, 2019)
Mr. Jia Kun (appointed with effect from 25th February, 2019)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Xu Yongxuan (Vice-Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Chunyan
Dr. Luo Yongtai
Ms. Liu Yu Jie

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Lu Zhaoheng, Mr. Li Chunyan and Ms.
Liu Yu Jie will retire by rotation at the upcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The re-
election of Mr. Li Chunyan will also be subject to approval by
the shareholders as he has served as an independent non-
executive director for over nine years.

The Company renewed the service contracts with each
of the Directors of the Company, except for Ms. Liu Yu
Jie (whose service contract was entered into on 30th
June, 2017), on 11th July, 2018. The Company entered
into service contracts with Mr. Li Yan and Mr. Jia Kun
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on 25th February, 2019. The term of appointment for the
Directors is three years and the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the Articles of Association and the CG Code. There are
no existing or proposed directors’ service contracts which
are not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in which a director or an entity connected with the director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

(@) Interests of Directors

As at 31st December, 2019, the interests and short
positions of the Directors of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) (a)
which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the Company

Number of
shares and/or

Approximate
shareholding
interest as

underlying disclosed under

Name of Directors Notes shares Type of interests the SFO

Mr. Wang Wenliang 1 759,714,206 Beneficial/Interest in controlled 28.72%

corporation/Interest of spouse

Mr. Xu Yongxuan 2 1,608,700 Beneficial 0.06%

Mr. Lui Siu Keung 3 21,707,179 Beneficial 0.85%

Mr. Lu Zhaoheng 4 6,040,984 Beneficial 0.24%

Mr. Li Yan 5 14,013,063 Beneficial 0.55%

Mr. Jia Kun 6 7,055,031 Beneficial 0.28%

Mr. Li Chunyan 7 1,610,761 Beneficial 0.06%

Dr. Luo Yongtai 8 1,508,700 Beneficial 0.06%

Ms. Liu Yu Jie 9 502,900 Beneficial 0.02%

Notes:

1. Among these shares and/or underlying shares, 3. These comprise 14,163,679 shares directly held
730,451,289 shares were held by Hezhong by Mr. Lui Siu Keung and 7,543,500 underlying
Investment Holding Company Limited (“Hezhong”). shares issuable upon exercise of the rights
Mr. Wang Wenliang was beneficially interested attaching to the 7,543,500 share options at an
in 100% of the issued share capital of Hezhong. exercise price of HK$5.468 per share granted
The remaining 18,824,616 shares and 10,438,301 under the New Share Option Scheme.
shares were directly held by Mr. Wang Wenliang
and his spouse respectively. 4. These comprise 3,023,584 shares directly held by

Mr. Lu Zhaoheng and 3,017,400 underlying shares

2. These underlying shares issuable upon exercise of issuable upon exercise of the rights attaching to
the rights attaching to the 1,005,800 share options the 3,017,400 share options at an exercise price
at an exercise price of HK$0.4872 per share of HK$5.468 per share granted under the New
granted under the Old Share Option Scheme and Share Option Scheme.
the 502,900 share options at an exercise price of
HK$5.468 per share granted under the New Share 5. These shares were directly held by Mr. Li Yan.
Option Scheme.

6. These shares were directly held by Mr. Jia Kun.
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These comprise 1,007,861 shares directly held by
Mr. Li Chunyan and 502,900 underlying shares
issuable upon exercise of the rights attaching to
the 502,900 share options at an exercise price of
HK$5.468 per share granted under the New Share
Option Scheme.

These comprise 1,005,800 shares directly held by
Dr. Luo Yongtai and 502,900 underlying shares
issuable upon exercise of the rights attaching to
the 502,900 share options at an exercise price of
HK$5.468 per share granted under the New Share
Option Scheme.

These underlying shares are issuable upon
exercise of the rights attaching to the 502,900
share options at an exercise price of HK$5.468
per share granted under the New Share Option
Scheme.

As at 31st December, 2019, the total number of
issued shares of the Company was 2,644,832,157.
Had this number been used as the denominator
for calculation of directors’ interests, the
shareholding interests of Mr. Lui Siu Keung, Mr.
Lu Zhaoheng, Mr. Li Yan and Mr. Jia Kun as at
31st December, 2019 would have been slightly
different in percentage ratio (namely 0.82%,
0.23%, 0.53% and 0.27%, respectively), while the
percentage ratio for the other Directors remains
the same.

(b)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December,
2019, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (ii) are required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) are required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests of substantial shareholders of
the Company

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31st
December, 2019, the following entities (not being
Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company

Approximate

shareholding

interest as
Number of disclosed under
Name of shareholder Notes  Type of interests Shares the SFO
(Note 4)
China Gas Holdings Limited 1 Interest of controlled corporation 1,057,905,071 40.00%
Hezhong 2 Beneficial 730,451,289 27.62%
Ms. Feng Haiyan 3 Beneficial/Interest of spouse 759,714,206 28.72%
Notes: Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2019, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than
1. According to the disclosure of interests pages  the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
as shown in the website of the'StOCk EXCha‘"ge had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions
as at 31st December, 2019, China Gas Holdings in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
Limited held th h th h Rich L d .
mite ) © ,e,se S ar?s roug IC, egen would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
International Limited (“Rich Legend”), its wholly- Exch der th . ¢ Divisi 5 d 3 of
owned subsidiary, and is therefore deemed to be xehange under the proY|S|ons © |V|5|on.s an ) °
interested in the 1,057,905,071 shares held by Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
Rich Legend. required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO.
2. Hezhong was beneficially interested in
730,451,289 shares. Mr. Wang Wenliang was
beneficially interested in 100% of the issued share
capital of Hezhong. On 24th October, 2003, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant
3. Ms. Feng Haiyan directly held 10,438,301 shares  to which the Directors were authorised to grant share
and was deemed to be interested in 749,275,905  option to its employees (including executive directors and
shares under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr.  employees of any of its subsidiaries) or any person who
Wang Wenliang. has contributed or will contribute to the Group. The Old
Share Option Scheme was terminated and replaced by a
4. As at 31st December, 2019, the total number of

issued shares of the Company was 2,644,832,157.
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new share option scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”)
on 3rd May, 2013 by an ordinary resolution passed by
the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting held on 3rd May, 2013.



As at the date of this report, there were a total of
1,005,800 share options (as at the date of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31st December,
2018: 2,011,600) outstanding which were granted to
the Directors under the Old Share Option Scheme,
the full conversion of which will result in the issue of
1,005,800 ordinary shares in the Company, representing
approximately 0.04% of the number of issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report (number of
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share options outstanding as at the date of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31st December,
2018 over the number of issued shares of the Company
as at that date: 0.08%).

The following table discloses movements of the
Company’s share options granted to the Directors under
the Old Share Option Scheme and movements in such
holdings during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

Number of share options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme

Lapsed/

Granted Exercised Cancelled Outstanding

Outstanding during during during at 31st

Exercise/ Exercise at 1st January, the year the year the year December,

Name of Directors Date of grant vesting period price 2019 under review under review under review 2019

HKS

Xu Yongxuan 1t Aprl, 2011 11t Aprl, 2011 to 04872 1,005,800 - - - 1,005,800
10th April, 2021

Luo Yongta 11t Apr, 2011 11t Aprl, 2011 to 04872 1,005,800 - (1,005,800) - -
10th April, 2021

2,011,600 - (1,005,800) - 1,006,800

Exercisable at the end of the period 1,006,800

Weightsd average exercise price HK$0.4872 - HK$0.4872 - HK$0.4872

The closing price of the Company’s shares on 8th
April, 2011 was HK$0.48, which was the business day
immediately before the date on which the share options
under the Old Share Option Scheme were granted on 11th
April, 2011.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is
to reward participants who have contributed or will
contribute to the Group and to encourage participants
to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. Under the New Share Option
Scheme, the Directors may offer share options to any
directors and employees of the Group and any advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group, to subscribe for shares in the
Company in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme.
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The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on 3rd May, 2013
and will expire on 2nd May, 2023. Options granted under
the New Share Option Scheme may be exercised during
the period to be determined and notified by the Board
to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall
not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant. An
amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of options. The exercise price shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme shall not, in the absence
of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in
nominal amount of the aggregate of shares in issue on
the adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at
any time subject to prior shareholders’ approval but in any
event, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme under the limit as refreshed
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of the Shareholders’ approval of the renewed limit.
Options previously granted under the New Share Option
Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed
in accordance with the terms or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
renewed.

Further, no options will be granted which would result in
the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
but yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
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Scheme, the existing options granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme, in aggregate, 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each grantee under
the New Share Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to options granted
during such period under any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company other than those options granted pursuant
to specific approval by the shareholders in a general
meeting) exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
for the time being.

On 5th January, 2018, 126,000,000 share options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 126,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company at par value of HK$0.01 each were
granted to the eligible participants (including Directors) by
the Company pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme.
The exercise price of such share options granted under
the New Share Option Scheme was HK$5.5 per share.
The share options granted shall be valid for a period of
ten years from the date of grant. The closing price of the
Company’s shares on 4th January, 2018, being the date
immediately before the date on which the share options
under the New Share Option Scheme were granted, was
HK$4.98. As announced by the Company on 1st August,
2018, the exercise price and the number of options
outstanding as at that date were adjusted to HK$5.468
per share and 126,730,800 options in accordance with the
terms of the New Share Option Scheme, as a result of the
issue of scrip shares by the Company to its shareholders
on 1st August, 2018.

As at the date of this report, the Scheme Mandate Limit
is 252,400,768, the number of outstanding share options
granted under the New Share Option Scheme was
17,098,600 and the maximum number of share options
which may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme is 235,302,168. The outstanding share options,
if converted in full into shares of the Company, and the
number of options available for future grant, if granted
and converted in full, represent approximately 0.65% and
8.90% of the number of issued shares of the Company as
at the date of this report, respectively.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options granted to the eligible participants (including
Directors) under the New Share Option Scheme and movements in their holdings during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

Number of share options granted under the New Share Option Scheme

Lapsed/

Name of participants Granted Exercised Cancelled Outstanding

who are Directors Outstanding during during during at 31st

and category of other Exercise/ Exercise at 1st the year the year the year December,

participants Date of grant vesting period price  January, 2019 under review under review under review 2019

H$

Lui Siu Keung oth January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 0.468 7,043,500 - - - 7,643,500
dih January, 2028

Lu Zhacheng 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5.468 3,017,400 - - - 3,017,400
4t January, 2028

Xu Yongxuan 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
i January, 2028

Li Chunyan 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4t January, 2028

Luo Yongtai 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 1o 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4t January, 2028

Liu Yu Jie 5th January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 5468 502,900 - - - 502,900
4t January, 2028

12,572,500 - - - 12,572,500

Employess oth January, 2018 5th January, 2018 to 0.468 3,017,400 - - - 3,017,400
i January, 2028

Employees 5th January, 2018 17th December, 2019 10 5468 108,128,500 - (106,614,800) - 1,608,700

4t January, 2028 (Note)

123,713,400 - (106,614,800) - 17,098,600

Exercisable at the end of the period 17,098,600

Weighted average exercise price HKE5.468 - HK$5.468 - HK$5.468

Note: On 17th December, 2019, the shareholders approved the amendment of the vesting period of 108,123,500 options granted
by the Company on 5th January, 2018 to certain employees of the Group. As a result, these options have become vested and

exercisable from 17th December, 2019 until 4th January, 2028.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Save as disclosed above, (i) at no time during the year
under review was the Company, its subsidiaries, its
ultimate holding company or any subsidiaries of its
ultimate holding company a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company;
and (i) no other equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by
the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25th August, 2017, the Group, as purchaser, had entered
into the Gas Appliance Purchase Agreements with Gasbo
Electrical and Gas Appliances Co., Ltd. (FHAE SR (FYI)
ARAF]) (“Gasbo”) in 2016 and 2017 for the purchase
of household appliances, including gas boilers, gas water
heaters, gas stoves, range hood, household disinfection
cabinet and other kitchen appliances, which would then be
sold to the Group’s customers. The controlling shareholder
of the Company, China Gas Holdings Limited, has an
effective interest of approximately 63.3% in Gasbo and
therefore the transactions between the Group and Gasbo
under the Gas Appliance Purchase Agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, no
transactions were conducted between the Group and
Gasbo.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31st
December, 2019.

The related party transactions set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements constitute connected
transactions of the Company which are fully exempt under
Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.
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The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
The Group has established policies to reduce wastewater
and solid wastes and monitor the waste emissions to
comply with relevant environmental laws and regulations
in different region in the PRC.

The Group has formulated relevant policies to protect
employees’ rights and strictly complied with relevant laws
and regulations. We have clear requirements for working
hours and holidays, which complies with Labour Contract
Law and relevant national laws and regulations and
prohibits employment of child labour or forced labour.

The Group has formulated various rules in relation to
occupational health and work safety in accordance with
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety
to specify work safety responsibilities of staff at all levels,
and ensure that these rules and measures are strictly
followed.

The major product of the Group is natural gas, and
only a negligible amount of natural gas is discharged
to atmosphere during replacement and connection of
pipelines. We have adopted relevant measures to strictly
monitor the concentration of natural gas passed through
the pipelines. We conduct continuous testing to ensure
compliance with national regulatory standards, and
ensure that the emission volume during replacement and
connection is in line with the industry specifications and
does not cause any air pollution.

The Group has formulated annual standards of energy
consumption and included those standards in appraisal
indicators for every department. Regular appraisals
are conducted and appropriate incentives are given to
employees to improve their motivation for energy and
water conservation. Guidelines on using lighting facilities
and air conditioning have been set up to reduce electricity
consumption.



The Group has put in place a comprehensive employment
system covering compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare. In order to meet the needs of business expansion,
the Group makes active efforts to recruit talent through
open and campus recruitment activities based on the
principles of fair competition, two-way selection and merit
selection. We have formulated Performance Management
System, pursuant to which we provide fair and reasonable
promotion opportunities to our employees. The ranks and
remuneration of employees are determined according
to their skills, contributions and scope of influence. The
Group also provides thorough and comprehensive training
for staff at all levels through diversified means including
lectures, practical training, sharing and learning, onsite
observation and outreach training.

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 7.3% of total turnover
for the year. The Group’s largest customer accounted for
1.7% of the total sales for the year. The Group allows an
average credit period of 30 days to its trade customers.
Customers are mainly local reputable real estate
developers and corporate entities in the PRC and no
significant counterparty default was noted in the past. The
concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer
base being large and unrelated.

For the year ended 31st December, 2019, our five largest
suppliers comprised 49.3% of our total purchase for the
year. The Group’s largest supplier accounted for 29.1% of
the total purchase for the year. Long-term relationship has
been established with major suppliers to ensure stable
supply of gas.

At no time during the year did a director, a close associate
of a director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board is not aware of any circumstances which may
influence the independent non-executive Directors in
exercising their independent judgement.

The Group’s remuneration and bonus policies are
determined based on the performance of individual
employees.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, the Directors’ duties and responsibilities
within the Group and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as
an incentive to directors and eligible employees, details
of the scheme are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to article 165 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, every director of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified and assured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or trusts in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach
to any of the said directors. Such provision was in force
during the year ended 31st December, 2019 and remained
in force as of the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Work safety is the most important operational risk
facing by the Group. The Group has formulated various
rules in relation to occupational health and work safety
in accordance with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Work Safety to specify work safety
responsibilities of staff at all levels, and ensure that these
rules and measures are strictly followed. We organize
annual training for all staff in respect of management,
environment to safety systems, and departments organize
their own relevant training as well, with the aim of
raising employees’ awareness of prevention. We have
also equipped our employees with appropriate safety
gear to ensure their work safety. For frontline positions,
all employees are strictly required to obtain certificates
of labour skills from the government, ensuring that the
related personnel are equipped with the professional
qualifications and safety knowledge about dangerous
working conditions.

We proactively prevent gas leakage. Apart from thorough
and rigorous control systems including the Rules on
Gas Pipeline Network Safety Inspection, we have also
equipped the pipeline network management department
with adequate manpower and equipment, ensuring that
any leakage can be noticed timely. We also greatly
publicize the Group’s hotline to encourage the public to
report any gas leakage.

Please refer to note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements for a summary of financial risks of the Group.
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As far as the Directors are aware, during the year, none
of the Directors had any interest in a business which
competed with or might compete with the business of the
Group.

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31st December, 2019.

During the year under review, the Group made charitable
and other donations amounted to approximately
RMB1,520,000.

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Wenliang
Chairman

Hong Kong
7th April, 2020



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte. B9

TO THE MEMBERS OF ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 59 to 211, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st December, 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019  ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

53



54

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill, other
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group as a key audit matter due to their significance
to the consolidated financial statements and significant judgment
and estimation involved in the impairment assessment.

As at 31st December, 2019, the carrying amounts of goodwill,
other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets, which were subjected to impairment assessment,
were HK$4 11,885,000, HK$1,588,657,000, HK$6, 157,024,000
and HK$302,263,000 respectively as disclosed in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the relevant assets have been allocated to individual cash-
generating units (“CGUS”) relating to (i) sales of gas, (i) pipeline
construction, (iii) different subsidiaries of Harmony Gas Holdings
Limited engaging in sales of gas and (iv) design and consulting
of energy projects. The recoverable amounts of the respective
CGUs have been determined with reference to the value in use
of the relevant CGUs, which require adoption of key assumptions
such as suitable discount rates and growth rates, in order to
calculate the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets included:

° understanding management’s process over impairment
assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets;

° obtaining the Cashflow Forecasts (“Cashflow Forecasts”)
prepared by the management that are used to calculate
the value in use of the CGUs to which the Group's
goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are allocated and
understanding the key management assumptions
adopted in these Cashflow Forecasts through enquiries
with the management;

° challenging of the models used
macroeconomic assumptions used;

including the

o comparing key assumptions (including discount rates and

growth rates) used in the model to external data;

° assessing the reasonableness of forecasted future cash
flows by comparing to historical performance; and

° performing sensitivity analysis on key assumption,
including discount rates and growth rates adopted.



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of pipelines included in property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Included in the property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are pipelines which are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at revalued amounts less
accumulated depreciation. We identified valuation of pipelines
as a key audit matter due to the significance of this balance
to the consolidated financial statements and the complex and
subjective judgments and estimates involved in:

° the determination of valuation techniques, which is
depreciated replacement cost method considering the
new replacement cost of the pipelines and deduction
for obsolescence and

° the selection of different inputs in the model.

The directors of the Company adopt revaluation model to
measure pipelines included in property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets. The surplus resulted from the revaluation
is dealt with in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity, under the heading of property revaluation reserve. As
disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
the fair value of the pipelines amounted to HK$6,583,706,000
as at 31st December, 2019 with the revaluation increase of
the pipelines for the year of HK$92,099,000 recorded in other
comprehensive income.

The fair value was determined by the Group with reference to
the valuations performed by an independent professional valuer
(the "Valuer”) engaged by the Group.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of pipelines included in
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets included:

° assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer;

o evaluating management’s process in respect of reviewing
the valuation performed by the Valuer;

° obtaining the valuation reports for pipelines, and
challenging the relevance and reasonableness of valuation
techniques used by the Valuer;

° holding discussion with management and the Valuer to
understand the valuation basis, methodology used and
underlying assumptions applied; and

° assessing the reasonableness of key inputs which were
used to determine the fair value under depreciated
replacement cost method, including historical labour
cost and historical raw chemical materials purchasing
price indices for industrial producers, by comparing with
the historical construction prices of the pipelines by the
Group in the relevant valuation period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

7th April, 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

NOTES 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Turnover ® 8,143,771 7,627,088
Cost of sales (6,233,851) (5,405,215)
Gross profit 1,909,920 2,221,873
Reversal of impairment/(impairment losses) 9,344 (16,295)
Other gains and losses 7 (230,304) (832,787)
Other income 8 53,493 60,930
Selling and distribution costs (183,041) (146,145)
Administrative expenses (451,878) (875,792)
Share-based payments (43,802) (58,847)
Finance costs 9 (344,248) (272,747)
Share of results of associates 45,052 41,387
Share of result of a joint venture (117) (536)
Profit before tax 764,419 1,121,041
Income tax expenses 10 (280,770) (406,686)
Profit for the year 11 483,649 714,355
Other comprehensive income (expense)
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation from functional currency to
presentation currency (57,763) (135,229)
Fair value gain on revaluation of pipelines included in property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 16, 17 92,099 -
Fair value gain on revaluation of pipelines included in property,
plant and equipments 16 - 384,750
Deferred tax arising from revaluation of pipelines included in
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (23,025) (96,188)
Other comprehensive income for the year 11,311 163,333
Total comprehensive income for the year 494,960 867,688
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 430,121 620,684
Non-controlling interests 53,528 93,671
483,649 714,355
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st December, 2019
s

NOTES 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 438,027 751,861
Non-controlling interests 56,933 115,827
494,960 867,688
Earnings per share 14

Basic

HK16.93 cents

HK24.52 cents

Diluted

HK16.73 cents

HK24.30 cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31st December, 2019

NOTES 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Investment properties 15 9,180 42,940
Property, plant and equipment 16 9,937,008 8,880,175
Right-of-use assets 17 1,022,284 -
Goodwill 18 411,885 255,776
Other intangible assets 19 1,646,932 1,103,468
Long-term deposits, prepayments and other receivables 20 1,114,217 477,506
Prepaid lease payments 21 - 538,195
Interests in associates 22 426,832 390,780
Interest in a joint venture 23 9,453 9,777
Amount due from an associate 29 - 57,195
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 24 78,898 23,310
14,656,689 11,779,122
Current assets
Inventories 25 473,657 326,121
Properties under development for sale 26 110,871 -
Trade receivables 27 1,331,588 1,669,455
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 27 1,219,926 676,438
Amount due from an associate 29 55,972 -
Amount due from a related party 29 8,396 8,679
Prepaid lease payments 21 - 15,614
Contract assets 30 509,321 185,698
Tax recoverable 19,366 19,450
Pledged bank deposits 31 - 5,720
Bank balances and cash 31 1,903,313 1,695,157
5,632,410 4,502,232
Current liabilities
Trade payables 32 1,219,726 1,206,316
Other payables and accrued charges 32 417,460 337,723
Amount due to an associate 33 1,001 1,023
Amounts due to related parties 33 - 81,102
Contract liabilities 30 1,097,362 884,573
Borrowings 34 4,308,237 4,499,852
Lease liabilities 35 68,744 -
Obligations under finance leases due within one year 36 - 186,717
Tax payables 78,750 95,964
7,191,280 7,292,270
Net current liabilities (1,558,870) (2,790,038)
Total assets less current liabilities 13,097,819 8,989,084
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31st December, 2019
I

NOTES 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Capital and reserves
Share capital 37 26,448 25,372
Reserves 4,748,921 3,913,147
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,775,369 3,938,519
Non-controlling interests 660,704 581,650
Total equity 5,436,073 4,520,169
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income and advance received 32 6,874 15,616
Borrowings 34 6,712,973 3,730,367
Lease liabilities 35 12,678 -
Obligations under finance leases due after one year 36 - 61,5637
Deferred taxation 38 929,221 661,395
7,661,746 4,468,915
13,097,819 8,989,084

The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 211 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 7th April, 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

MR. WANG WENLIANG MR. LUI SIU KEUNG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

Share  Property Statutory Non-
Share Share option  revaluation Other surplus  Translation ~ Accumulated Sub-  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits total  interests Total
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
(Note ) (Note i [note 61)
At 1st January, 2018 25,250 895,736 319 830,072 (603,692) 110,443 2365094 1,680,730 3,178,952 540265 8723217
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 620,684 620,684 93,671 714,355
Other comprehensive income
(expense] for the year - - - 261,548 - - (130,371) - 131177 22,156 153,333
Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - 261,648 - - (130,371) 620,684 751,801 115,827 867,688
Issue of shares as scrip dvidend
[notes 13 and 37) 146 93,001 - - - - - (93,147 - - -
Repurchase of shares (note 37) (24) (13,014) - - - - - - (13,038) - (13,038)
Dividends paid in cash - - - - - - (33,103 (33,103) - (33,103)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve - - - - - 1,702 - (11,702) - - -
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (81,102) (81,102)
Acquisition of & subsidiary (note 41) - - - - - - - - - 4,970) (4,970)
Acquisition of assets and liabilties
through acquisitions of
subsidliaries (note 42) - - - - - - - - - 431 431
(apital contribution from
non-controling interests of
subsioliaries - - - - - - - - 5849 5849
Acquisition of additional nterests in
a subsidiary (note 40) - - - - - - - - - (1,075) (1,075)
Disposals of subsidlaries - - - - - - - - - (2,579) (2,579)
Recognition of share-based
payments (note 39) - - 58,847 - - - - - 58,847 - 58,847
Transfer to accumulated profits
upon forfeiture of share options
(note 39) - (2,445) - - - - 2,445 - - -
At 31st December, 2018 25,372 975,723 56,721 1,091,620 (603,692) 122,145 104,723 2165907 3938519 581,600 4,520,169
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share  Property Statutory Non-
Share Share option revaluation Other surplus  Translation  Accumulated Sub-  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits total  interests Total
HK$ 000 HK8000 HKB000 HK000 HK$000 HK$000 HKB000 HK$000 HKB000 HKB000 HK$'000
(Note i) (Note i (note 61)
At 1st January, 2019 25,372 975,723 56,721 1,091,620 (603,692) 122,145 104723 2165907 3938519 581,660 4,520,169
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 430,121 430,121 53,528 483,649
Qther comprehensive income
(expense] for the year - - - 40,611 - - (32,705) - 7,906 3,406 131
Total comprenensive income
(expense) for the year - - - 40,611 - - (32,709) 430,121 438,027 56,983 494,960
Property revaluation reserve transfer
to accumulated proftts (note 1) - - - (4811) - - - 481 - - -
Dividends paid in cash (note 13 - - - - - - - (228,439) (228,439) - (228,439)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve - - - - - 47,453 - (47,463 - - -
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (61512 (651512
Acquisition of & subsidiary (note 41) - - - - - - - - - 44,832 44,832
Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests of
subsiolaries - - - - - - - - - 28,801 28,801
Recognition of share-based
payments (note 39) - - 43,802 - - - - - 43,802 - 43,802
Exercise of share options (note 39) 1,076 068,926 (86,542) - - - - - 583,460 - 583,460
At 31st December, 2019 26,448 1,644,649 13981 1127420 (603,692) 169,598 72018 2324947 4775369 660,704 5,436,073

Note:

controlling interests arised from acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

(i) Other reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the considerations paid and the carrying amount of the non-

(i) The articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) state that

they may make an appropriation of 10% of their profit for each year (prepared under generally accepted accounting principles

in the PRC) to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the paid-in capital. The statutory surplus reserve

shall only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and expansion of their production and operation.

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Operating activities
Profit before tax 764,419 1,121,041
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 291,646 278,601
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 51,187 -
Amortisation of other intangible assets 69,718 42,668
Release of prepaid lease payments - 11,839
Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (18,926) 37,805
(Reversal of impairment) impairment losses
— trade receivables (goods and services) (739) (95)
— contract assets (9,389) 16,390
— other receivables 784 -
Recovery of bad debts previously written off - (29,109)
Share of results of associates (45,052) (41,387)
Share of result of a joint venture 117 536
Share-based payments 43,802 58,847
Interest income (16,999) (15,186)
Finance costs 344,248 272,747
Decrease (increase) in fair value of investment properties 1,579 (387)
Foreign exchange loss 252,755 265,510
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 1,729,150 2,019,820
Increase in inventories (133,520) (123,185)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 324,530 (1,041,391)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and other receivables (496,857) (175,384)
Increase in contract assets (321,664) (1560,580)
Increase in properties under development for sale (27,052) -
(Increase) decrease in deferred income and advance received (8,502) 10,043
(Decrease) increase in trade payables (47,755) 508,683
Decrease in other payables and accrued charges (115,371) (57,735)
Increase in contract liabilities 233,977 194,900
Increase in discounted bills with recourse 118,457 -
Cash generated from operations 1,255,393 1,185,171
Interest received 16,999 15,186
Income taxes paid (183,862) (335,094)
Withholding tax paid (7,361) (9,402)
Net cash from operating activities 1,081,169 855,861
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

66

2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,391,908) (1,961,779)
Payments of right-of-use assets (85,517) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 31,040 84,917
Placement of pledged bank deposits - (5,921)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 5,679 -
Repayment of an entrusted loan - 23,685
Acquisitions of subsidiaries 41 (724,416) (24,826)
Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisitions of subsidiaries 42 - (2,290)
Payments of unsettled consideration of acquisitions of subsidiaries (40,918) (39,183)
Additional investment in financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (56,843) (17,764)
Addition of prepaid lease payments - (49,852)
Addition of other intangible assets (303) (686)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and
leasehold lands (187,791) (1569,346)
Net cash used in investing activities (2,450,977) (2,153,045)
Financing activities
Interest paid (875,682) (290,011)
Loan facilities fees paid (79,040) (63,772)
New borrowings raised 7,367,706 5,821,119
Repayments of lease liabilities (194,557) -
Repayments of borrowings (4,622,863) (2,720,494)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases - (186,477)
Repayment to an associate - (165)
Repayment to related parties (80,522) -
Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests (51,512) -
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary 28,801 5,849
Exercise of share options 490 -
Payment on repurchase of ordinary shares - (13,038)
Dividends paid (228,439) (33,103)
Net cash from financing activities 1,764,382 2,629,908
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 394,574 1,232,724
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 1,595,157 464,347
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (86,418) (101,914)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December, represented by
bank balances and cash 1,903,313 1,695,157
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
General information

Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services to its subsidiaries.
The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the development, construction and operation of natural gas
projects in the PRC.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) and the presentation currency of the consolidated
financial statements is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider this
presentation is more appropriate as the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of preparation

As at 31st December, 2019, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) has net
current liabilities of HK$1,558,870,000.

The Directors have therefore given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group when preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors believe that the consolidated financial statements are prepared on
a going concern basis, taking into account that the new bank borrowings facilities amounting to US$500,000,000
(equivalent to HK$3,896,450,000) have been approved by a bank subsequent to 31st December, 2019, in which the
borrowings are due after one year from the date of draw down.

As a result of the measure described above, the Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full

its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts of application on HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”,
and the related interpretations.

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 16
Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) - Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1st January, 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial

application, 1st January, 2019.

Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening accumulated profits and comparative
information has not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts of application on HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)
Transition and summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis,
to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

i elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application; and

ii. used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at date of initial application in determining the lease
term for the Group’s leases with extension and termination options.

On transition, the Group has made the following adjustments upon application of HKFRS 16, other than reclassification
of obligations under finance leases of HK$247,254,000, prepaid lease payments of HK$533,809,000 and assets
previously under finance leases included in property, plant and equipment of HK$838,713,000, the Group recognised
lease liabilities of HK$24,245,000 and right-of-use assets of HK$24,245,000 at 1st January, 2019 by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(ii) transition.

In relation to assets previously under finance leases, the Group recategorised the carrying amounts of the relevant
assets which were still under leases as at 1st January, 2019 amounting to HK$838,713,000 as right-of-use assets.
In addition, the Group reclassified the obligations under finance leases of HK$185,717,000 and HK$61,537,000 to
lease liabilities as current and non-current liabilities respectively at 1st January, 2019. For these leases, the Group
accounted for the right-of-use asset and the lease liability by applying HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts of application on HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)
Transition and summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied by the relevant group entities range from 3.9% to 5.4%.

At

1st January,2019

Note HK$'000

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31st December, 2018 27,958

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental borrowing rates 26,640
Less: Practical expedient — leases with lease term ending within 12 months from the

date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (2,395)

Lease liabilities relating to operating leases recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 24,245

Add: Obligations under financial leases recognized at 31st December, 2018 (b) 247,254

Lease liabilities as at 1st January, 2019 271,499

Analysed as

Current 194,379

Non-current 77,120

271,499
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts of application on HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1st January, 2019 comprises the following:

Right-of-use
assets
Notes HK$'000

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases recognised upon application of
HKFRS 16 24,245
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments (a) 553,809

Amount included in property, plant and equipment under HKAS 17

— Assets previously under finance leases (b) 838,713
1,416,767

Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC for own used properties were classified as prepaid lease
payments as at 31st December, 2018. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portion
of prepaid lease payments amounting to HK$15,614,000 and HK$538,195,000 respectively were reclassified
to right-of-use assets.

In relation to assets previously under finance leases, the Group recategorised the carrying amounts of the
relevant assets which were still under leases as at 1st January, 2019 amounting to HK$838,713,000 as right-
of-use assets. In addition, the Group reclassified the obligations under finance leases of HK$185,717,000
and HK$61,537,000 to lease liabilities as current and non-current liabilities respectively at 1st January, 2019.

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the Group is not required to make any adjustment on
transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from
the date of initial application and comparative information has not been restated.

Based on the assessment by the Directors, there is no material impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on accumulated
profits at 1st January, 2019. The application of HKFRS 16 by the Group as a lessor in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial position as at 31st December, 2019 and the result for the year ended
31st December 2019.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)
Impacts of application on HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1st January, 2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 15
31st December, at 1st January,
2018 Adjustments 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 8,880,175 (838,713) 8,041,462
Right-of-use assets - 1,416,767 1,416,767
Prepaid lease payments 538,195 (5638,195) -
Current Assets
Prepaid lease payments 15,614 (15,614) -
Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities - 194,379 194,379
Obligations under finance leases due within one year 185,717 (185,717) -
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities - 77,120 77,120
Obligations under finance leases due after one year 61,5637 (61,5637) -

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under indirect method for the year ended 31st December,

2019, movements in working capital have been computed based on opening consolidated statement of financial position

as at 1st January, 2019 as disclosed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material®

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform®*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after beginning of the first

annual period beginning on or after 1st January, 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, “the Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards”, will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance and/or on disclosures in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”

The amendments:

° add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities

and assets is not a business. The election on whether to apply the optional concentration test is available
on transaction-by-transaction basis;

o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

o narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business” (Continued)

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1st January, 2020, with early
application permitted. The optional concentration test and the amended definition of a business are not expected
to have a significant impact to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgments. The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1st January, 2020. The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, financial instruments and investment properties that are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1st January, 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
as that the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of the relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to the financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment at the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or a group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating unit within group of cash-generating units
in which the Group monitors goodwill).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associates and joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of the associates and joint
venture used for equity accounting purpose are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
and a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate and
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates and a joint venture (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which
the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the investments in associates and a joint venture
may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate and joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if
that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate and joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods

or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or
° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has

an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time

is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on input method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to
by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the associated goods or services is less than one
year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than assets under construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost or fair value less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Pipelines are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair
value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease
of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss
to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, in the
property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to accumulated profits.

Assets including building in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attribute to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or revalued amount of assets other than assets under construction
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item
at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
accumulated profits.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property, the property deemed cost
for subsequent accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Prior to 1st January, 2019, assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the
same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by
the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term, the carrying amount
of the relevant right-of-use assets are transferred to property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building for own use

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS
16) in the consolidated statement of financial position except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Properties under development for sale

Properties for/under development which are intended to be sold upon completion of development and properties
for sale are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element which is measured at cost model in
accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties for/
under development/properties for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the properties
less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, or fair value at the date of transfer including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for as investment
properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Effective 1st January, 2019, a leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset upon application of HKFRS 16 is derecognised if the Group
as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases
Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations on or after the date of initial application,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note
2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of certain properties and equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note
2) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and
. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for investment properties and pipelines included in right-of-use assets that are measured under fair value model
and revaluation model respectively, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at
the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Pipelines included in right-of-use assets are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their
revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from
that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of pipelines included in right-of-use assets is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited
to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on
revaluation of pipelines included in right-of-use assets is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the
balance, if any, in the property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to accumulated profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note
2) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss are transferred to property plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property and inventories as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventories are presented within “investment properties” and “properties under development
for sales” respectively.

The Group transfers a leasehold land from right-of-use assets to properties under development for sale when there
is a change in use to hold the leasehold land for sale rather than in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. The cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss are transferred to property under development for sale.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value
of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, if any.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in note
2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and
. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the

increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1st January, 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under operating leases, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis (see accounting policy in respect of impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contract
with Customers”. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial assets or financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:
° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
trade receivables, refundable deposits, other receivables, amount due from an associate, amount due from a related
party, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) and contract assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for the credit-impaired balances and based on provision matrix for the remaining balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;
° Past-due status; and
o Nature and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting

their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure
at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Repurchase of Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables, accrued charges, amount due to an associate, amounts
due to related parties and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share option reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Inventories

Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances, consumables and spare parts, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising from the translation of the Company’s functional currency, RMB, to
the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements, HK$, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate) and will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or a group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or a group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated
as a revaluation increase under that standard.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Impairment assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Determining whether goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
impaired. requires an estimate of the recoverable amount of relevant assets or the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. The recoverable amount is determined based on the value in use calculation which requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from relevant assets or the cash-generating units and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected or
due to changes in estimates, a material impairment loss may arise. Details of the recoverable amount calculation
for the cash-generating units in respect of (i) sales of gas, (ii) pipeline construction, (iii) different subsidiaries of
Harmony Gas Holdings Limited (“Harmony Gas”) engaging in sales of gas and (iv) design and consulting of energy
projects are set out in note 18. As at 31st December, 2019, the carrying amounts of goodwill, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, which were subjected to impairment assessment,
were HK$411,885,000 (2018: HK$255,776,000), HK$1,588,657,000 (2018: HK$1,045,000,000), HK$6,157,024,000
(2018: HK$4,597,419,000) and HK$302,263,000 (2018: prepaid lease payments of HK$187,000,000) respectively.

Valuation of pipelines included in property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

As described in notes 16 and 17, pipelines included in property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were revalued as at 31st December, 2019 based on depreciated replacement cost method (“DRC”) determined
by an independent professional valuer. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and may materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation for depreciated replacement
cost for pipelines, the independent professional valuer considers information from the aggregate amount of the
new replacement cost of the pipelines and deductions obsolescence at the end of the reporting period. As at 31st
December, 2019, the carrying amount of pipelines included in property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were HK$6,127,073,000 (2018: HK$5,795,225,000) and HK$456,633,000 (2018: nil).
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TURNOVER

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
Types of goods or services
Sales of gas 5,805,421 4,871,134
Revenue from gas pipeline construction 1,581,238 2,251,268
Sales of stoves and other services 412,348 154,854
Sales of compressed natural gas or liquefied natural gas (“CNG/LNG”)
in vehicle filling stations 337,377 342,365
Sales of liquefied petroleum gas 7,387 7,467
Total 8,143,771 7,627,088
Timing of revenue recognition
A point in time 6,562,533 5,375,820
Over time 1,581,238 2,251,268
Total 8,143,771 7,627,088

All the revenue from contracts with customers are derived from the PRC.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

(a) Sales of goods

For the sales of CNG/LNG, stoves and liquefied petroleum gas, a receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as this represents the point in time at which the right

to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is

due. The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its customers for the invoices issued.

For the sales of gas, the Group would require advance payment before the usage of the natural gas
for certain customers, any shortage against the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of
natural gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. The Group allows an average credit period of 30

days to its customers for the invoices issued. These customers are required to top up the advance

payment for future usage of natural gas to be supplied by the Group.
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5.

TURNOVER (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Sales of goods (Continued)

The Group requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas through prepaid card for
certain household users. The charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly to the
balance of the prepaid card. These customers can only consume the natural gas up to the balance
of the prepaid card.

Construction

The Group provides gas pipeline construction services under construction contracts with its customers.
Such contracts are entered into before construction of the gas pipeline begins. The Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
construction of gas pipeline is recognised over time on an input method, i.e. based on the proportion
of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.
The Directors consider that this input method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under HKFRS 15.

The Group requires certain customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction which will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contracts exceed the amount of the deposits. The Group is entitled to invoice customers for gas
pipeline construction services upon completion of construction works. The Group recognises contract
asset for any work performed in excess of payment from customer for the same contract. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables upon completion of
construction works. The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its customers.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts
with customers

All the contracts for sales of gas and other goods, and gas pipeline construction are for original expected

duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s executive directors are the chief operating decision makers (“CODM”) as they collectively make
strategic decisions on resources allocation and performance assessment. The Group is principally engaged in (i) the
investment, operation and management of city gas pipeline infrastructure, distribution of piped gas to residential,
industrial and commercial users; and (ii) the operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations in the PRC. Nearly all
identifiable assets of the Group are located in the PRC. During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group
commenced the business of design and consulting of energy projects upon the acquisition of 1t 7 B4 75 7 LR
BT ER AR (“Beijing Energy-Net De.”) (as detailed in note 41) and its result is included in the segment of sales
of stoves and other services.

Information that is reported to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and assessment of performance
focuses on the type of products delivered or services rendered which is also consistent with the basis of organisation
of the Group.

Each type of product or service represents an unique business unit within the Group whose performance is assessed
independently. No operating segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group. The Group’s operating and reportable segments are therefore as follows:

(@) sales of gas;
(b) gas pipeline construction;
(c) sales of stoves and other services;

(d) operation of CNG/LNG vehicle filling stations; and

(e) sales of liquefied petroleum gas
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

Operation of

Sales of CNG/LNG Sales of
stoves vehicle liquefied
Sales  Gas pipeline and other filling petroleum
of gas  construction services stations gas Consolidated
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Segment revenue 5,805,421 1,581,238 412,348 337,377 7,387 8,143,771
Segment profit 407,773 922,253 91,255 24,596 61 1,445,938

Unallocated other income 13,634
Unallocated other gains and losses (219,548)
Unallocated central corporate expenses (140,701)
Reversal of impairment 9,344
Finance costs (344,248)
Profit before tax 764,419
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

Operation of

Sales of CNG/LNG Sales of

stoves vehicle liquefied

Sales Gas pipeline and other filing petroleum
of gas construction services stations gas Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Segment revenue 4,871,134 2,251,268 164,854 342,365 7,467 7,627,088
Segment profit 296,082 1,469,432 43,348 24,165 148 1,823,175
Unallocated other income 17,787
Unallocated other gains and losses (309,024)
Unallocated central corporate expenses (121,855)
Impairment losses (16,299)
Finance costs (272,747)
Profit before tax 1,121,041

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note

3. Reportable segments represents the financial result of each segment without allocation of central administration

costs, directors’ emoluments, interest income, share-based payments, change in fair value of investment properties,
net foreign exchange gain or loss, certain sundry income, finance costs and income tax expenses. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

A subsidiary of the Group also engages in the property development in the PRC and the revenue generate from

this business will be included as the consolidated revenue of the Group. There was no property sold for the year

ended 31st December, 2019. The operating result and other financial information of this subsidiary’s business are

not reviewed by the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and performance assessments.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
Amounts of segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reviewed by the CODM or otherwise regularly provided
to the CODM, accordingly, segment assets and liabilities are not presented.
Other segment information
2019

Operations of
Sales of CNG/LNG Sales of

stoves vehicle liquefied
Sales  Gas pipeline and other filling petroleum Segment
of gas  construction services stations gas total  Unallocated Consolidated

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

Amounts included in the
measure of segment
profit or loss:

Net (gain) loss on disposal
of property, plant and

equipment (18,941) - - 3 - (18,938) 12 (18,926)
Depreciation of right-of-use

assets 40,790 - 1,062 5,267 - 47,119 4,068 51,187
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 272,239 694 1,306 10,246 - 284,485 7,161 291,646
Amortisation of other

intangible assets 65,767 - 2,168 1,783 - 69,718 - 69,718
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)

2018

Operations of

Sales of CNG/ING Seles of
stoves vehicle liquefied
Sales Gas pipeline and other filing petroleum Segment
of gas construction services stations 0as total Unallocated ~ Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Amounts included in the
measure of segment
profit or loss:
Net loss (gain) on disposal
of property, plant and
equipment 37,285 - (1,241) 2,298 - 38,342 (637) 37,805
Release of prepaid lease
payments 6,236 - - 4,842 - 11,078 761 11,839
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 260,301 - 200 9,977 - 270,478 8,123 278,601
Amortisation of other
intangible assets 40,647 - - 2,021 - 42,668 - 42,668

Geographical information

All the turnover of the Group for both years are derived from the PRC. None of the customers contributes over
10% of the total revenue of the Group.

As at 31st December, 2019, all the non-current assets of the Group (excluding financial assets) amounting to
HK$13,899,766,000 (2018: HK$11,604,438,000) are located in the PRC.
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7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Recovery of bad debts previously written off - 29,109
Net foreign exchange losses (248,562) (821,905)
(Decrease) increase in fair value of investment properties (1,579) 387
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 18,926 (387,805)
Others 911 (2,573)
(230,304) (332,787)
8. OTHER INCOME

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost
— Bank interest income 11,282 9,412
— Interest income on amount due from an associate 2,946 3,072
14,228 12,484
Government subsidies (Note) 5,160 6,264
Income from investments in life insurance contracts 2,771 2,702
Sundry income 31,334 39,480
53,493 60,930

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group has received subsidies of HK$5,160,000 (2018: HK$6,264,000)
from the relevant PRC governments for promoting the use of natural gas. There are no conditions attached to the subsidies

granted to the Group.
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FINANCE COSTS

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

Interest on borrowings 357,915 281,233

Interest on obligations under finance leases - 20,338

Interest on lease liabilities 12,408 -

370,323 301,571

Amortisation on loan faclilities fees relating to bank borrowings 53,167 38,100

Total borrowing costs 423,490 339,671
Less: Amounts capitalised in construction in progress included in property,

plant and equipment (79,242) (66,924)

344,248 272,747

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 4.66% (2018: 5.09%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000

PRC Enterprise Income Tax:
Current tax 173,144 301,670
Overprovision in prior years (3,736) (6,467)
Withholding tax levied on dividends paid previously not recognised 7,361 9,402
176,769 304,605
Deferred tax (note 38) 104,001 102,081
280,770 406,686
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduced the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28th March,
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the Company and its subsidiaries had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on the dividend declared to non-PRC tax residents in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards. During the year ended 31st December,
2019, withholding tax amounting to HK$7,361,000 (2018: HK$9,402,000) was charged by the PRC tax authority
which levied on the dividends paid to overseas group entities in previous and current years.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Profit before tax 764,419 1,121,041
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% (2018: 25%) (Note) 191,105 280,260
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 68,337 141,960
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (319) (1,561)
Overprovision in respect of prior years (3,736) (6,467)
Tax effect of share of results of associates (11,263) (10,347)
Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture 29 134
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised 31,446 23,317
Utilisation of estimated tax losses previously not recognised (2,190) (30,012)
Withholding tax levied on dividends paid previously not recognised 7,361 9,402
Tax charge for the year 280,770 406,686

Note: The domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially based is used.
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
Auditor's remuneration 4,145 3,500
Amortisation of other intangible assets (included in cost of sales) 69,718 42,668
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 51,187 -
Release of prepaid lease payments - 11,839
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 291,646 278,601
Employee benefits expenses, other than directors’ emoluments
— Salaries and other benefits 345,317 309,043
— Share-based payments 43,802 48,631
— Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 69,387 62,070
458,506 419,744
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses in respect of contract cost for gas
pipeline construction 276,759 405,900
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses in respect of sales of gas,
CNG/LNG, liquefied petroleum gas and stoves 5,268,305 4,235,995
5,545,064 4,641,895
(Reversal of impairment) impairment losses
— Trade receivables (good and services) (739) (95)
— Other receivables 784 -
— Contract assets (9,389) 16,390
(9,344) 16,295
Gross rental income from investment properties with minimal outgoings (1,265) (874)
Gross rental income from equipment with minimal outgoings (6,579) (1,968)
Operating lease rentals in respect of rental premises - 16,614
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and the chief executive are as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fees 1,000 1,000
Other emoluments:

— Salaries and other benefits 18,120 9,785

— Discretionary and performance related incentive payments 4,260 -

— Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 261 105

— Share-based payments - 10,216

Total emoluments 23,641 21,106
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of Directors and the chief executive of the Company are analysed as follows:

2019 2018
Discretionary
and
performance ~ Contributions Contrioutions
Salaries related to retirement Salaries fo refirement
and other incentive benefits and other ~ Share-based benefts
Fees benefits payments schemes Total Fees Denefits payments schemes Total

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS1000 HK$000 HK$000 HK81000 HK§000

Executive directors
M, Wang Wenliang - 7,140 2,460 - 9,600 - 4,920 - - 4,920
Mr. Lui Siu Keung (note i - 5,600 1,800 18 7418 - 3,600 597 18 9,575
Mr. Lu Zhaoheng - 2,300 - 81 2,381 - 1,265 2,383 87 3,73
Mr. L Yan note i - 1,540 - 81 1,621 - - - - -
Mr. Jia Kun (note i) - 1,540 - 81 1,621 - - - - -
Non-executive director
Mr. Xu Yongruan 250 - - - 250 20 - 37 - 647
Independent non-

executive directors
M. Li Chunyan 250 - - - 250 20 - 49 - 743
Dr. Luo Yongtal 250 - - - 250 20 - 493 - 743
Ms. Liu Yu Jie 250 - - - 250 200 - 493 - 743

1,000 18,120 4,260 261 23,641 1,000 9,785 10,216 105 21,106

Notes:
(i) Mr. Lui Siu Keung is also the chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include

those for services rendered by him as the CEO.
(ii) Mr. Li Yan was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 25th February, 2019.

(iii) Mr. Jia Kun was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 25th February, 2019.
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as

a compensation for loss of office for both years.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above was for his services as director of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as Directors.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2018: one) were Directors whose emoluments
are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2018: four) individuals are as follows:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Salaries and other benefits 1,154 1,274
Discretionary and performance related incentive payments 234 -
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 186 233
Share-based payments 18,336 24,448
19,910 25,955
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments are within the following bands:

2019 2018
Number of Number of
employees employees
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 - 3
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 3 1
DIVIDENDS
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as
distribution during the year:
2018 final dividend of HK7 cents (2018: 2017 final dividend of HK5 cents)
per ordinary share 177,675 126,250
2019 interim dividend of HK2 cents (2018: nil) per ordinary share 50,764 -
228,439 126,250
Final dividend, proposed, of HK5 cents (2018: HK7 cents) per ordinary share 132,242 177,605

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December, 2019 of
HK5 cents (2018: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December, 2018 of HK7 cents) per ordinary share,
in an aggregate amount of HK$132,242,000 (2018: HK$177,605,000), has been proposed by the Directors and is
subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on

the following data:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Earnings
Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share, being
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 430,121 620,684
2019 2018
’000 ‘000
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 2,540,405 2,630,877
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share options issued by the Company 29,852 23,098
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share 2,570,257 2,653,975

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019



15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$'000
FAIR VALUE
At 1st January, 2018 44,516
Exchange adjustments (1,963)
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss (notes i) 387
At 31st December, 2018 42,940
Exchange adjustments (897)
Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (notes i) (1,579)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment (note ii) (31,284)
At 31st December, 2019 9,180
Notes:
(i) The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 has been arrived at on the basis of a

(i)

valuation carried out on the respective dates by 7 E LB B EFFEBR AR (A 15" and GW Financial Advisory Services
Limited (“GW Financial”), independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group.

The fair value determined by 7] F /L5 was based on the income approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units of
the properties are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected by investors for this type of properties. The market
rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of
similar properties in the neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined by reference to the yields derived from analysing
the sales transactions of similar commercial properties in the PRC and adjusted to take into account the market expectation
from property investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s investment properties. There has been no change from
the valuation technique used in the prior year.

The fair value determined by GW Financial was based on direct comparison approach making reference to comparable
market observable transactions of similar locations and conditions as available in the relevant market.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, an investment property of the Group have been self-used as office. Accordingly
the fair value of this property of HK$31,284,000 was transferred to property, plant and equipment of the Group and
HK$4,811,000 was transferred from property revaluation reserve to accumulated profits.

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases mainly run
for an initial period of one to ten years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated
in the respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.
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15.

122

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. At the
end of each reporting periods, the chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of the Company works closely with the independent
qualified professional valuers to establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the
management of the Group.

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs

The following table gives information about how the fair value of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
is observable.

Relationship of
inputs to fair value

Fair value Valuation
hierarchy  techniques

Significant
Fair value unobservable inputs
2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$:000

Description

Discount rate The higher the discount rate,

the lower the fair value

Commercial property units 9,180 0,348  Lewel3 Income approach

located in the PRC (note i)

Commercial property units
located in the PRC (note i)

33,502

Level 3 Direct comparison

approach

(2019: 6.48%; 2018: 6.43%)

Market price, taking into account

the recent transaction prices for

The higher the market price,
the higher the fair value

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

similar properties adjusted for
nature, location and conditions
of the property which range
from RVBB,000 to RMB12,000
per square metre (2018
RVB12,000 to RMB20,000 per
Square metre)

9,180 42,940

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction Machinery Furniture
in Leasehold and and Motor
Buildings progress  improvements Pipelines equipment fixtures vehicles Total
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
COST OR VALUATION
At 1st January, 2018 782,118 1,184,192 26,142 4,664,851 667,334 25,082 144,719 7,484,038
Exchange adjusiments (41,199 (65,641) (1,226) (266,021) (33,690) (192) (6,8%) (413,867)
Acquisttion of assets and
liabiliies through acquisition
of a subsidiary (note 42) - 8,961 - - - - - 8961
Acquisitions of business
(note 41) 1,055 2,299 - 17,337 4715 166 485 26,007
Adtions 24,060 1,918,800 5116 86,689 43,957 4167 22,938 2,104,623
Disposals (3,594) (650) - (120,117) (21,008) (632) (23,720) (169,521)
Transfer 118,986 (1,378,087) - 1,167,901 90,943 207 - -
Revaluation - - - 245,685 - - - 245,685
At 31st December, 2018 881,426 1,670,030 29,032 5,795,225 742,251 29,488 138,024 9,285,976
Adjustments upon application of
HKFRS 16 - - - (838,713) - - - (838,713
At 18t January, 2019 (restated) 881,426 1,670,030 29,032 4,956,512 742,251 29,488 138,624 8,447,263
Exchange adjustments (20,217) (37,520) (640) (148,076) (17,712) (7117) (2.962) (207 844)
Acouisitions of business
(note 41) 17,040 81,679 - 248,207 10,295 539 2,238 360,048
Additions 24141 1,491,419 3,064 17,324 20,701 3641 11,149 1,571,339
Disposals (1,261) - - (12,686) 1,946) (62) (6,580) (22,535)
Transfer 12,264 (844,085 - 801,510 29,668 57 580 -
Transfer from investment
property 31,284 - - - - - - 31,284
Transfer from right-of-use assets - - - 362,178 - - - 302,178
Revaluation - - - (87,946) - - - (87,946)
At 31st December, 2019 944,677 2,361,523 31,456 6,127,073 783,207 32,846 142,95 10423787
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Construction Machinery Furniture
in Leasehold and and Motor
Buildings progress  improvements Pipelines equipment fixtures vehicles Total
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK§000
DEPRECIATION
At 1st January, 2018 93,146 - 6,161 - 192,943 14,004 53,628 369,862
Exchange adjusiments (5,034 - (351) (27,129) (11,189) (75) (2,352) (46,798)
Provided for the year 16,741 - 3,836 183,454 58,081 3,010 12,979 278,601
Eliminated on disposals (944) - - (17,264) (9,154) (467) (18,970) 46,799
Eliminated on revaluation - - - (139,065) - - - (139,065)
At 31st December, 2018 103,909 - 9,636 - 231,187 15,884 45,185 405,801
Exchange adjustments 2,912 - (220) (18,757) (6,623) (420) (1,29 (30,230)
Provided for the year 19,500 - 2,642 192,468 60,569 2,187 13,680 291,646
Eliminated on disposals (309) - - (3,694) (859) (32) (6,531) (10.421)
Eliminated on revaluation - - - (170,017) - - - (170,017)
At 31st December, 2019 120,188 - 12,008 - 284,278 18,219 52,036 486,779
CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2019 824,489 2,361,523 19,398 6,127,073 498,979 14,627 90,919 9,987,008
At 31st December, 2018 77517 1,670,030 19,39 5,795,225 511,004 13,604 93,339 8,880,175

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-
line basis after taking into account the residual values at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the remaining terms of leases

Leasehold improvements  Over the remaining term of leases

Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or operation period of the relevant company
Machinery and equipment 6% — 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Motor vehicles 10% - 18%

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group is in the process of obtaining title deeds from relevant government authority
for its buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$133,932,000 (2018: HK$141,839,000). In the opinion of the Directors,
the Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the title deeds for its buildings in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s pipelines included in property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At 31st December, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of the Group’s pipelines was valued by the independent qualified
professional valuer, GW Financial, using DRC approach.

In determining the fair value of the pipelines, at the end of each reporting period, the CEO works closely with the
independent qualified professional valuer to establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to be used in determining the fair value of the assets. Discussion of valuation processes and results is held between
CEO and the Directors at least once a year.

The fair value of the pipelines has been determined using the DRC approach that reflects the cost to a market
participant to construct assets of comparable utility and the age of the pipelines, adjusted for obsolescence. The Group
has determined that the highest and best use of the pipelines at the measurement date would be their existing use.

The Group’s pipelines at revalued amount are categorised into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair value and unobservable inputs
used in the valuation models.

Description Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Significant inputs
2019 2018
HK$000 HK$ 000

Pipelines included in 6,127,073 5,795,225  DRC approach (a) historical labour cost (RMB/year) (a) RMB60,501 (2018: RMB57,919)
property, plant and
equipment (b) historical raw chemical materials (b) 94.8 (2018: 107.1)

purchasing price indices for
industrial producers

Pipelines included in right-of- 456,633 - DRC approach (a) historical labour cost (RMB/year) (a) RMB60,501 (2018: RMB57,919)
use assets
(b) historical raw chemical materials (b) 94.8 (2018: 107.1)
purchasing price indices for
industrial producers

6,583,706 5,795,225

A significant positive adjustment to any of the above significant unobservable inputs would result in a significant
increase in fair value of the pipelines, and vice versa.

Had the pipelines included in property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at 31st December, 2019 been

carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, its carrying value would have been approximately HK$5,035,078,000
(2018: HK$4,253,154,000).
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17.

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold Leased
Pipelines lands properties Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
COST OR VALUATION
At 1st January, 2019 838,713 553,809 24,245 1,416,767
Additions - 100,538 7,675 108,113
Acquisition of business (note 41) - 915 - 915
Transfer to property under development for
sale - (85,430) - (85,430)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (354,359) - - (354,359)
Revaluation (14,866) - - (14,866)
Exchange adjustments (12,855) (13,340) (550) (26,745)
At 31st December, 2019 456,633 556,492 31,270 1,044,395
DEPRECIATION
At 1st January, 2019 - - - -
Charge for the year 27,437 13,138 10,612 51,187
Eliminated on transfer to property, plant and
equipment (2,181) - - (2,181)
Eliminated on revaluation (24,894) - - (24,894)
Exchange adjustments (362) (1,532) (107) (2,001)
At 31st December, 2019 - 11,606 10,605 22,111
CARRYING VALUES
At 1st January, 2019 838,713 553,809 24,245 1,416,767
At 31st December, 2019 456,633 544,886 20,765 1,022,284

The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or operation period of the relevant company
Over the remaining term of leases
Over the remaining term of leases

Leasehold lands
Leased properties

Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with lease terms end within 12 months of the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 is HK$2,865,000 during the year ended 31st December 2019.

Total cash outflow for lease was HK$295,347,000 for the year ended 31st December, 2019.

For both years, the Group leases various pipelines, offices, staff quarters and gas container for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of one year to twenty-five years with no options. Certain leases of pipeline
were accounted for as finance leases during the year ended 31st December, 2018 and carried interest ranged from
4.28% to 4.99%. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying
amount of HK$35,803,000 (2018: HK$36,585,000) in which the Group is in the process of obtaining.

Fair value measurement of pipelines are set out in note 16.

GOODWILL

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000

Cost and carrying amount
At 1st January 255,776 225,878
Exchange adjustments (10,711) (10,250)
Arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 41) 166,820 40,148
At 31st December 411,885 265,776

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying amount of goodwill is attributable to the cash-generating units
(“CGUs") relating to sales of gas (“Unit A”) amounting to HK$240,663,000 in aggregate (2018: HK$100,753,000),
pipeline construction (“Unit B”) amounting to HK$66,680,000 in aggregate (2018: HK$51,332,000), different
subsidiaries of Harmony Gas engaging in sales of gas (“Unit C”) amounting to HK$90,641,000 in aggregate (2018:
HK$89,486,000) and design and consulting of energy projects (“Unit D”) amounting to HK$13,901,000 in aggregate
(2018: HK$14,205,000).

Impairment testing on Unit A

Unit A consists of several CGUs which represent the operations of different subsidiaries engaging in sales of gas.
For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount and compares with the carrying
amount of the respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of Unit A comprise other intangible
assets of HK$1,162,850,000 (2018: HK$650,779,000), goodwill of HK$240,663,000 (2018: HK$100,753,000), property,
plant and equipment of HK$4,493,672,000 (2018: HK$3,238,876,000) and right-of-use assets of HK$243,256,000
(2018: prepaid lease payments of HK$152,448,000). The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined
based on the value in use calculation of each CGU using the following assumptions for 2019 and 2018:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2018: 5 years)

Growth rates beyond 5-year period extrapolated 2% to 3% (2018: 0.90% to 5.52%)
in the financial budgets approved by the management

Discount rate 10.92% (2018: 11.82%)
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18.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing on Unit A (Continued)

This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit A to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit A. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amount of each CGU
of Unit A exceeds its carrying amount and no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended 31st
December, 2019 and 2018.

Impairment testing on Unit B

Unit B consists of several CGUs which represent operation of different subsidiaries engaging in the pipeline
constructions. For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount and compares
with the carrying amount of respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of Unit B comprise
other intangible assets of HK$58,381,000 (2018: nil) and goodwill of HK$66,680,000 (2018: HK$51,332,000). The
recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based on value in use calculation of each CGU using the
following assumptions for 2019 and 2018:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2018: 5 years)

Growth rates beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the financial budgets 2% (2018:2%)
approved by the management

Discount rate 10.92% (2018: 11.82%)

This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit B to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit B. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amounts of each CGU
of Unit B exceeds its carrying amount, therefore, no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended
31st December, 2019 and 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing on Unit C

Unit C consists of several CGUs which represent the operations of different subsidiaries of Harmony Gas
engaging in sales of gas. For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount and
compares with the carrying amount of the respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of Unit
C comprise other intangible assets of HK$348,191,000 (2018: HK$372,381,000), goodwill of HK$90,641,000 (2018:
HK$89,486,000), property, plant and equipment of HK$1,658,918,000 (2018: HK$1,353,403,000) and right-of-use
assets of HK$59,007,000 (2018: prepaid lease payments of HK$34,552,000). The recoverable amount of each CGU
has been determined based on the value in use calculation of each CGU using the following assumptions for 2019
and 2018:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2018: 5 years)

Growth rate beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the financial budgets 2% (2018: 2%)
approved by the management

Discount rate 10.92% (2018: 11.82%)

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit C to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit C. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amount of each CGU
of Unit C exceeds its carrying amount and no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended 31st
December, 2019 and 2018.
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18.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing on Unit D

Unit D consists of several CGUs which represent the operations of different subsidiaries engaging in design and
consulting of energy projects. For impairment test purpose, management reviews each CGU’s recoverable amount
and compares with the carrying amount of the respective CGU. The aggregate carrying amounts of the CGUs of
Unit D comprise other intangible assets of HK$19,235,000 (2018: HK$21,840,000), goodwill of HK$13,901,000
(2018: HK$14,205,000) and property, plant and equipment of HK$4,434,000 (2018: HK$5,140,000). The recoverable
amount of each CGU has been determined based on the value in use calculation of each CGU using the following
assumptions for 2019 and 2018:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2018: 5 years)

Growth rate beyond 5-year period extrapolated in the financial budgets 2% (2018: 3%)
approved by the management

Discount rate 18.11% (2018: 18.11%)

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross
margin, which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not cause the individual carrying amount of each CGU within Unit D to exceed the individual recoverable
amount of each CGU within Unit D. At the end of each reporting period, the recoverable amount of each CGU
of Unit D exceeds its carrying amount and no impairment loss is considered necessary for the years ended 31st
December, 2019 and 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

Exclusive Other
rights of operating Technology
operation rights know-how Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
COST
At 1st January, 2018 1,175,162 175,109 - 1,350,271
Exchange adjustments (47,651) (7,857) (130) (55,638)
Addition 686 - - 686
Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries
(note 41) 94,871 - 21,970 116,841
Disposals - (67,828) - (67,828)
At 31st December, 2018 1,223,068 99,424 21,840 1,344,332
Exchange adjustments (42,312) 1,590 (467) (41,189)
Addition 303 - - 303
Acquired on acquisitions of subsidiaries
(note 41) 650,266 — — 650,266
At 31st December, 2019 1,831,325 101,014 21,373 1,953,712
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1st January, 2018 165,024 112,925 - 277,949
Exchange adjustments (5,763) (7,907) - (13,670)
Eliminated on disposals - (66,083) - (66,083)
Charged for the year 40,647 2,021 - 42,668
At 31st December, 2018 199,908 40,956 - 240,864
Exchange adjustments (8,772) - (30) (3,802)
Charged for the year 65,767 1,783 2,168 69,718
At 31st December, 2019 261,903 42,739 2,138 306,780
CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2019 1,669,422 58,275 19,235 1,646,932
At 31st December, 2018 1,023,160 58,468 21,840 1,103,468
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19.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The exclusive rights of operation represent sales and distribution of piped gas in certain cities in Henan, Shandong,
Fujian, Jiangsu, Heilongjiang, Hebei, Zhejiang, Jilin and Anhui provinces and are amortised on a straight-line method
over the period of a range of 7 to 34 years (2018: 7 to 30 years), which is the remaining finite useful life period being
granted for exclusive operations in the relevant cities.

Other operating rights represent the licences possessed by the Group’s subsidiaries, &R HWEBE MR BR A A, )20
FRREERARAR and =FIEFREERAR A 7] to operate eight CNG vehicle filling stations in Jiyuan City, Luohe
City and Sanmenxia City and are amortised on a straight-line method over a period of 30 years, which is the period
of the licenses being granted for operating CNG vehicle filling stations.

Technology know-how represents the technology developed for design and consulting of energy projects which
arose upon acquisition of Beijing Energy-Net De. and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31st December, 2018
as defined and detailed in note 41. Technology know-how is amortised on a straight-line method over a period of
10 years.

The Group tests intangible assets if there are indications that intangible assets might be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amounts of intangible assets have been allocated to the
respective CGUs as follows:

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

Unit A 1,162,850 650,779
Unit B 58,381 -
Unit C 348,191 372,381
Unit D 19,235 21,840
Operation of CNG vehicle filling stations 58,275 58,468
1,646,932 1,103,468

Impairment assessment of Unit A, B, C and D are set out in note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

LONG-TERM DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 349,231 273,309
Deposits paid for leasehold lands 86,150 96,334
Investment components of life insurance contracts 77,556 75,676
Prepayments of insurance premium 2,777 3,017
Loans to employees 582,970 -
Other long-term deposits 15,533 29,170
1,114,217 477,506

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment

As at 31st December, 2019, deposit of RMB169,912,000 (equivalent to HK$190,207,000) (2018: RMB139,169,000,
equivalent to HK$159,196,000) was paid to a supplier for acquisition of construction materials mainly for construction
of the Group’s pipelines.

Investment components of life insurance contracts

The Group had entered into two life insurance contracts with HSBC Life (International) Limited to insure two executive
directors of the Company.

Under the policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is the Company, and the total insured sum is approximately
US$32,000,000 (equivalent to HK$248,205,000). The Company paid US$9,272,000 (equivalent to HK$71,866,000),
including premium charge at inception of the policies amounting to US$556,347 (equivalent to HK$4,315,000). The
Company may request a partial surrender or full surrender of the policies at any time and receive cash back based
on the cash value of the policies at the date of withdrawal, which is determined based on the gross premium paid
plus accumulated income earned (based on the discretion by HSBC Life (International) Limited) and minus insurance
premium charged at inception. In addition, if withdrawal is made between the 1st to 18th policy year, there is a
specified surrender charge.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, income from investments in life insurance contracts of HK$2,771,000
(2018: HK$2,702,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

At 31st December, 2019, the expected life of the policy remained unchanged from the initial recognition and the
Directors considered that the financial impact of the option to terminate the policy was insignificant.
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20. LONG-TERM DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Loans to employees

At 31st December, 2019, included in the Group’s other receivables balances are loans to employees with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$582,970,000 (2018: nil) which are for the purpose of enabling the PRC employees to exercise
their share options granted by the Company. The loans are secured by the shares held by the employees, interest
bearing at 4% per annum and repayable within three years.

21. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
All the Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise property interests in leasehold land in the PRC.
At 31st December, 2018, the Group is in process of obtaining land use right certificates from relevant government

authorities for its land in the PRC amounting to HK$36,585,000. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is not
required to incur additional cost in obtaining the land use right certificates for its land in the PRC.

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Cost of unlisted investments in associates 319,655 319,655
Share of post-acquisition results 128,466 83,414
Exchange adjustments (21,289) (12,289)
426,832 390,780
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associates as at 31st December, 2018 and 2019 are as follows:

Place of Form of business Proportion of nominal value of Principal
Name of company establishment structure registered capital held by the Group activities
2019 2018

Beiing Zhongran Xiangke Oil and ~ PRC Sino-foreign joint 40% 40%  Sales of natural gas
Gas Technology Co., Ltd. venture and gas pipeline
("Zhongran Xiangke") construction

Yunnan Yuntou Zhongyu Energy  PRC Limited liability 39% 39%  Sales of natural gas
Co., Ltd. ("Yunnan Yuntou') company and gas pipeline
(formerly known as Quijing City construction
Fuel Gas Co., Ltd.)

Energy-Net De. (Chongaing) New — PRC Limited liability 20% 20%  Design and
Energy Co., Ltd. (‘Energy-Net company (note) consulting of
De. (Chongaing)”) energy projects

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group obtained significant influence of Energy-Net De. (Chongqing)
through acquisition of 70% of the registered capital of Beijing Energy-Net De. and its subsidiaries as detailed in note 41.

Summarised financial information of major associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s major associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the associates’ management accounts which are prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. All of these associates are accounted for using the equity method in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Zhongran Xiangke

Zhongran Xiangke and its subsidiaries (collectively “Zhongran Xiangke Group”)

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Current assets 950,608 795,260
Non-current assets 1,007,807 854,632
Current liabilities (947,059) (742,544)
Net assets 1,011,356 907,348
Equity attributable to owners of Zhongran Xiangke Group 770,000 679,958
Non-controlling interests 241,356 227,390
1,011,356 907,348
Revenue 1,108,187 1,085,792
Profit for the year 106,103 106,981
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Owners of Zhongran Xiangke Group 90,042 76,916
Non-controlling interests 13,966 72,021
104,008 148,937
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Zhongran Xiangke (Continued)

Zhongran Xiangke and its subsidiaries (collectively “Zhongran Xiangke Group”) (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Zhongran

Xiangke Group recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
Equity attributable to owners of Zhongran Xiangke Group 770,000 679,958
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in Zhongran
Xiangke Group at 40% 308,000 271,983
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Zhongran
Xiangke Group 308,000 271,983
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Yunnan Yuntou

Yunnan Yuntou and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Yuntou Group”)

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Current assets 304,350 304,308
Non-current assets 901,277 868,249
Current liabilities (740,397) (261,986)
Non-current liabilities (164,833) (677,851)
Net assets 300,397 332,720
Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan Yuntou Group 298,955 298,743
Non-controlling interests 1,442 33,977
300,397 332,720
Revenue 841,267 701,279
Profit (loss) for the year 6,695 (3,603)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year attributable to:
Owners of Yunnan Yuntou Group 212 (17,328)
Non-controlling interests (32,535) 15,047
(32,323) (2,281)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of major associates (Continued)
Yunnan Yuntou (Continued)

Yunnan Yuntou and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Yuntou Group”) (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Yuntou
Group recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan Yuntou Group 298,955 208,743
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Yunnan
Yuntou Group at 39% 116,592 116,510
Carrying amount of the Group'’s interest in Yunnan
Yuntou Group 116,592 116,510
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23. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Cost of unlisted investment in a joint venture (note) 10,272 10,272
Share of post-acquisition results (653) (536)
Exchange adjustments (166) 41
9,453 9,777
Details of the Group’s joint venture as at 31st December, 2018 and 2019 are as follows:
Proportion of
nominal value of
Name of Place of Form of registered capital
Company establishment business structure held by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
B EFEERE PRC Limited liability company 50% 50% Not yet commenced
ZHRBRAT] business

As all the relevant activities of the above entity require unanimous consent from all joint venture parties, it is

accounted for as a joint venture by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Unlisted equity investments (note) 76,178 20,590
Other investments 2,720 2,720
78,898 23,310

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group newly invested in a PRC entity with carrying amount of
RMB4,050,000 (equivalent to HK$4,534,000) and further invested in two PRC entities with aggregate carrying amount
of RMB46,000,000 (equivalent to HK$51,495,000). As at 31st December, 2019, the Directors considers the carrying
amounts are approximate their fair value as bank balances and cash are the major assets of these PRC entities.

Note: The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s equity interests in certain private entities established in the

PRC. The Directors have elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that

these investments are not hold for trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

INVENTORIES
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
Construction materials 337,924 319,323
Finished goods 135,733 6,798
473,657 326,121
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27.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

2019
HK$’000

COST
At the beginning of the year -
Transfer from right-of-use assets 85,430
Additions 27,052
Exchange adjustments (1,611)
At the end of the year 110,871

Properties under development for sales of which:
— expected to be realised within 12 months 110,871
— expected to be realised over 12 months -

110,871

Effective from 1st January, 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into
account the estimated residual values as at 31st December, 2019.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group transferred leasehold land included in right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of HK$85,430,000 to properties under development for sale due to change of intention from
own use to property development.

The properties under development for sale of the Group are situated in the PRC.

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days (2018: 30 days) to its trade customers. The following is an
aged analysis of trade receivables from contracts with customers net of allowance for credit losses presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue recognition dates
for sales of gas and the respective construction contracts completion dates, as appropriate:

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

0 - 30 days 724,759 782,221
31 — 90 days 45,579 130,453
91 — 180 days 73,442 237,993
181 — 360 days 318,699 518,788
Over 360 days 169,109 -
Trade receivables 1,331,588 1,669,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

As at 31st December, 2019, total bills received amounting to HK$173,569,000 (2018: HK$61,269,000) are held by
the Group for future settlement of trade receivables. All bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of
less than one year.

The amounts due from certain PRC local governments for the “Coal-to-gas” projects under the “gas pipeline
construction” segment is included in the carrying amount of trade receivables.

As at 31st December, 2019, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$579,768,000 (2018: HK$876,440,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, HK$547,013,000 (2018: HK$747,828,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default as these are represented by the debtors without bad debt history or the PRC local governments with
low credit risks. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31st December, 2019, deposits, prepayments and other receivables are advances to suppliers of natural
gas and construction materials for customers’ gas pipeline construction amounting to HK$468,556,000 (2018:
HK$344,953,000).

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables are set out in note 48.

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following is the Group’s bills as at 31st December, 2019 (2018: nil) that are transferred to banks by discounting
bills on a full recourse basis. If the bills are not paid on maturity, the banks have the rights to request the Group
to pay the unsettled balances. As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to the
bills, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the bills and has recognised the cash received on the
transfer as a secured borrowing (see note 34). The bills are carried at amortised cost in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

2019

HK$’000

Carrying amount of transferred assets 118,457
Carrying amount of associated liabilities (118,457)
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29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE AND A RELATED PARTY

As at 31st December, 2019, amount due from an associate of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$55,972,000) (2018:
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$57,195,000)) is unsecured, interest bearing at 7% per annum (2018: interest

bearing at 5.5% per annum) and repayable within one year (2018: two years).

As at 31st December, 2019, amount due from a related party represented amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group of RMB7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$8,396,000) (2018: RMB7,500,000
(equivalent to HK$8,579,000)) which is secured by its equity interest of that subsidiary, interest bearing at 7.8%

per annum and repayable within one year.

30. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Contract assets - current

Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction 509,321 185,698

Contract liabilities - current
Construction contracts in gas pipeline construction 557,352 411,334
Purchase of natural gas 540,010 473,239
1,097,362 884,573

At as 1st January, 2018, contract assets and contract liabilities amounting to HK$56,821,000 and HK$705,534,000,

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets and contract liabilities recognised are as
follows:

Construction contracts in respect of gas pipeline construction

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving specified milestones at the reporting date on contract
work. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

The Group’s revenue from construction contracts is measured by input method. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the construction work as part of its credit risk
management policies.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Purchase of natural gas

The Group would require advance payment before the usage of the natural gas for certain customers, any shortage
against the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural gas will be billed by the Group accordingly.
These customers are required to top up the advance payment for future usage of natural gas to be supplied by
the Group. The Group requires advance payment before the usage of the natural gas through the prepaid card for
certain household users. The charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly to the balance of
the prepaid card. These customers can only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid card. This
will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
advance payment.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

2019 2018
Construction Purchase of Construction Purchase of
contracts natural gas contracts natural gas
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue recognised that was included
in the contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year 411,334 473,239 368,413 337,121

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note 48.
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31.

32.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged from 0.01% to 0.35% (2018: 0.01% to 0.35%) per
annum as at 31st December, 2019. At 31st December, 2019, the bank balances and cash of HK$1,350,841,000
(2018: HK$1,248,549,000) are denominated in RMB.

As at 31st December, 2019, the bank balances and cash consisted of HK$296,742,000 and HK$255,730,000 (2018:
HK$223,146,000 and HK$123,462,000) are denominated in United States Dollars (“US$”) and HK$ respectively,
which are foreign currencies of the respective group entities.

As at 31st December, 2018, pledged bank deposits of RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,720,000) were used to
secure the short-term general banking facilities granted to the Group, accordingly, the deposits were classified as
current assets.

DEFERRED INCOME AND ADVANCE RECEIVED, TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

0 — 30 days 592,132 640,840
31 — 90 days 228,734 186,997
91 - 180 days 120,080 110,122
Over 180 days 278,780 268,357
Trade payables 1,219,726 1,206,316

As at 31st December, 2018, the trade payables balance included trade debts due to related companies, subsidiaries
of the shareholder of the Company, of HK$14,136,000.

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2018: 90 days). The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

As at 31st December, 2019, deferred income and advance received classified as non-current liabilities are government
grants of HK$6,874,000 (2018: HK$15,616,000) received by the Group, and will be released to profit or loss
when the related costs (for which the grants are intended to compensate) are recognised in profit or loss. Due to
redevelopment of Jiaozuo City, Jiaozuo government subsidised the Group for enhancement and relocation of certain
pipelines in Jiaozuo City.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DEFERRED INCOME AND ADVANCE RECEIVED, TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES (Continued)

As at 31st December, 2019, included in other payables and accrued charges are (i) refundable security deposits
received from customers in relation to gas supply of HK$46,993,000 (2018: HK$46,668,000); (ii) accrued expenses
of HK$39,798,000 (2018: HK$30,204,000); (iii) unsettled consideration for the acquisition of assets and liabilities
through acquisition of subsidiaries of RMB454,000, equivalent to HK$508,000 (2018: RMB1,738,000, equivalent to
HK$1,988,000); and (iv) unsettled consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries of RMB14,650,000, equivalent to
HK$16,400,000 (2018: RMB34,744,000, equivalent to HK$39,744,000).

AMOUNTS DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE AND RELATED PARTIES
As at 31st December, 2019, the amounts due to an associate amounting to RMB894,000 (equivalent to HK$1,001,000)
(2018: RMB894,000, equivalent to HK$1,023,000) is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to related parties represented dividend payables to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries as
at 31st December, 2018.

BORROWINGS
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Secured bank borrowings 830,804 521,620
Unsecured bank borrowings 10,158,246 7,676,765
Unsecured other borrowings 32,160 31,834
11,021,210 8,230,219
Carrying amounts of the above borrowings are repayable*:
Within one year 3,534,592 3,692,178
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 6,136,063 1,692,747
More than two years but not exceeding five years 557,723 2,126,867
More than five years 19,187 10,753
10,247,565 7,422,645
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings that contain a repayment on demand
clause (shown under current liabllities) but repayable:
Within one year 415,595 127,770
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 358,050 321,854
More than two years but not exceeding five years - 358,060
773,645 807,674
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (4,308,237) (4,499,852)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 6,712,973 3,730,367
* the amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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34.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings
are as follows:

2019 2018

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings 4.00% - 5.10% 4.75% — 5.90%
Variable-rate borrowings 3.35% - 5.70% 2.66% — 6.67%

The Group’s certain variable-rate borrowings bear interest at a range of 100% to 137% (2018: 100% to 133%) of
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) Prescribed Interest Rate per annum. Interest of London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) plus a premium ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% (2018: 1.5% to 2.5%) per annum and interest of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus a premium of 1.35% to 2.1% (2018: 1.25% to 2.1%) per annum is charged
on remaining outstanding variable-rate loan balances.

As at 31st December, 2019, the bank borrowing balances consisted of HK$2,182,081,000 (2018: HK$2,955,476,000)
and HK$6,747,937,000 (2018: HK$2,543,983,000) are denominated in US$ and HK$ respectively, which are foreign
currencies of the respective group entities.

During the year, the Group discounted bills receivable with recourse in aggregated amount of HK$118,457,000
(2018: nil) to banks for short-term financing. At 31st December, 2019, the associated borrowings amounted to
HK$118,457,000 (2018: nil). The relevant cash flows of these borrowings are presented as operating cash flows in
the consolidated statement of cash flows as management of the Group considers the cash flows are, in substance,
the receipts from trade customers.
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35. LEASE LIABILITIES

2019
HK$°000

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year 68,744
Within a period of more than one year but not more than two years 4,737
Within a period of more than two year but not more than five years 4,580
Within a period of more than five year 3,361
81,422
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months shown under current liabilities (68,744)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under non-current liabilities 12,678

Lease obligations that are denominated in currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are set out below:

HK$'000
As at 31st December, 2019 523
36. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

2018
HK$'000

Analysed for reporting purpose as:
Current liabilities 185,717
Non-current liabilities 61,537
247,254
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36. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (Continued)

Present value

Minimum lease of minimum
payments lease payments
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
Amount payable under finance leases:

Within one year 192,902 185,717
In more than one year but not more than two years 62,823 61,537
In more than two years but not more than five years - -
255,725 247,254
Less: Future finance charges (8,471) N/A
Present value of lease obligations 247,254 247,254

Less: Amount due for settliement within one year (shown under current
liabilities) (185,717)
Amount due for settlement after one year 61,537

The Group leased certain of its pipelines under finance leases. The lease term was ranged from three to five years.
Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases were ranged from 4.28% to 4.99% per annum. No

arrangement was entered into for contingent rental payments.

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group’s obligations under finance leases were secured by the Group’s pipelines
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB733,203,000 (equivalent to HK$838,713,000) and 50% of the equity

interests of a subsidiary of the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Amount
Notes 2019 2018 2019 2018
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Authorised:

Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:
At the beginning of the year 2,537,212 2,625,008 25,372 25,250
Issue of shares (i) - 14,646 - 146
Repurchase of shares (i) - (2,442) - (24)
Exercise of share options (iii) 107,621 - 1,076 -
At the end of the year 2,644,833 2,637,212 26,448 25,372

Notes:

(i) As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4th July, 2018, the Company proposed to distribute final dividend
of HK$0.05 per share for the year ended 31st December, 2017 to the holders of ordinary shares of the Company by way
of allotment and issue of new shares to be credited as fully paid (the “Scrip Shares”) or given an option to shareholders to
receive the final dividend wholly in cash in lieu of Scrip Shares, or partly in cash and partly in the form of Scrip Shares (the
“Scrip Dividend Scheme”). During the year ended 31st December, 2018, 14,645,873 Scrip Shares were issued at HK$6.36
per share as a result of Scrip Dividend Scheme. Total payment for Scrip Shares was HK$93,147,000.

(i) During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as
follows:

Number of
ordinary
shares of Aggregate
HK$0.01 each Repurchased price per share consideration
Month of repurchase repurchased Highest Lowest paid
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
Year ended 31st December, 2018
October 2018 900,000 5.35 519 4,746
November 2018 200,000 5.40 5.38 1,080
December 2018 1,342,000 5.55 514 7,166
2,442,000
The repurchased shares were cancelled upon repurchase and the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by
the nominal value of the repurchased shares. The premium payable on repurchase of the shares of HK$13,014,000 was
charged to the share premium account.
(iii) During the year ended 31st December, 2019, 107,620,600 new shares were issued as a result of exercise of share options

in respect of the share options granted on 11th April, 2011 and 5th January, 2018. Details are disclosed in note 39.
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38. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior years.

Revaluation

1562

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED

of investment Other  Undistributed Accelerated
properties intangible profits of tax
and pipelines assets subsidiaries depreciation Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1st January, 2018 317,928 140,012 1,425 - 459,365
Exchange adjustments (15,414) (3,757) 62) (4,020) (23,253)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries
(note 41) - 27,014 - - 27,014
(Credit) charge to profit or
loss (note 10) (10,493) (5,382) - 117,956 102,081
Charge to property
revaluation reserve 96,188 - - - 96,188
At 31st December, 2018 388,209 157,887 1,363 113,936 661,395
Exchange adjustments (8,104) (7,829) (29) (6,089) (22,051)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries
(note 41) - 162,567 - 284 162,851
(Credit) charge to profit or
loss (note 10) (13,736) (12,1564) - 129,891 104,001
Transfer from investment
property to property,
plant and equipment (2,355) - - 2,355 -
Charge to property
revaluation reserve 23,025 — — - 23,025
At 31st December, 2019 387,039 300,471 1,334 240,377 929,221

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits amounting to HK$2,380,197,000
(2018: HK$2,099,876,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries in relation to owners of the Company. The Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At 31st December, 2019, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of HK$564,195,000 (2018: HK$447,171,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the unrecognised
estimated tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit stream. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of PRC subsidiaries of HK$208,007,000 (2018: HK$134,755,000) that will expire in various dates up to 2024 (2018:
2023), other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Share option schemes

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 24th October, 2003, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to which the Directors were authorised to grant share option to its employees
(including executive directors and employees of any of its subsidiaries) or any person who has contributed or
will contribute to the Group. The Old Share Option Scheme was terminated and replaced by a new share option
scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) on 3rd May, 2013 by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 3rd May, 2013.

Outstanding options under the Old Share Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the Old Share Option after its termination.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Directors may offer share options to any directors and employees of the
Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint
venture business partners, promoters, service providers of any member of the Group who the board of directors
of the Company considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group, to subscribe for
shares in the Company in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in nominal
amount of the aggregate of shares in issue on the adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior shareholders’ approval but in
any event, the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme under the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of the Shareholders’ approval of the renewed limit. Options previously granted under the New Share Option
Scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the terms or exercised options) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as renewed.

Further, no options will be granted which would result in the maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme, the existing options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme, in aggregate, 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

On 5th January, 2018, the Company has granted 126,000,000 share options to certain eligible participants (the
“Grantees”), which are directors and employees of the Group subject to acceptance by such Grantees, under the
New Share Option Scheme to subscribe for a total of 126,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
at exercise price of HK$5.5 per share expiring on 4th January, 2028. The details of the grant of options are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 5th January, 2018.
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Share option schemes (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options granted under the Old Share Option
Scheme and New Share Option Scheme and movements in such holdings:

Number of share options
Exercise At Granted  Exercised Adjustment  Forfeited At3fst  Exercised At 31st
Category price 1st January, during during during during  Decermber, during  December,
of grantee per share  Date of grant Exercisable period 2018 theyear  theyear  theyear  the year 2018 the year 2019
HeS
[note g [note g [note b)
Directors 04872 11t Aorl, 2011 11t Aprl, 2011 fo 2,000,000 - - 11,600 - 2011600 (1005800 1,005,800
10th Ao, 2021
(note ¢)
54680 Sih January, 2018 5ih January, 2018 o - 12,500,000 - 72,500 - 12572500 - 12572500
din January, 2028
2,000,000 12,600,000 - 84,100 - 14584100 (1005800 13578,300
Employess 54680 Sih January, 2018 5h January, 2018 o - 3,000,000 - 17400 - 3017400 - 3017400
dih January, 2028
54680 o January, 2018 17t December, 2019 o - 110500000 - B40900  (3017400) 108123500 (106614800 1,508,700
dih January, 2028
note ¢
- 113500000 - 08300 30174000 111,140,900 (1066148000 4,626,100
2,000,000 126,000,000 - TRA0 30174000 125725000 (107,620,600 18,104,400
Bxercisable at the end of the year 2,000,000 17,601,500 18,104,400
eighted average exercise price HK5049 HK$5.5 - HK539 HKSAE8  HKSRBB  HKDA2T  HKEG191
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

Notes:

(@

(b)

(©

As disclosed in the announcement dated 1st August, 2018, as a result of the issue and allotment of new shares by the
Company to shareholders who elected to receive the final dividend for the year ended 31st December, 2017 in scrip form,
the numbers of outstanding share options and exercise price per share in respect of the share options granted on 11th
April, 2011 had been adjusted from 2,000,000 to 2,011,600 and from HK$0.49 to HK$0.4872 respectively. In respect of
the share options granted on 5th January, 2018, the number of outstanding share options and exercise price per share had
been adjusted from 126,000,000 to 126,730,800 and from HK$5.5 to HK$5.4680 respectively.

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, 3,017,400 options were forfeited with aggregate fair value of HK$2,445,000
in share option reserve had been transferred to accumulated profits.

On 17th December, 2019, the shareholders approved the amendment of the vesting period of 108,123,500 options granted
by the Company on 5th January, 2018 to certain employees of the Group. As a result, these options have become vested
and exercisable from 17th December, 2019 until 4th January, 2028.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price at the dates of exercise
was HK$6.66.

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, share options were granted on 5th January, 2018. The estimated fair
values of the share options granted are HK$102,649,000. The Group recognised share-based payments expense
of HK$43,802,000 (2018: HK$58,847,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The options granted during the year ended 31st December, 2018 were granted to a number of directors and
employees of the Group categorised as Batch 1, 2 and 3 as below, which were measured using Trinomial Option
Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were summarised as follows:

Batch Batch 1 Batch 2 Batch 3
No. of exercisable options 14,000,000 1,600,000 110,500,000
Expected volatility (*) 33.94% 35.33% 33.94%
Risk-free interest rate (**) 1.36% 1.44% 1.36%
Expected annual dividend vyield (***) Nil Nil Nil
Average fair value per option (HK$) 0.7943 0.9862 0.8149

*

%

*hk

Expected volatility was determined by using the daily volatility of the Company’s shares in similar duration as of the date
of valuation.

Risk free rates were based on Hong Kong Government Bond Yield Curve as of the date of valuation.

Dividend yield was based on historical dividend trend and expected future dividend policy determined by the Company.
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40.

41.

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, 14 (i) §ERIEMRAMR AT has acquired additional 20% equity
interest in ;B 8RR E4E /AR 2 7] and prepaid lease payments owned by the non-controlling shareholder at a total
cash consideration of RMB5,250,000 (equivalent to HK$5,757,000), of which HK$4,682,000 was debited to prepaid
lease payments during the year ended 31st December, 2018.

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS
Year ended 31st December, 2019
Acquisition of a subsidiary - FTAR

On 22nd January, 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of ¥7)a Z4tREAARRBRA A
(“¥7TA4%JR”) for a consideration of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$11,658,000) from independent third parties,
on that date, control in ¥7W4kJR was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the
purchase method. ¥7/A4%)& is principally engaged in the sales of gas. ¥7/74%)JR was acquired so as to continue the
expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000

Cash 11,658

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2019



41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - FU#2IR (Continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities of #T)A/4%)JR recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

HK$'000

Property, plant and equipment 21,821
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 7,934
Right-of-use assets 915
Inventories 1,682
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 10,108
Bank balances and cash 366
Other payables and accrued charges (32,181)
Deferred taxation (1,983)
8,662

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the other receivables acquired amounted to HK$209,000
at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 11,658
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (8,562)
3,096

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of #T)A4%)R because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of ¥TA#4%JR. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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41.

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - FU#2IR (Continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of ¥7/A#4kJR during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration 11,658

Less: bank balances and cash acquired (366)
Less: unsettled consideration (included in other payables and accrued charges

as at 31st December, 2019) (RMB2,800,000) (3,134)

8,158

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is profit of HK$4,664,000 attributable to ¥TA4%R.
Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$34,667,000 generated from 1A £EJ&.

Had the acquisition of #)A 4% been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$8,189,993,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$489,868,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.

Acquisition of a subsidiary — g 5 ##

On 22nd January, 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of J2ZFWIRBER A A
(formerly known as JRS%SERXAREREEALR) (YRFF#”) for a consideration of RMB204,321,000 (equivalent
to HK$239,084,000) from independent third parties, on that date, control in J2 87 # was passed to the Group. This
acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. )25 # is principally engaged in the sales of gas
and gas pipeline construction. ;2% # was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000

Cash 239,084
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary — & ## (Continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities of )87 # recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 112,837
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 173,891
Trade receivables 3,926
Inventories 11,511
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 5,708
Bank balances and cash 5,389
Trade payables (14,467)
Other payables and accrued charges (62,796)
Deferred taxation (43,473)

192,626

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$4,241,000 at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 239,084
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (192,626)
46,558

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of 25 H #4 because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of 2% H #4. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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41. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary — & ## (Continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of R+ #4 during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000
Total cash consideration 239,084
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (5,389)
233,695

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is profit of HK$42,796,000 attributable to JE &+ #4.

Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$151,396,000 generated from &5 F #4.

Had the acquisition of ;289 # been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$8,308,931,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$530,336,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it intended to

be a projection of future results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary - ZM&E

On 22nd January, 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of F /I P # AR AR A (formerly
known as ZMTEEXAFZERETAA) (“HIMEIR") for a consideration of RMB257,831,000 (equivalent to
HK$301,697,000) from independent third parties, on that date, control in Z /Il i& was passed to the Group. This
acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. /N &# is principally engaged in the sales of gas

and gas pipeline construction. % /JI&i& was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000
Cash 301,697
Assets acquired and liabilities of /I3 recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 111,082
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 244,725
Trade receivables 2,248
Inventories 5,507
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 14,193
Bank balances and cash 6,375
Trade payables (50,659)
Other payables and accrued charges (36,608)
Deferred taxation (61,181)

235,682

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$7,793,000 at the date of acquisition.
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - Z/M&#& (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 301,697
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (235,682)
66,015

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of F/II5& because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of /N i&. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of /& & during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000
Total cash consideration 301,697
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (6,375)
295,322

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is profit of HK$61,112,000 attributable to #H /I & &,
Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$198,007,000 generated from /&R,

Had the acquisition of F /! /=% been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$8,359,779,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$550,317,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - & H& Al

On 29th March, 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of THZEIMMRBER AT (“EH
B%F0”) for a consideration of RMB42,500,000 (equivalent to HK$49,545,000) from independent third parties, on that
date, control in EHEF was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase
method. £ HEF is principally engaged in the sales of gas and gas pipeline construction. & HZ 1 was acquired
so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000
Cash 49,645
Assets acquired and liabilities of & H2H recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:
HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 5,912
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 42,754
Trade receivables 1,233
Inventories 98
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 676
Bank balances and cash 2,213
Trade payables (1,622)
Tax payables (1,067)
Other payables and accrued charges (3,359)
Deferred taxation (10,688)
36,150

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$1,413,000 at the date of acquisition.
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41. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary - & HZ#] (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 49,5645
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (36,150)
13,395

Gooduwill arose in the acquisition of & % f because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of EHH1. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill

because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of A during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration 49,645

Less: bank balances and cash acquired (2,213)
Less: unsettled consideration (included in other payables and accrued charges as at

31st December, 2019) (RMB11,850,000) (13,266)

34,066

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is profit of HK$86,300,000 attributable to & FH &% .

Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$166,291,000 generated from =& 2% #1.

Had the acquisition of EHZF1 been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$8,365,493,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$598,715,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it intended to

be a projection of future results.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - BTE L

On 30th April, 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of B /TEZ L BEREMEH BR A A
(“B&JT1E %) for a consideration of RMB3 (equivalent to HK$3) from independent third parties, on that date, control
in FRJTEZ was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. f&)T1E
% is principally engaged in the sales and delivery of gas. f&)T1E% was acquired so as to continue the expansion
of the Group’s operations.

Assets acquired and liabilities of F&)T1E % recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

HK$'000

Other receivables 58
Bank balances and cash 26
Other payables and accrued charges (816)
(732)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the other receivables acquired amounted to HK$58,000
at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred _x
Add: Fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired 732
732

* Less than HK$1,000
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary - B JT1E % (Continued)

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of f&)T1E % because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of E&)T1E%. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of 2718 % during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration —
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (26)
(26)

* Less than HK$1,000

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is loss of HK$499,000 attributable to &)T1E%.
Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$1,000 generated from ER)T1EZ.

Had the acquisition of F&)T1E % been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$8,143,773,000 and profit for the year would have been HK482,900,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acaquisition of a subsidiary - & =154

On 20th May 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of FEMERAARER AR (‘=B
#R”) for a consideration of RMB27,175,000 (equivalent to HK$30,888,000) from independent third parties, on that
date, control in = 1EF, was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase
method. F§ = 1EH is principally engaged in the sales of gas. F =8/ was acquired so as to continue the expansion
of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000
Cash 30,888
Assets acquired and liabilities of F§= 1844 recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:
HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 32,805
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 4,889
Inventories 170
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1,489
Bank balances and cash 10
Trade payables (229)
Other payables and accrued charges (10,140)
Deferred taxation (1,222)
27,772

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the other receivables acquired amounted to HK$903,000
at the date of acquisition.
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary - B =184 (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 30,888
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (27,772)
3,116

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of B =18/ because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of FI={E#,. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of B =8/ during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration 30,888
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (10)
30,878

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is loss of HK$1,106,000 attributable to @ = E#X. No
revenue was generated from =B for the year ended 31st December, 2019.

Had the acquisition of # S B4 been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$8,143,771,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$480,332,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of a subsidiary — 5 F#EER

On 12th September, 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of #£/% F #4828 B FR A 7] (formerly
known as EGHLRRAATBRETAR) (VEEFHEEIR”) for a consideration of RMB36,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$39,911,000) from independent third parties, on that date, control in 5 #45JR was passed to the Group.
This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. 5 #8L)R is principally engaged in the
sales of gas and gas pipeline construction. 5 #EJR was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the

Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000
Cash 39,911
Assets acquired and liabilities of #F5H #88EJR recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:
HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 16,948
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 36,559
Inventories 2,650
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 7,169
Bank balances and cash 43,514
Trade payables (12,806)
Other payables and accrued charges (51,009)
Deferred taxation (9,140)
Borrowings (3,326)
30,459

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the other receivables acquired amounted to HK$4,106,000
at the date of acquisition.
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary - B ##8E)R (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 39,911
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (80,459)
9,452

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of 5+ # 6E 7 because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of 5 #48E)R. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of #5482 during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration 39,911
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (43,514)
(3,6083)

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is profit of HK$9,055,000 attributable to 5+ #4
8EJR. Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$42,649,000 generated from 5 ¥ EER.

Had the acquisition of #[5H #4857 been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would
have been HK$8,314,366,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$519,870,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - Wz 2 & and its subsidiary

On 12th September, 2019, the Group acquired 89.5% and 10% of the registered share capital of Ei}N %52 R5T
BERAR AR (“BBMEEZR") and EEHRRRAER AR (formerly known as EEGZ A BERRERAR) (VERFFHB”)
respectively for a consideration of RMB114,950,000 (equivalent to HK$127,439,000) from independent third parties.
Prior to acquisition, #1525 held 66.67% of the equity interest of #E5F #4. Upon completion of the acquisition,
the Group held 89.5% of the equity interest of #/l{z 7 iR and 76.67% of the equity interest of JEFZH 44 directly and
indirectly through #8/lz 2 . Due to &) %2 & was a special purpose vehicle, such acquisition was considered
as if the Group directly acquired effective interest of 69.67% of J£[5H #4. On that date, the control in B8/l = 2 5%
and #B5F# were passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method.
[ is principally engaged in the sales of gas and gas pipeline construction. #[5# 4 was acquired so as to
continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000

Cash 127,439

Assets acquired and liabilities of &5/1/7Z5 2 & and its subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 58,643
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 139,614
Inventories 1,148
Trade receivables 6,247
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 17,627
Bank balances and cash 1,613
Trade payables (7,318)
Other payables and accrued charges (834,295)
Deferred taxation (35,164)

147,815

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$6,488,000 at the date of acquisition.
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2019 (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries - B/ 7 2 & and its subsidiary (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 127,439
Add: Non-controlling interests (10.5% in B8Nz 2 & and 23.33% in S #) (Note) 44,832
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (147,815)
24,456

Note:  The non-controlling interests in £0/l|z.2 R and #[5H# recognised at the date when the Group obtained control over
BNz 2 R and 5+ # was measured at their proportionate share of net assets acquired.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of 5 #4 because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of J#F5#8. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Z)l|%% 2 £ and its subsidiary during the year ended 31st December, 2019:

HK$'000
Total cash consideration 127,439
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (1,513)
125,926

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is profit of HK$5,305,000 attributable to /1 #2 &
and its subsidiary. Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2019 includes HK$96,706,000 generated from §
M2 % and its subsidiary.

Had the acquisition of B}/ 2 5 been completed on 1st January, 2019, total group revenue for the year would
have been HK$8,530,597,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$504,962,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2019, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2018
Acquisition of a subsidiary — Tongshan

On 26th July, 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of fHILZEEZEMRRER AR
(“Tongshan”) for a consideration of RMB21,583,000 (equivalent to HK$24,948,000) from independent third parties,
on that date, control in Tongshan was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the
purchase method. Tongshan is principally engaged in the sales of piped gas and gas pipeline construction. Tongshan
was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000
Cash 24,948
Assets acquired and liabilities of Tongshan recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:
HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 22,069
Other intangible assets — exclusive right of operation in sales of piped gas 94,871
Trade receivables 5,442
Inventories 5,116
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 7,573
Bank balances and cash 2,122
Trade payables (12,5688)
Other payables and accrued charges (83,415)
Contract liabilities (18,972)
Deferred taxation (23,718)
(910)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables and other receivables acquired
amounted to HK$9,864,000 at the date of acquisition.
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary — Tongshan (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 24,948
Add: Fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired 910
25,858

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Tongshan because the consideration paid for the acquisition included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce arising from the acquisition of Tongshan. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Tongshan during the year ended 31st December, 2018:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration 24,948
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (2,722)
22,226

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2018 is profit of HK$14,763,000 attributable to Tongshan.
Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2018 includes HK$38,168,000 generated from Tongshan.

Had the acquisition of Tongshan been completed on 1st January, 2018, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$7,645,473,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$677,541,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2018, nor is it intended to
be a projection of future results.
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ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries — Beijing Energy-Net De. and its subsidiaries

On 30th July, 2018, the Group acquired 70% of the registered share capital of Beijing Energy-Net De. for consideration
of RMB2,340,000 (equivalent to HK$2,692,000) from independent third parties, on that date control in Beijing
Energy-Net De. was passed to the Group. This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method.
Beijing Energy-Net De. is principally engaged in design and consulting of energy projects. Beijing Energy-Net De.
was acquired so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s operations.

Consideration transferred:

HK$'000

Cash 2,692

Assets acquired and liabilities of Beijing Energy-Net De. and its subsidiaries recognised at the date of acquisition
are as follows:

HK$'000
Property, plant and equipment 3,998
Other intangible assets — technology know-how 21,970
Interest in an associate 2,301
Trade receivables 1,797
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 5,817
Bank balances and cash 92
Trade payables (128)
Other payables and accrued charges (10,654)
Deferred taxation (3,296)
Borrowings (38,465)

(16,568)
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41.

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)

Year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries — Beijing Energy-Net De. and its subsidiaries (Continued)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables and other receivables acquired

amounted to HK$2,901,000 at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$'000

Consideration transferred 2,692
Add: Non-controlling interests (30% in Beijing Energy-Net De.) (Note) (4,970)
Add: Fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired 16,568
14,290

Note: The non-controlling interests in Beijing Energy-Net De. recognised at the date when the Group obtained control over Beijing
Energy-Net De. was measured by reference to the fair value of 30% equity interest in Beijing Energy-Net De..

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Beijing Energy-Net De. because the consideration paid for the acquisition
included amounts in relation to the benefits of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce arising from the acquisition of Beijing Energy-Net De.. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Beijing Energy-Net De. during the year ended 31st December, 2018:

HK$'000

Total cash consideration 2,692
Less: bank balances and cash acquired (92)
2,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)
Year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries — Beijing Energy-Net De. and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Included in the profit for the year ended 31st December, 2018 is loss of HK$4,556,000 attributable to Beijing
Energy-Net De.. Revenue for the year ended 31st December, 2018 includes HK$3,212,000 generated from Beijing
Energy-Net De..

Had the acquisition of Beijing Energy-Net De. been completed on 1st January, 2018, total group revenue for the
year would have been HK$7,636,185,000 and profit for the year would have been HK$707,552,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2018,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Acquisition of Energy-Net De. (Shenqiu)

On 18th May, 2018, the Group acquired 80% of the registered share capital of B (/L L)DHNaERERA A
(“Energy-Net De. (Shengiu)”) for a consideration of RMB1,408,000 (equivalent to HK$1,722,000) from independent
third parties. The principal assets of Energy-Net De. (Shengqiu) are prepaid lease payments. Energy-Net De. (Shenqiu)
has not commenced business at the date of acquisition.

HK$'000
Net assets acquired

Prepaid lease payments 2 434
Bank balances and cash 2
Other payables (283)
2,163
Non-controlling interest (431)
1,722

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
Cash consideration paid 1,722
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired 2)
1,720
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ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Acquisition of Energy-Net De. (Shenqiu) (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the above acquisition did not constitute a business combination in accordance
with HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” as Energy-Net De. (Shengiu) has not commenced business at the date of
acquisition and requires additional resources to enable it to start the business. The acquisition has been accounted
for as acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of a subsidiary.

Acquisition of Zhengzhou Paicheng

On 31st December, 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the registered share capital of EJ&HFTEERER BR A A
(“Zhengzhou Paicheng”) for a consideration of RMB1,638,000 (equivalent to HK$1,874,000) from independent third
parties. The principal assets of Zhengzhou Paicheng are land and buildings and equipment. Zhengzhou Paicheng
has not commenced business at the date of acquisition.

HK$'000
Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 8,961
Prepayments and other receivables 3,268
Bank balances and cash 2
Other payables (10,357)
1,874

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
Cash consideration paid 1,874
Less: bank balances and cash acquired 2)

Unsettled consideration (included in other payables and accrued charges as at

31st December, 2018) (1,302)
570

In the opinion of the Directors, the above acquisition did not constitute a business combination in accordance with
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” as Zhengzhou Paicheng has not commenced business at the date of acquisition
and requires additional resources to enable it to start the business. The acquisition has been accounted for as
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of a subsidiary.
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OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2018

HK$'000

Within one year 9,911
In the second to fifth year inclusive 12,928
Over five years 5,119
27,958

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group in respect of leasehold land and buildings and
equipment. Leases for rented premises and equipment are negotiated for a period of one to twenty-five years with
fixed rental.

The Group as lessor

Fixed lease payments receivables on leases over non-cancellable periods are as follows:

2019

HK$°000

Within one year 1,287
In the second year 329
In the third year 269
In the fourth year 282
In the fifth year 296
After five years 921
3,384
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44.

OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises and equipment which fall due as
follows:

2018

HK$'000

Within one year 650
In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,160
Over five years 987
2,797

Leases are negotiated for an average term of five years (2018: five years).

The Group’s investment properties with a carrying amount of HK$9,180,000 (2018: HK$42,940,000) are held for rental
purposes. All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next one to ten years (2018: one to ten years).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group had joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and regulations of the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The Group’s employees in Hong Kong are required to join the
scheme. The Group and each employee employed in Hong Kong are required to make a contribution of 5% on the
employees’ monthly relevant income with a maximum monthly contribution of HK$1,500 per person.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in
various central pension schemes operated by the relevant municipal and provincial governments. These subsidiaries
are required to make defined contributions to these schemes at rates ranging from 15% to 30% of their covered
payroll. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of its staff’s retirement and other post-retirement
benefits other than the contributions described above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group purchased gas and kitchen appliances of RMB11,742,000
(equivalent to HK$13,906,000) from Gasbo Electrical and Gas Appliance Co., Ltd. and RMB1,493,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,768,000) from Z 5 AR AR AT Z B R A7) respectively. Both of them are subsidiaries of the shareholder of
the Company. Details of the outstanding balances with these related companies are set out in note 32.

Details of the outstanding balances due from/to an associate are set out in note 29 and 33 respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel

The Directors considered that they are the only key management personnel of the Group. Their emoluments are
set out in note 12.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31st December, 2019, the capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (2018: prepaid lease payments) contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements is HK$94,110,000 (2018: HK$167,297,000).

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements for the use of leased properties for one year to two
years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HK$7,575,000 of right-of-use assets and HK$7,575,000
of lease liabilities.

The consideration relating to issuance of shares through exercise of share options of HK$582,970,000 have been
settled thought loans to employees.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings and lease liabilities/obligations
under finance leases disclosed in notes 34, 35, and 36 net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, accumulated profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of

capital and the risks associated with the capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, repurchase of shares and the issue of new debt or the redemption of the existing debt.
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48. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTOCI 78,898 23,310
Financial assets at FVTPL 77,556 75,676
Financial assets at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents) 4,392,623 3,476,616

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 12,619,599 9,830,520

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, refundable deposits, other receivables, amounts
due from an associate and a related party, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash, trade payables,
other payables, accrued charges, amounts due to an associate and related parties, borrowings and lease liabilities/
obligations under finance leases. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed-rate amounts due from an associate and a related
company, fixed-rate loans to employees, fixed-rate bank borrowings and fixed-rate lease liabilities (2018: fixed-rate
obligations under finance leases). Currently, the Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge this exposure
to interest rate risk. However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
fixed rate borrowings should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate its exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated. The interest rates of variable bank borrowings are based on (1) a
range of multiples of PBOC Prescribed Interest Rate; or (2) interest rate at LIBOR plus a premium; or (3) interest
rate at HIBOR plus a premium.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to the variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period and management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
interest rates. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. If interest rates on bank borrowings and bank balances had been 50
basis points and 20 basis points respectively (2018: 50 basis points for bank borrowings and 20 basis points for
bank balances) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
would decrease/increase by HK$36,075,000 (2018: decrease/increase HK$28,051,000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital expenditures
in RMB. The Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant, except
for certain bank balances and bank borrowings which are denominated in US$ or HK$, as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional currency of the respective group entities. The equivalent amount of
HK$ are set out below:

Assets Liabilities
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
US$ 296,742 223,146 2,182,081 2,955,476
HK$ 255,730 123,462 6,747,937 2,643,983
552,472 346,608 8,930,018 5,499,459

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk in HK$ and US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against US$ or
HK$. 5% (2018: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the reasonable possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes respective US$ and HK$ bank balances and bank borrowings, and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates increase
in post-tax profit where RMB strengthen 5% against the relevant currencies. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Us$ 70,700 102,463
HK$ 243,458 90,770

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure
to perform their obligations as at the end of reporting period, in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of HKFRS
9 on trade receivables and contract assets based on provision matrix except for the debtors with credit-impaired
balances which are assessed individually.

Deposits and other receivables and amount due from a related party

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the industries in which the debtors operate, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The ECL on deposits and other
receivables and amount due from a related party are considered to be insignificant except for the other receivables
of HK$5,516,000 (2018: HK$4,732,000) which are considered as credit-impaired and fully provided.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Amount due from an associate

The Group has assessed the financial position of an associate as well as the economic outlook of the industry in
which the associate operates, and concluded that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL on amount due from an associate is considered to be insignificant.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC or banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the Group has limited exposure to any single
financial institution.

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances by reference to the
average loss rates for respective credit rating grades published by international credit-rating agencies and concluded
that the ECL is insignificant.

As at 31st December, 2019, other than the concentration of credit risk on the amounts due from an associate and
a related party and loans to employees (2018: other than the concentration of credit risk on the amounts due from
an associate and a related party), the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties and customers. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial
credit rating Description Contract assets assets/other items
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does  Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL

not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually  Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL

settle after due date not credit-impaired
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -

risk since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

developed internally or external resources

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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48. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal Gross carrying amount
2019 Notes credit rating credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL 2019 2018
HK$000 HK$'000

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Other long-term deposits and 20 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL (not credit-impaired and 598,503 13,727
other receivables assessed individually)
Trade receivables - contracts 27 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and provision 1,331,588 1,669,455
with customers matrix)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 15,593 16,332

1,347,181 1,685,787

Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 5,516 4,732

500,367 131,515

Amount due from an 29 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL (not credit-impaired and 55,972 57,195
associate assessed individually)

Amount due from a related 29  NA Low risk 12-month ECL (not credit-impaired and 8,396 8,679
party assessed individually)

Pledged bank deposits 31 Al Low risk 12-month ECL (not credit-impaired and - 5,720

assessed individually)

Bank balances 31 Aa2 to Baa3 Low risk 12-month ECL (not credit-impaired and 1,901,720 1,593,370
assessed individually)

Other Item
Contract assets 30 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and provision 509,321 185,698
matrix)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 47,346 56,735

556,667 242,433
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48. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with credit-impaired balances which are assessed individually, the Group
determines the ECL on these items grouped by past due status for trade receivables and the status of the relevant projects
of the contract assets. When there are indicators that the relevant contract assets may be credit-impaired, the relevant
amount will be assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers in relation to its operation because these customers
consist of a large number of customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit loss
experience of the existing debtors and all available forward looking information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements, the Group does not consider that default occurs
for those contractual payments that are more than 90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging for classes with different credit risk characteristics and exposures,
and the estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group made a reversal of HK$739,000 (2018: HK$95,000) and HK$9,389,000
(2018: allowance of HK$16,390,000) on trade receivables and contract assets respectively and recognise HK$784,000 (2018:
nil) of impairment loss allowance on other receivables, based on the individual assessment.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for both trade receivables and
contract assets under the simplified approach and other receivables.

Trade Contract Other

receivables assets receivables

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 1st January, 2018 16,427 40,345 4,732
Net remeasurement of impairment losses allowance (95) 16,390 -
As at 31st December, 2018 16,332 56,735 4,732
Net remeasurement of impairment losses allowance (739) (9,389) 784
As at 31st December, 2019 15,593 47,346 5,616
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group has net current liabilities of HK$1,558,870,000. As explained in note 1, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as and when they fall due
for the foreseeable future, taking into account that the new bank borrowings facilities amounting to US$500,000,000
(equivalent to HK$3,896,450,000) have been approved by a bank subsequent to 31st December, 2019, in which the
borrowings are due after one year from the date of draw down.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant sources of liquidity. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with the relevant covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity based on the agreed repayment terms for
its financial liabilities and lease liabilities/obligations under finance leases. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities/obligations under finance leases based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest (estimated based on
interest rate at the end of the reporting period) and principal cash flows.
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48. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables

Weighted
average On demand 3 months Total Carrying
effective or less than to 1-5 More than  undiscounted amount at
interest rate 3 months 1 year years 5 years cash flow 31.12.2019
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
2019
Trade payables - 1,219,726 - - - 1,219,726 1,219,726
Other payables and accrued
charges - 377,662 - - - 377,662 377,662
Amount due 1o an associate - 1,001 - - - 1,001 1,001
Bank borrowings
- fixed rate 4.44 49,399 522,839 78,069 13,102 663,409 639,813
- variable rate 4.39 1,371,556 2,468,927 7,807,726 13,840 11,662,049 10,381,397
Lease liabilities 4.74 33,339 37,459 10,501 4,485 85,784 81,422
3,052,683 3,029,225 7,896,296 31,427 14,009,631 12,701,021
Weighted
average On demand 3 months Total Carrying
effective or less than to 1-56 More than undiscounted amount at
interest rate 3 months 1 year years 5 years cash flow 31.12.2018
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2018
Trade payables - 1,206,316 - - - 1,206,316 1,206,316
Other payables and accrued
charges - 311,860 - - - 311,860 311,860
Amount due to an associate - 1,023 - - - 1,023 1,023
Amounts due to related
parties - 81,102 - - - 81,102 81,102
Bank borrowings
- fixed rate 531 - 99,519 6,724 19,095 125,338 111,908
- variable rate 4.56 1,163,304 3,412,424 4,163,658 - 8,729,386 8,118,311
Obligations under finance
leases 4.73 100,063 92,839 62,823 - 266,725 247,254
2,853,668 3,604,782 4,238,205 19,095 10,710,750 10,077,774
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019
|

48.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change
if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st December, 2019 the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank
loans amounted to HK$773,645,000 (2018: HK$807,674,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the Directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

Total
Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flow amount
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31st December, 2019 52,890 391,896 365,524 810,310 773,645
31st December, 2018 23,386 134,758 708,882 867,026 807,674

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are determined by in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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48.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

o Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for

identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived

from prices); and

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset

or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Financial assets/financial liabilities Valuation
in the consolidated statement of Fair value as at Fair value as at Fair value techniques and
financial position 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 hierarchy key inputs
1) Investments in unlisted equity Assets - Assets — Level 3 Asset-Based
investments classified as financial HK$76,178,000 HK$20,590,000 approach —
assets at FVTOCI reference to fair
values of the
underlying assets
and liabilities held
by the investee
2) Investment components of life Assets - Assets — Level 3 Discounted cash

insurance contracts classified as
financial assets at FVTPL (note)

HK$77,556,000 HK$75,676,000

flows — reference
to expected cash
flows and applied
appropriate
discount rate

Note:

The returns of these investments are at the discretion of the insurer and the surrender charge is for termination of both the

insurance and investment components. Accordingly, the Directors consider the account value as at 31st December, 2018

and 2019 is an appropriate estimate of fair value.

The Directors considers such exposure for fair value changes in financial assets are not significant. Accordingly,

no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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49.

192

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash

flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Dividend
payables to
Amount  Lease liabilities/ non-controlling
due to  obligations under Dividend interests of Interest
an associate  finance leases payables subsidiaries payables Borrowings Total
HK$ 000 HK8000 HKB000 HK$000 HK§000 HKB000 HK$000
(Note 35, 36) (Note 34)
At 1st January, 2018 1,286 446,956 - - 4,290 5,268,785 5,711,267
Financing cash flows (169) (206,815 (33,103 - (269,673) 3,046,803 2,537,097
Dividend declared - - 126,260 81,102 - - 207,352
Issue of shares as scrip dividend - - (93,147) - - - (93,147)
Acquisition of & subsidiary - - - - - 38,465 38,465
Exchange adjusiments - profit or loss - - - - (432) 307,084 306,652
Exchange adjustments -
other comprehensive income (48) (13,225) - - - (459,068) (472,341)
Interest expenses - 20,338 - - 281,233 38,100 339,671
At 31st December, 2018 1,028 247,204 - 81,102 15,418 8,280,219 8,675,016
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16 - 24,245 - - - - 24,245
As at st January, 2019 1,028 271,49 - 81,102 15,418 8,280,219 8,099,261
Financing cash flows - 206,965 (228439 (182,034) (363,274) 2,005,803 1,735,091
Cash inflow from dliscounted bills with
recourse - - - - - 118,457 118457
Dividend declared - - 208,439 51612 - - 279,91
Recognition of lease liabilties - 7,975 - - - - 7575
Acquisttion of & subsidiary - - - - - 3,326 3,326
Exchange adjusiments - profit or loss - - - - (214) 262,821 262,607
Exchange adjustments -
other comprehensive income (22) (3,095) - (680) - (302,583) (306,280)
Interest expenses - 12,408 - - 367,915 53,167 423,490
At 31st December, 2019 1,001 81,422 - - 9,845 11,021,210 11,113,478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018

Place/country of

Proportion of
nominal value of

incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
Zhongyu Gas Investment Hong Kong Limited liability 1 ordinary share of 100* 100" Investment holding
Limited company HK$1 each
Zhongyu Gas Investment British Virgin Islands Incorporated 1 ordinary share of 100 100° Investment holding
Limited*# US$1 each
Zhongyu Gas Investment British Virgin Islands Incorporated 1 ordinary share of 100 100%  Investment holding
(Beiing) Limited ** US$1 each
China City Gas Construction British Virgin Islands Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100 Investment holding
Holdings Co., Ltd.** US$1 each
China City Gas Construction British Virgin Islands Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100 Investment holding
Explore Co., Ltd.** US$1 each
China Gas Construction British Virgin Islands Incorporated 1,330,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
Expansion Co., Ltd.#* shares of US$1 each
China City Gas Construction British Virgin Islands Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100 Investment holding
Development Co., Ltd.* US$1 each
China City Gas Construction British Virgin Islands Incorporated 100 ordinary shares of 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.** US$1 each
MITRARAR AR PRC Wholly-foreign Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas, gas
owned enterprise US$10,000,000 pipeline construction and
operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
filing stations
hHREma R AR PRC Wholl-foreign Registered capital 100% 100%  Investment holding
(M) BRAF owned enterprise US$100,000,000
=P RIRRBRA A PRC Sino-foreign Registered capital 90% 90% Trading of natural gas and

joint venture

HK$20,000,000

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

liquefied petroleum gas and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019
I

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
HEPHRRRARAR PRC Sino-foreign Registered capital 97# 97* Trading of naturel gas and gas
joint venture HK$15,000,000 pipeline construction
HEPREERERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 99.8% 99.8* Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle
company RMB63,000,000 filing stations
ERTRREARAR PRC Shno-foreign Registered capital 95 95* Trading of natural gas and
joint venture HK$25,000,000 liquefied petroleum gas and
gas pipeline construction
KEPRRRERAT PRC Sino-foreign Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
joint venture HK$50,000,000 pipeline construction
KRB AR A PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100# 100 Dangerous goods transportation
company RMBG600,000
TR RER AR PRC Wholly-foreign Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas and gas
owned enterprise HK$290,000,000 pipeline construction
B REERARBRAR PRO Limited liabilty Registered captal 100 100% Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle
company RMB10,000,000 filing stations
BRI RAR AT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capial 100° 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB15,160,000 pipeline construction
REGPHRIRRBRAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB79,000,000 pipeline construction
ERPINMEAR AR PRC Sino-foreign Registered capital 92.9# 92.9% Trading of natural gas and gas
joint venture RMB40,280,000 pipeline construction
BPRRR AR AR PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 77.3% 77.3* Trading of natural gas and gas
("Luche Zhongyu') venture RMB95,468,511 pipeline construction
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50.

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
RARRRRIRZEERAR PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 73.4% 73.4% Gas pipeline construction
venture RMBS5,000,000
EfEmiiR AR AR PRC Sino-foreign Registered capital 93.2¢# 93.2 Trading of natural gas, coal gas
joint venture RMB84,800,000 and liquefied petroleum gas
and gas pipeline construction
EETRRRIERZEERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 93.2% 93.2% Gas pipeline construction
company RMB100,000,000
ERARRREREBRAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 99.2¢ 99.2* Trading of naturel gas and gas
company RMB40,000,000 pipeline construction
BrrtRER AR PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 51 51% Trading of natural gas and gas
("Linyi Znongyu') venture RMB50,000,000 pipeline construction
R TE R R R A PRC Wholl-foreign Registered capital 100% 100* Investment holoing
owned enterprise HK$1,225,000,000
BRAHERRREERAT  PRC Limited liabilty Registered captal 100 100% Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle
company RMB6,000,000 filing stations
ERTRERRARAA PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
company RMB20,000,000 filing stations
=Pk e R ER A PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
company RMB50,000,000 filing stations
EreETPRRRERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
AERRRRERAA PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 1007 Research and development of
company RMBS5,000,000 natural gas technology
il r e NG PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Not yet commenced business
company RMB200,000,000
EENOMRAR AT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB35,000,000 pipeline construction
ENPRRRERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Trading of natural gas, gas
company RMB25,000,000 pipeline construction and
operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
filing stations
BETREERBRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB5,000,000 pipeline construction
MTEIEEE5ERAR  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Not yet commenced business
company RMB100,000
LETRRRERAR PRC Wholly-foreign Registered capital 100 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
owned enterprise RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
RELPHRRBRAA PRC Limited liability Registered capital 99.8% 99.8% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMVB30,000,000 pipeline construction
RERRIRAR AR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas, gas
company RMB26,000,000 pipeline construction and

ZHONGYU GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
HPHRIRERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered ceptal 100% 100 Trading of netural gas and gas
company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
IR REGRERAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capial 100% 100 Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
company RMB15,000,000 filing stations
EREEWERFIAEBAT  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of stoves and
company RMB5,500,000 equipments
BAPREBRRARA PRC Sino-foreign joint Registered capital 100 100%  Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
venture RMB10,000,000 filing stations
RAREMRMEEERAR  PRC Limited liability Registered capital - 100% Operation of ONG/LNG vehicle
company RMBS9,300,000 filing stations
TEEHERRAEEARAF  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100%  Investment holding
company RMB20,000,000
BRRRRRARAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
AERARBRABRAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 70% 70 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB50,000,000 pipeline construction
WEREMRERAH PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
BRI RERAT) PRC Limited liability Registered capital 88.9% 88.9% Not yet commenced business
company RMB100,000,000
HEPHRMABRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 85" 85* Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB50,000,000 pipeline construction
HERERRBRAT PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB47,600,000 pipeline construction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019
I

50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
BIRHRRERAH PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Not yet commenced business
company RMB20,000,000
AEPBRE TR BRAF  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Design of gas pipeline
company RMB10,000,000 construction project
THOTE) EREESERLR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100# Trading of natural gas
company RMB50,000,000
EFRHERERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of stoves and
company RMB20,000,000 equipments
REERRTRABRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB55,000,000 pipeline construction
BEmRRRRBRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading at natural gas and gas
company RMB5,000,000 pipeline construction
TR EEERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital - 100% Not yet commenced business
company RMB200,100,000
ERTHRABRAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company HK$150,000,000 pipeline construction
PREA (R EEEERAR  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Provision of management
company RMB30,000,000 services to group companies
FRRIEZRERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100%  Investment holding
company RMB200,000,000
FREZHE B ERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100* Provision of management
company RMB50,000,000 senvices o group companies
BfLE) A A EEERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 80% 80* Not yet commenced business
company RMB20,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
MamEnBRRAREBERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
TRBMEAMEERMERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 70 70 Design and consulting of energy
company RMB50,000,000 projects
ENRmSRAMEERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 49+ 49* Design and consulting of energy
company RMB10,000,000 projects
FREMEA AR TR PRO Limited liability Registered capital 70% 70 Design and consulting of energy
BRAF company RMB10,000,000 projects
IRBMBERLRRMRSES PRC Limited liaoility Registered capital 70 70% Design and consulting of energy
NG company RMB10,000,000 projects
EifEMFMeRaR AT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 70% 70% Design and consulting of energy
company RMB5,000,000 projects
BMHERHERERA PRC Limited liability Registered capital 63# 63* Design and consulting of energy
company RMB10,000,000 projects
PRS2 ERE PRC Limited liability Registered capital 58# 58%  Not yet commenced business
BRAF company R\B142,968,700
ONEHFERERERAT  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Design and consulting of energy
company RMB20,000,000 projects
LRFRESRRERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 1007 Not yet commenced business
company RMB200,100,000
EERREERERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Not yet commenced business
company RMB20,000,000
BrEREskamES PRC Limited liability Registered capital 51 ~ Dangerous goods transportation
BRAF company R\MB500,000
REPRRRARAH PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% ~ Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB48,000,000 pipeline construction
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
AMPRRERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered ceptal 100% - Treding of naturel gas end ges
company RMB56,000,000 pipeline construction
FREENRRBRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% - Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
SRR ARERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% ~ Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB5,000,000 pipeline construction
BiE 2 REeRER AR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 89.5% - Investment holding
company RMB20,000,000
EEh MR AR AR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 69.7¢ ~ Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
B RER AR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% - Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB20,000,000 pipeline construction
AAREERRERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% - Digital and information technology
company RMB20,000,000 development and provision of
related consultancy services
BETHRERERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 70% ~ Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB100,000,000 pipeline construction
BETRBRMAERAT PRC Limited Liability Registered capital 70% - Trading of natural gas and gas
company HK$66,670,000 pipeline construction
Zhongyu Gas Energy British Virgin Islands Incorporated 50,000 ordinary shares 100* - Investment holding
Investment Limited** of US$1 each
Harmony Gas Holdings Cayman Islands Limited liability 78,287,805 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited ## company shares of US$0.0001
each
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
Prosperity Gas Cayman Islands Limited ligbility 201 ordinary shares of 100% 100" Investment holding
Holdings Ltd."* company US$1 each
Prosperity Gas 2 Co., Lid. Hong Kong Limited liability 1 ordinary shares of 100 100 Investment holding
company HK$1 each

Sino Gas International
Holdings, Inc**

Gas Investment China Co,, Ltd. "

Tong Yuan International Holding

Limited

Sino Gas Construction

Limited**

ERPHRIRRERAT

DA BRRARAR

BARHRRERAR

BERHMRERAR

ERRAMRERAT

ERTHMAARLE

United States of America Incorporated

British Virgin Islands Incorporated
Hong Kong Limited ligbility
company
British Virgin Islands Incorporated
PRC Limited liabilty
company
PRC Limited liability
company
PRC Limited ligbility
company
PRC Limited liabilty
company
PRC Limited liabilty
company
PRC Limited liability
company

1,000 common stock
without par value

21,500,001 ordinary
shares of US$1 each

10,000 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

1,909,730 ordinary
shares of US$1 each

Registered capital
RMB206,000,000

Registered capital
RVB40,000,000

Registered capital
RMB10,000,000

Registered capital
RMB10,000,000

Registered capital
RMB35,239,600

Registered capital
RVB20,000,000

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

100% 100%

100% 100%

51## 5‘\ i

97.3# 97.3"*

100% 100%

100% 100%

100 100%

100 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
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Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Trading of natural gas

Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction

Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019
I

50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
IREPRRRERAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered ceptal 100% 100 Trading of netural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
BENIMRAR AR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
FRATEETHIR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas and gas
BREMAAT company RMBS,000,000 pipeline construction
RXHMEREEERR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
BRAT company RMB5,000,000 pipeling construction
REREBRRRAMABRAT  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMBG6,000,000 pipeline construction
REFRRRERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
BB TR ARAR PRC Limited liability Registered capttal 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and
company RMB80,000,000 liquefied petroleum gas and
gas pipeline construction
BUTEXEBRAFERRA  PRC Limited liabilty Registered capial - 100% Not yet commenced business
company RVB50,000,000
ALTRERRWEERAE  PRC Limited liability Registered capital - 1007 Sales of gas equipment and
company RMB1,000,000 materials
ALPRERRRBERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Operation of CNG/LNG vehicle
company RMB10,000,000 filing stations
BRI ERRERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
BUMEAMRRXTIRERAR  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100%  Gas pipeline construction
company RMB6,000,000
R REXMAEEERRR  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas
company RMB95,579,270
RETPRRRARAA PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100* Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
BEERRIRRARAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
BERRRRER AT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
kR RRRERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
BRPRRAARAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
IETHRABRAR PRC Limited liabilty Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
A RRR AR AR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB45,000,000 pipeline construction
HEPHREERAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
BETHRABRAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100" Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
MG RIRRARA PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
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50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
As at 31st December, 2019 and 2018 (Continued)

Proportion of

Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Form of Paid up issued issued capital/
registration/ business share capital/ registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation structure registered capital  held by the Company
2019 2018 Principal activities
% %
BYREREEERENERE PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Dangerous goods transportation
KR company RMB1,000,000
MR EBRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100*  Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB30,000,000 pipeline construction
MahRasRAR PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100" Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB10,000,000 pipeline construction
ManBERRAREBERAR  PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100 100% Not yet commenced business
company RVB50,000,000
FLERRRRBRAT PRC Limited liability Registered capital 100% 100 Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMBS5,000,000 pipeline construction
ALFEEEEMAERAT  PRC Limited liability Registered capttal 100% 100% Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB40,000,000 pipeline construction
HEMERRARERAT PRC Limited liability Registered capttal 100% - Trading of natural gas and gas
company RMB50,000,000 pipeline construction
# The nominal value of issued share capital/registered capital directly held by the Company.
## The nominal value of issued share capital/registered capital indirectly held by the Company.

#i#H The place of operation of the company is Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the both years.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit (loss)
and principal interests and voting rights for the year
place of held by non-controlling attributable to Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests non-controlling interests interests
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Linyi Zhongyu PRC - 49% 49% 35,438 29,186 234,170 216,228
Shangdong
province
Luohe Zhongyu PRC - Henan 22.711% 22.71% 17,824 35,500 114,754 123,080
province
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests, including Harmony 266 28,985 311,780 242,342
Gas' subsidiaries
53,528 93,671 660,704 581,650

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.
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DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

U]

Linyi Zhongyu

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

Current assets 251,110 258,288
Non-current assets 623,580 620,530
Current liabilities (861,562) (403,865)
Non-current liabilities (35,230) (33,672)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 243,728 225,063
Non-controlling interests 234,170 216,228
Revenue 486,090 534,987
Expenses (413,767) (475,422)
Profit for the year 72,323 59,565
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 36,885 30,379
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests 35,438 29,186
Profit for the year 72,323 59,565
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51. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

U]

Linyi Zhongyu (Continued)

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Other comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company (5,954) (9,696)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to the non-controlling
interests (5,720) (9,314)
Other comprehensive expense for the year (11,674) (19,010)
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 30,931 20,683
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests 29,718 19,872
Total comprehensive income for the year 60,649 40,555
Dividends declared to non-controlling interests - 78,472
Net cash generated from operating activities 50,566 88,020
Net cash generated (used in) from investing activities (34,794) 17,614
Net cash generated (used in) from financing activities (19,273) 42,528
Net cash (outflow) inflow (3,501) 148,162
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DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

(i)

Luohe Zhongyu

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

Current assets 451,598 721,284

Non-current assets 1,016,317 886,540
Current liabilities (817,066) (869,657)
Non-current liabilities (191,622) (250,799)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 344,473 364,288
Non-controlling interests 114,754 123,080
Revenue 570,906 691,621

Expenses (492,421) (535,303)
Profit for the year 78,485 156,318
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 60,661 120,818
Profit attributable to the non-controlling interests 17,824 35,500
Profit for the year 78,485 156,318
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52.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)
(ii) Luohe Zhongyu (Continued)

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
Other comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company (11,363) (19,689)
Other comprehensive expense attributable to the non-controlling
interests (3,339) (5,785)
Other comprehensive expense for the year (14,702) (25,474)
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 49,298 101,129
Total comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling
interests 14,485 29,715
Total comprehensive income for the year 63,783 130,844
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 46,024 -
Net cash generated from operating activities 85,806 148,668
Net cash used in investing activities (170,784) (261,140)
Net cash generated from financing activities 26,039 341,191
Net cash (outflow) inflow (58,939) 228,719

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As the outbreak of novel coronavirus epidemic continues to spread across the global, the Group will continue to
closely monitor the development of the novel coronavirus epidemic and ensure a stable operation. By the date of
this report, the impact of novel coronavirus epidemic on the Group’s subsequent operating results is still under
assessment. The actual financial effects, if any, will be reflected in the Group’s financial statements in future.
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53. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 1,362,366 1,374,190
Investments in life insurance contracts 80,333 78,693
Financial asset at FVTOCI 2,720 2,720
Amounts due from group companies 7,298,135 4,984,353
Long term other receivables 582,970 -
Right-of-use assets 513 -
9,327,037 6,439,956
Current assets
Other receivables 8,487 8,428
Tax recoverable 15,517 15,617
Bank balances and cash 559,654 342,761
583,658 366,706
Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 14,259 16,392
Amount due to a group company 18,854 18,500
Borrowings 2,602,129 3,254,827
Tax payables - 4,228
Lease liabilities 523 -
2,635,765 3,293,947
Net current liabilities (2,052,107) (2,927,241)
Total assets less current liabilities 7,274,930 3,612,715
Capital and reserves
Share capital (note 37) 26,448 25,372
Reserves (Note) 995,499 608,840
Total equity 1,021,947 034,212
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 6,252,983 2,878,503
7,274,930 3,612,715
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

Reserves of the Company

Share option Translation Accumulated
Share premium reserve reserve profits/(loss) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1st January, 2018 895,736 319 83,351 72,775 1,052,181
Loss for the year - - - (682,539) (5682,539)
Other comprehensive income for the
year - - 126,614 - 126,614
Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year - - 126,614 (582,639) (455,925)
Issue of shares as scrip dividend
(notes 13 and 37) 93,001 - - (93,147) (146)
Repurchase of shares (note 37) (13,014) - - - (13,014)
Dividends paid in cash (note 13) - - - (33,103) (33,103)
Recognition of share-based payments
(note 39) - 58,847 - - 58,847
Transfer to accumulated profits upon
forfeiture of share options (note 39) - (2,445) - 2,445 -
At 31st December, 2018 975,723 56,721 209,965 (633,569) 608,840
Loss for the year - - - (21,266) (21,266)
Other comprehensive income for the
year - - 10,178 - 10,178
Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year - - 10,178 (21,266) (11,088)
Exercise of share options (note 39) 668,926 (86,542) - - 582,384
Dividends paid in cash (note 13) - - - (228,439) (228,439)
Recognition of share-based payments
(note 39) - 43,802 - - 43,802
At 31st December, 2019 1,644,649 13,981 220,143 (883,274) 995,499

Note:

In the current year, the Company has applied HKFRS 16 and other amendments to HKFRSs. There was no material impact

on the Company’s statement of financial position upon adoption of those new standards.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31st December,

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(note) (note)
Turnover 8,143,771 7,627,088 5,048,100 3,722,507 3,276,666
Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to
Owners of the Company 430,121 620,684 557,959 206,150 93,390
Non-controlling interests 53,528 93,671 33,637 (102,549) 56,478
483,649 714,355 591,596 103,601 149,868
As at 31st December,
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(note)
Assets and liabilities
Total assets 20,289,099 16,281,354 11,800,731 9,623,663 8,709,309
Total liabilities (14,853,026) (11,761,185) (8,077,514) (6,817,732) (6,436,915)
5,436,073 4,520,169 3,728,217 2,805,931 2,272,394
Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 4,775,369 3,938,519 3,173,952 2,653,206 2,006,664
Non-controlling interests 660,704 581,650 549,265 252,725 265,730
5,436,073 4,520,169 3,723,217 2,805,931 2,272,394

Note: For the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group had applied HKFRS 15, HKFRS 9 and other amendments to HKFRSs and
for the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 and other amendments to HKFRSs (see note 2 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements section for the summary of the corresponding financial impact). Accordingly,

certain comparative information for the years ended 31st December, 2015, 2016 and 2017 may not be comparable to the year
ended 31st December, 2018 and 2019 as such comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18, HKAS 11, HKAS 39 and
HKAS 17. Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 are disclosed in the “Significant

Accounting Policies” section.
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